UNIVERSITY OF GRANADA

FACULTY OF SCIENCES

DEPARTMENT OF SOIL SCIENCES AND AGRICULTURAL CHEMISTRY



DOCTORAL THESIS

ASSESSMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF TAILING DUMPS IN CHADAK MINING AREA, UZBEKISTAN

> Presented by OBIDJON KODIROV

GRANADA, 2018

Editor: Universidad de Granada. Tesis Doctorales Autor: Obidjon Kodirov ISBN: 978-84-1306-035-4 URI: http://hdl.handle.net/10481/54247



THE STATE COMMITTEE OF THE REPUBLIC OF UZBEKISTAN ON GEOLOGY AND MINERAL RESOURCES





UNIVERSIDAD DE GRANADA INSTITUTE OF GEOLOGY AND GEOPHYSICCS

ASSESSMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF TAILING DUMPS IN CHADAK MINING AREA, UZBEKISTAN

Memorandum presented by OBIDJON KODIROV, under the supervision of Prof.Dr. Francisco J. Mart n Peinado and Dr. Nosir Shukurov, to obtain the International PhD Degree.

This thesis has been performed within the framework of the doctoral program "Earth Sciences" (B08.56.1), under the research lines "Soil Sciences and Contamination" at the University of Granada



PhD candidate

Obidjon Kodirov

Thesis Directors:

Prof.Dr. FRANCISCO J. MART N PEINADO Edafología y Química Agrícola Universidad de Granada Dr. NOSIR SHUKUROV Department of Geochemistry and Geotechnology Institute of Geology and Geophysics

November, 2018

The current Ph.D thesis has been achieved through financing from the CASIA I Erasmus Mundus Fellowship Program (ref.: EMII A2 2S1L9) and the Department of Soil Sciences of the University of Granada (Research Group RNM-269). In addition, funding was received from the State Committee of the Republic of Uzbekistan on Geology and Mineral Resources.

DEDICATED

То

My Beloved Father An honest man with big heart who supported and encouraged me in all my endeavors. "God bless his soul and makes the resting place of Paradise"

My Beloved Mother A strong and gentle soul who loves her children with all their faults and keeping praying for our prosperity

My Beloved Wife and Children For endless love, great support and continuous care

Jo my Brothers and sisters For their help and criticism when necessary

Jo all of my nephews and nieces For having joyful and funny moments





ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

All praise to Allah, Lord of creations, the most Merciful and Compassionate who blessed me with prospective ability to attain my task in this research work.

I would hereby like to express my sincerest gratitude to my thesis supervisors: To Prof. Dr. Francisco J. Martín Peinado, for giving me an opportunity to do research under his amazing supervision, for his continuous support, guidance and encouragement that have made possible the successful completion of my PhD thesis. To Dr. Nosir Shukurov for having fostered the love to this profession, his inspiration and advices he has provided throughout my time as his student. I have been exceptionally lucky to have such great supervisors who cared so much about my work, and who always responded to my questions and queries.

I would also like to thank all the members of staff at the Department of Soil Sciences of the University of Granada who were kind and helped me during my stay at the department. In particular, thanks to Manolo for helping me to analyze total organic carbon, for his support and for his funny jokes that I enjoyed very much. To Irene for her advices whenever I need. To Emilia for wonderful moments in her house with different delicious foods and Pepe for amazing guitar music and Spanish songs. To Manuel Sanchez Marañón who surprised me with his knowledge about Russian scientist Dokuchaev. To Javier for his kind character and I wish him to recover soon from his illness. To Yolanda who helped very much with administrative services and each morning offering various types of tee and Manoli for providing technical help in the laboratory. Special thanks go to the Research Group RNM-269 of Department of Soil Sciences of the University of Granada.

A very special gratitude to Prof. Michael Kersten for giving me an opportunity to conduct a research at his laboratory of Environmental Geochemistry at the University of Mainz, Germany.

I must express my gratitude to CASIA I Erasmus Mundus Fellowship Program (ref.: EMII A2 2S1L9). In particular, many thanks to Regional coordinator of CASIA I Erasmus Mundus Fellowship Program - Ewa Wietsma and Local Coordinator - Alim Pulatov for the support.

I am deeply thankfull and would like to express my gratitude to the leadership of the State Committee of the Republic of Uzbekistan on Geology and Mineral Resources for the great support: Chairman Bobur Islamov for his reliability and allowing me to travel to Granada, First Deputy Chairman Azam Kadirkhodjaev for being attentive and his support in my PhD thesis completion, Deputy Chairmans Tohir Alikulov and Aslan Mavlonov for their encouragement, Head of the Foreign Investment Department Avazbek Daminov for his understanding and support, leading specialist Davron and Iskandar for a great atmosphere in the department and all other colleagues at the State Committee on Geology and Mineral Resources for mutual assistance.

Special sincere gratitude to Dr. Kim Sahng Yup, an International advisor at the State Committee of the Republic of Uzbekistan on Geology and Mineral Resources for his great support, kindness and advices. He told to come back to Uzbekistan as a PhD that stimulated me a lot. I would also like to thank all other Korean colleagues and friends including Dr. Na Kyung Won, Dr. Park Gwang Seok and Prof. Byong-Hun Jeon for their cooperation, help and support that came in handy. I also want to express my gratitude to Prof. Kim Kyoung Woong who invited me to the conference in South Korea where I was able to present my research results.

I would also like to acknowledge the support from the Dr. Bakhtiyar Nurtaev, the Vice Director of the Institute of Geology and Geophysics. I'm very much grateful to my colleagues Shukhrat Shukurov and Sardor Sayitov from the Laboratory of Geochemistry and Geotechnology for their assistance and company during sampling in the field.

Completing this work would have been even harder were it not for the support and friendship provided by the other members and students of the Department of Soil Sciences. I'm grateful to Ana (Anota) for helping me to do some statistical analyses

and everlasting good mood. To Ana Espejo (Anita) for helping me in the lab and for the first Spanish classes. To Olga and her husband for astonishing trip to the field to observe the stars with telescope To Mario Gutiérrez for not letting me get bored in the laboratory. To Mario Paniagua, Azman, Antonio, Helena, Mikel, Marino and visiting scientists Eliane, Rocío and Rodolfo for the party foods, intercultural change and a positive atmosphere and joyful moments during my stay in Granada.

I want also to express my sincere gratitude to Linara from the Office of International Relations and University Development Cooperation of University of Granada and her husband Mario for responsiveness, friendly attitude and delicious dinner in their house.

Words are not enough to thank my mother Irodahon for upbringing me, the way I am, support and most importantly for her prayers for my prosperity. Special thanks to my wife Guzal and my children Abdullah and Maryam for sacrificing their time and enjoyment for my work and studies, for happy moments and love. I want also to thank my sister Aisha and my brothers Shukhrat, Farrukh and Sanjar and their family members for their support and great wishes in my journey to PhD study.

I am highly thankful to the family of my supervisor Prof. Francisco for their support and a beautiful house in a lovely village Viznar where I was offered to stay. In particular, Adeli for taking care of me and providing everything needed to make me feel at home. With her help I improved my Spanish skills. Thanks to Manuel for letting me to use his bicycle and Martín for subtle sculptures.

Finally, I want to thank and express my greatest appreciation to all those who have contributed to my daily life in Granada. I am indebted to many of my friends from different countries who inspired me: Yassir, Nabil, Mahmoud, Ihsan, Ibrahim, Said, Kitani, Abdelhakim, Suhail, Siddiq, Muhammad, Ilyashuja, Omar, Abubakr, Ahmad, Muhammad Yasin, Ridwan, Hisham, Biba, Mustapha and Chakib and many more. I'm missing all of them as we had our own activities and now most of them finalized their studies and returned back home. May God unite us again in another occasion.

ABSTRACT

Of all the diversity of man-made wastes, the problems associated with mining wastes have a great concern. The characterization is the first step to find a solution to the potential pollution related to these areas and to prevent environmental risk to living organisms. A set of processes that adversely affect the environment is associated with mine wastes that include pollution of adjacent soils, water and air with toxic elements. In this work, the assessment of potential trace elements contamination in tailing dumps and soils was characterized in the Chadak mining area (Uzbekistan). Hence, the main objective of this work is to assess the environmental impact of metals and metalloids coming from waste rock piles and tailing dumps generated during processing of the Chadak Au-Ag deposit, by characterizing the potentially contaminating elements and assessing their toxicity. The studies and results obtained have covered a knowledge gap in relation to the evaluation of the potential pollution of the environment in this area.

Concentrations of trace elements (V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Sb, Pb) were determined by X-ray fluorescence analysis and compared with background (BC) and intervention values (IV). The concentrations of As, Zn, Sb, and Pb exceeded the BC in most cases and were higher in the abandoned than in the active tailing dump, ranging from 42–1689 mg/kg for As, 73–332 mg/kg for Zn, 14–1507 mg/kg for Sb, and 27–386 mg/kg for Pb. Moreover, As and Sb showed mean values strongly exceeding the IV (up to 20- and 62-fold, respectively), indicating a high risk of pollution in the area for these two elements.

Physico-chemical properties of soils and tailing samples showed a moderate critical load of pollutants related to the alkaline pH and calcium carbonate content, low EC, CEC and OC. The moderate presence of calcium carbonate in the tailings, along with the high acidification potential, results in the potential acid generation in the active tailing dump, while the abandoned tailing dump is not susceptible to generate acidification over time.

Mineralogical studies of the tailings by XRD showed that the samples were dominated by quartz, feldspars, calcite, micas and chlorite. The SEM-EDS imaging

made on the tailings and open pit waste materials identified primary and secondary minerals consisting of sulfides, silicates and secondary precipitations of Fe and Mn oxyhydroxides. The presence of yukonite-like precipitation of Ca–Fe–As phases were also detected and could be related to potentially available forms of As.

Selective extractions were applied in order to assess the mobility and availability of metal(loid)s in samples. Oxyanion-forming elements such as As and Sb were immobilized by Fe oxides, although to some extent also extractable with acetic acid and soluble-in-water forms were detected, indicating potential bioavailability that can impose a potential toxicity risk for the environment. Selective extractions data also showed that Zn and Pb were relatively immobile, although in higher contamination sites significant amounts of these elements were also extractable with acetic acid. In tailing materials Zn and Pb mobility were negatively correlated by the cation-exchange capacity (CEC) and clay content, indicating the importance of these factors in the reduction of the potential toxicity for these elements. Total concentration of As, Sb, and Pb were also negatively correlated with soil pH, indicating that the oxidation process of sulphide tailings and thus the generation of acidic conditions may lead to release of contaminants over time. However, due to the calcium carbonate content, the acid neutralization capacity of the tailings is not yet exhausted and contaminant concentrations in soil-pore water are still relatively low.

Three toxicity tests (plant accumulation, toxicity bioassays and human health risk) were performed to evaluate the toxicity of metal(loid)s. The test of plants accumulation indicated that *Artemisia absinthium* can be suitable plant for phytoextraction of Cu, Zn and Sb in polluted areas, and *Phragmites australis* may be efficiently utilized for metal removal (mainly Cu) and, in any case, can also both be used for phytostabilization of contaminated sites. The toxicity bioassays made with the soluble-in-water phase using *Lactuca sativa* and *Vibrio fischeri* showed no risk of toxicity in the short-term, indicating that the metal(loid)s in tailings are mainly associated to secondary phases related to carbonates and iron/manganese forms that reduce the mobility and toxicity of these soluble phases. The results of human health risk assessment indicate a high potential of toxicity by accidental ingestion route for As, Sb and Pb. Special high risk was detected in the case of urban soils exposed to children (gardens or parks) and in agricultural soils.

The results of our investigation suggest that environmental risk associated with these wastes in semi-arid climate is therefore not a short-term problem but rather requires constant monitoring. In addition, remediation actions are recommended in order to mitigate or prevent the risk of toxicity to the population close to the mining area.

RESUMEN

De toda la diversidad de residuos generado por los seres humanos, los problemas asociados con los residuos mineros son motivo de gran preocupación. La caracterización es el primer paso para encontrar una solución a la contaminación potencial relacionada con estas áreas y para prevenir el riesgo ambiental para los seres vivos. Entre los procesos asociados con los residuos mineros que afectan negativamente el medio ambiente se incluyen los relacionados con la contaminación de suelos, agua y aire por elementos potencialmente tóxicos. En este trabajo, la evaluación de la contaminación potencial de elementos traza en vertederos y suelos se caracterizó en el área minera de Chadak (Uzbekistán). El objetivo principal de este trabajo es evaluar el impacto ambiental de los metales y metaloides provenientes de las balsas de residuos generados durante el procesamiento minero del depósito de Chadak Au-Ag, caracterizando los elementos potencialmente contaminantes y evaluando su toxicidad. Los resultados obtenidos en este estudio han supuesto un avance en el conocimiento en relación con la evaluación de la contaminación atoxicidad de estudio.

Las concentraciones de elementos traza (V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Sb, Pb) se determinaron mediante análisis de fluorescencia de rayos X y se compararon con los valores de fondo geoquímico (BC) y los valores de intervención (IV). Las concentraciones de As, Zn, Sb y Pb superaron el BC en la mayoría de los casos y fueron más altas en la balsa abandonada que en la activa, con valores que varían entre 42–1689 mg / kg para As, 73–332 mg / kg para Zn, 14–1507 mg / kg para Sb, y 27–386 mg / kg para Pb. Además, As y Sb mostraron valores medios que superaron con creces los IV (hasta 20 y 62 veces, respectivamente), lo que indica un alto riesgo de contaminación en el área para estos dos elementos.

Las propiedades fisicoquímicas de los suelos y las muestras de lodos mostraron una moderada carga crítica de contaminantes relacionada con el pH alcalino y el contenido de carbonato de calcio, y los bajos valores de EC, CEC y OC. La presencia moderada de carbonato de calcio en los lodos, junto con el alto potencial de acidificación, da lugar a una generación potencial de ácido en la balsa de lodos

ix

activa, mientras que la balsa de lodos abandonada no es susceptible de generar acidificación a lo largo plazo.

Los estudios mineralógicos de los lodos mediante DRX mostraron que las muestras estaban dominadas por cuarzo, feldespatos, calcita, micas y clorita. Los análisis por SEM-EDS realizados en los lodos y en los residuos analizados en la explotación a cielo abierto identificaron minerales primarios y secundarios que consisten en sulfuros, silicatos y precipitaciones secundarias de oxihidróxidos de Fe y Mn. Se detectó la presencia de precipitados tipo Yukonita en las fases de Ca-Fe-As lo que podría estar relacionada con la presencia de formas biodisponibles de As.

Se aplicaron también extracciones selectivas para evaluar la movilidad y disponibilidad de metal(loid)es en las muestras. Los elementos formadores de oxianiones como As y Sb fueron inmovilizados por los óxidos de Fe, aunque en cierta medida también se detectaron formas extraíbles con ácido acético y solubles en agua, lo que indica una posible biodisponibilidad que puede suponer un riesgo potencial de toxicidad para el medio ambiente. Los datos de las extracciones selectivas también mostraron que Zn y Pb eran relativamente inmóviles, aunque en las zonas de mayor contaminación, se extrajeron también cantidades significativas de estos elementos con ácido acético. En los lodos, la movilidad de Zn y Pb se correlacionó negativamente con la capacidad de intercambio catiónico (CEC) y el contenido de arcilla, lo que revela la importancia de estos factores en la reducción de la toxicidad potencial para estos elementos. Las concentraciones totales de As, Sb y Pb también se correlacionaron negativamente con el pH del suelo, lo que indica que el proceso de oxidación de los lodos ricos en sulfuros y, por lo tanto, la generación de condiciones ácidas, puede conducir a la liberación de contaminantes a lo largo del tiempo. Sin embargo, debido al contenido en carbonato cálcico, la capacidad de neutralización ácida de los lodos aún no se ha agotado y las concentraciones de contaminantes en la solución del suelo aún son relativamente bajas.

Finalmente, se realizaron tres bioensayos (acumulación en plantas, bioensayos de toxicidad y ensayo de riesgo para la salud humana) para evaluar la toxicidad de los metal(loid)es presentes en la zona. La prueba de acumulación en plantas indicó que

Artemisia absinthium puede ser una planta adecuada para la fitoextracción de Cu, Zn y Sb en áreas contaminadas, y *Phragmites australis* se puede utilizar de manera eficiente para la eliminación de metales (principalmente Cu) y, en cualquier caso, también se pueden usar ambas para fitoestabilización de los suelos de la zona. Los bioensayos de toxicidad realizados con la fase soluble en agua utilizando *Lactuca sativa* y *Vibrio fischeri* no mostraron riesgo de toxicidad a corto plazo, lo que indica que los metal(loid)es en los lodos se asocian principalmente a fases secundarias relacionadas con carbonatos y formas de hierro / manganeso que reducen la movilidad y la toxicidad de las fases solubles. Los resultados de la evaluación del riesgo para la salud humana indican un alto potencial de toxicidad por vía de ingestión accidental para As, Sb y Pb. Se detectó un riesgo especialmente alto en el caso de suelos urbanos expuestos a niños (jardines o parques) y en suelos agrícolas.

Los resultados de nuestra investigación sugieren que el riesgo ambiental asociado con estos residuos mineros en clima semiárido no es, por lo tanto, un problema a corto plazo, pero se requiere un seguimiento constante. Además, se recomienda el estudio y aplicación de acciones de remediación para mitigar o prevenir el riesgo de toxicidad en los suelos del entorno y para prevenir el riesgo de exposición a la población cercana al área minera.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.1
ABSTRACT	.v
RESUMEN	.IX
TABLE OF CONTENTS	. XIII

PART I. INTRODUCTION, OBJECTIVES AND JUSTIFICATION

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 What are mine wastes	1
1.2 Environmental impact of mining wastes	2
1.2.1 Pollution by metals and metalloids	4
1.2.2 Trace elements in plants	6
1.1.3 In vitro bioaccessibility assay for metals	8
1.3 Soil properties in relation to pollution	9
1.3.1 Soil fractionation of metals and metalloids	11
1.3.2 Soil assessment of toxicity by bioassay tests	12
1.4 Justification of the problem	13
CHAPTER 2. AIM AND OBJECTIVES	15
2.1 General aim of the thesis	15
2.2 Main objective	16
2.3 Specific objectives	16

PART II. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

CHAPTER 3. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL AND MINERALOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF SOILS, SEDIMENTS AND WASTE MATERIALS OF CHADAK MINING AREA	19
3.1 Introduction	19
3.2 Materials and methods	22
3.2.1 Study area	22
3.2.2 Site description	24
3.2.3 Geological structure of the ore area	28
3.2.3.1 Pirmirab deposit	31
3.2.3.2 Guzaksay deposit	32
3.2.4 Field investigations	32
3.2.4.1 Soil sampling	32

3.2.4.2 Sampling of waste and tailings materials	33
3.2.4.3 Sediment sampling	33
3.2.5 Equipments and their application	35
3.2.5.1 Ion chromatography (Dionex DX-120)	35
3.2.5.2 Atomic absorption spectroscopy (Varian SpectrAA220FS)	35
3.2.5.3 Inductively coupled plasma – mass spectrometry (PE SCIEX Ela 5000A)	ın- 36
3.2.5.4 X-Ray fluorescence spectrometer (MagiX Pro XRF)	37
3.2.5.5 X-Ray Diffraction (XRD Philips PW-1710)	37
3.2.5.6 Scanning electron microscope (Zeiss-Supra 40VP SEM)	37
3.2.5.7 Microwave Accelerated Reaction System (CEM MARS 230/60 Xpress)	38
3.2.6. Chemical and analytical works	38
3.2.6.1 Preparation of soils, sediments and waste materials for analysis	38
3.2.6.2 Measurement of major anions	38
3.2.6.3 Total concentration of trace elements	39
3.2.6.4 Mineralogical studies	39
3.2.7 Statistical analysis of geochemical data	40
3.3 Results and Discussion	40
3.3.1 Total content of major and trace elements and their distribution in the horizontal and vertical profiles	40
3.3.2 Grain size distribution	46
3.3.3 Physico-chemical properties of soil and tailings	46
3.3.4 Acid potential (AP) and Neutralization potential (NP) of the tailings	47
3.3.5 Mineral composition of tailing dumps	49
3.4 Conclusions	55
CHAPTER 4. ASSESSMENT OF MOBILITY AND AVAILABILITY OF METAL(LOID)S AND THE RELATION TO SOIL AND TAILING PROPERTIES	IR 57
4.1 Introduction	57
4.2 Materials and methods	59
4.2.1 Selective extraction of metal(loid)s	59
4.3. Results and discussion	60
4.3.1 Geochemical fractionation of trace elements in tailings dumps material	.60
4.3.2 Correlation between tailing properties and metal(loid)s	65
4.4 Conclusions	69

CHAPTER 5. EVALUATION OF THE POTENTIAL TOXICITY OF METAL(LOID)S BY THE USE OF TOXICITY BIOASSAYSS AND PHYTOEXTRACTION OF METAL(LOID)S BY THE WILD PLANTS OF THE AREA
5.1 Introduction71
5.2 Materials and methods74
5.2.1 Toxicity bioassays75
5.2.1.1 <i>Lactuca Sativa</i> bioassay75
5.2.1.2 Vibrio fischery bioassay76
5.2.2. Bioaccumulation of metalloids in plants78
5.2.2.1 Preparation of plant samples for analyses
5.2.3 Bioaccessibility and human exposure assessment of metal(loid)s80
5.2.4 Statistical analysis82
5.3 Results and discussion83
5.3.1 Toxicity bioassays83
5.3.1.1 <i>Lactuca sativa</i> bioassay
5.3.1.2 Vibrio fischeri bioassay
5.3.1.3 Influence of physicochemical properties and total concentration of metal(loid)s on toxicity bioassays
5.3.2 Bioaccumulation of metalloids in plants
5.3.3 Bioaccessibility and human exposure assessment
5.4 Conclusion
PART III. CONCLUSIONS
CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS
PART IV. BIBLIOGRAPHY
BIBLIOGRAPHY
PART V. COPY OF THE ARTICLE
PUBLICATION
ANNEXES
ANNEX A. Total concentration of trace elements in soils and tailing material 137
ANNEX B. Total concentration of trace elements in Guzaksay open pit area and chadaksay river sediments
ANNEX C. SEM-EDS imaging made on the tailings and open pit waste materials (Figures: 14-23)

Part I

Introduction, Objectives and Justification

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. What are mine wastes

Mining is one of the most powerful factors of anthropogenic transformation of the environment. It is defined as an activity that focuses on the selective extraction, through mining techniques, of substances and minerals existing in the earth's crust, in an economically profitable manner. It is primarily manifested in the withdrawal and mechanical damage of considerable masses of land. Modern technology makes it possible to use only a small part of the extracted mass of rocks (usually a few percent). All the rest is accumulated in the form of waste piles and tailing dumps, which are dissipated by natural migration processes and are a source of pollution of the environment by chemical elements. In the last decades, a very important demand for mineral raw materials has been generated, motivated by the strong economic growth produced worldwide, which has made even more relevant, if possible, the strategic value of this extractive activity. It is estimated that the current volume of mining waste production amounts to several billion tons per year, and that it continues to increase as demand and exploitation of lower quality deposits or by the search for new materials such as Rare Earth Elements (Hudson-Edwards and Dold, 2015). In the case of tailings, 14 billion tones were produced by the mining industry in 2010 (Jones and Boger, 2012).

The term "mining waste" is a generic term that encompasses all waste and byproducts from mining activity, whether or not these are included in specific deposits. Mine wastes can also be defined as waste products originating, accumulating and present at mine sites, which are unwanted and have no current economic value" (Lottermoser, 2010). Mine wastes include waste piles, tailings, smelter slag, used processing solutions, particulate emissions and mine drainage waters. The chemical properties of mine wastes depend on the type of mineral mined, as well as from chemicals used in the extraction or enrichment processes. Historically, wastes were disposed often without regard for safety and often with significant environmental consequences. (Bell and Donnelly, 2006).

This Chapter is partially based on the publication: O.Kodirov, Kersten M., Shukurov N., Martín-Peinado F.. 2018. Trace metal(loid) mobility in waste deposits and soils around Chadak mining area, Uzbekistan. Science of the Total Environment, 622–623, 1658–1667.
In Uzbekistan various minerals are mined in several fields by open-pit and underground mining methods generating 25 million m³ of waste annually (UNECE, 2001). According to the State Committee for Nature Protection of the Republic of Uzbekistan (2001), about 42 million tons of tailings and 300,000 tons of metallurgical slag are accumulated annually in Uzbekistan. Tailings represent, therefore, the most voluminous waste at metal mine sites.

Mining and foundry activities are the main anthropogenic sources of metals in the environment (Uzu et al., 2009). One of the main concerns with regard to mining activity is the production of a large amount of wastes, which are usually stored in the vicinity of mines. Since these industrial waste materials contain inorganic contaminants, such as metals, they in turn represent secondary sources of contamination for soil, water and the atmosphere.

1.2. Environmental impact of mining wastes

The main feature of the current stage of the development of the biosphere is the constant increase in the role of the anthropogenic factor in the formation of migration flows of elements. Unfortunately, man often intervenes without due attention in the established interrelationships between natural phenomena and disturbs most of the main ecological cycles, leading to unpredictable consequences and malfunctions in the environment.

The exploitation of mineral resources results in the production of large volumes of mining wastes containing metals or metalloids at elevated concentrations (Lottermoser, 2010). Environmental contamination and pollution as a result of improper mining, smelting and waste disposal practices have occurred and still occur around the world. Significance of contamination risk induced by mining is also highlighted by large mine accidents such as in Aznalcollar, Spain in 1998 (Simon et al., 2001). Mining waste is the most important source of impacts on the populations and ecosystems of mining areas and their areas of influence. In addition to its potential risk of contamination on the site itself, these residues are often susceptible to being eroded by wind (wind erosion) and runoff water (water erosion). Filtration to groundwater and discharge of surface water can lead to contamination of both ground and surface water. Therefore, extractive activities, such as mining, usually

cause large impacts on their environment, since, as is particularly important in metal mining, they become zones from which contaminants can be dispersed, in addition to affect soils, aquifers and surface waters (Collon et al., 2006).

Tailings contain a combination of phenomena that adversely affect the environment. This is the contamination of the air basin, the high aggressiveness of technogenic waters, the ecotoxicity of elements and the probability of emergency situations at sites that make up the tailings (Hudson-Edward et. al, 2011). Pollution of the air basin is caused by intensive processes of dust formation on the surfaces of tailing dumps, which are mostly in a dry state.

Today Uzbekistan has to handle significant environmental problems associated with development of deposits in past and present time. The increase in mining activities in recent decades inevitably exerts a negative influence on the environment. In particular, opencast mining activities may therefore have a negative environmental impact on soils and watersheds. Sulphide-rich minerals represent a major ore deposit for extracting metals and metalloids worldwide, generating millions of tons of tailings and acid mine drainage (Dudka and Adriano, 1997).



Figure 1.Acid Mine Drainage: main impacts on the environment (adapted from Gray, 1997)

Strongly related to waters draining active and, in particular, abandoned mines and mine wastes coming from sulphide-rich minerals, acid mine drainage (AMD) is one of the most serious environmental problems in sulphide mineralized areas, causing the solubilization and dispersion through the environment of trace metals and related toxic elements (Astrom, 1998). The main impacts on the environment affects to essential properties and cycles (Fig. 1), producing strong changes in the ecosystem. Most of the environmental-impact assessment and remediation efforts related to AMD generation have been focused on temperate climates, and few on mine sites exposed to semi-arid climates where AMD is not an immediate problem (Razo et al., 2004; Hayes et al., 2012). In these areas, the presence of soils with high buffering capacity is common, and when the AMD infiltrates the soil, the acidity is neutralized and most of the pollutants precipitate (Simón et al., 2005). In any case, although AMD generation in a semi-arid climate is not a short-term problem, the pollution can persist for thousands of years due to the slow time course of the processes related to oxidation, hydrolysis and acidification (Kempton and Atkins, 2000), which poses a long-term risk and even a chemical time-bomb for environment and human health.

1.2.1. Pollution by metals and metalloids

The fundamental difference between mankind and the animal world is the creation of a technosphere. Mankind, representing an insignificant share of the biomass of the planet, at the expense of its technological activity, intensively changes the spectrum of elements and their concentration in the environment.

In the last decades, interest in assessing chemical elements as pollutants has increased dramatically. A number of elements, in particular Pb, Cd, Fe, Cu, Zn, As, Hg, Sb, etc., due to human activities, already now far exceed the level of dispersion of these elements associated with geological processes. The major concern of contamination of soil, sediments, and waters by metals and metalloids is their toxicity and threat to human life and the environment (Nriagu et al., 2007). Trace elements are found naturally in the earth's crust (natural source), but the use by the human beings (anthropogenic source), generate a high diversity of chemical forms (Table 1). Many elements like arsenic, mercury, cadmium, lead, selenium, etc., are considered priority pollutants (Sparks, 2005), because they are transformed to chemical forms that can produce acute toxic effects in living organisms.

Unlike most organic pollutants, inorganic elements (like metals and metalloids) are not affected by natural degradation processes, and due to their low mobility under oxidizing conditions, they are persistent in the environment over time. Their presence in soils at long-term, can produce that they incorporate into the biological cycle, inevitably leading to contamination of the other most important life-supporting natural environments: water, air and living organisms.

Table 1.	Natural	and a	anthropogenic	sources	and	common	forms	in	wastes	of	trace	elements	as p	oriority
pollutant														

Element	Natural source or metallic	Anthropogenic sources	Common forms in		
٨a	Free motel (Ag)	Mining photographic inductry	Wastes		
лу	chlorargyrite		complexes. Ag halides.		
	(AgCl),acanthite (Ag ₂ S),		Ag thiosulfates		
	copper, lead, zinc ores		5		
As	Metal arsenides and	Pyrometallurgical industry, spoil heaps and	As oxides(oxyanions),		
	arsenates, sulfide ores	tailings, smelting, wood preserving, fossil fuel	organo-metallic forms,		
	(arsenopyrite), arsenolite	combustion, poultry manure, pesticides,	$H_2ASO_3CH_3$ (methylarsinic		
	(AS ₂ O ₃), voicanic gases,	landinis	ACID, (CH ₃) ₂ -ASO ₂ H		
Be	Bervl (BesAlsSisOte)	Nuclear industry electronic industry	Be allovs Be metal		
20	phenakite (Be_2SiO_4)		Be(OH) ₂		
Cd	Zinc carbonate and sulfide	Mining and smelting, metal finishing, plastic	Cd ²⁺ ions. Cd halides and		
	ores, copper carbonate	industry, microelectronics, battery	oxides, Cd–CN		
	and sulfide	manufacture, landfill sand refuse disposal,	complexes, Cd(OH) ₂		
		scrap heaps	sludge		
Cr	Chromite (FeCr ₂ O ₄),	Metal finishing, plastic industry, wood	Cr metal, Cr oxides		
	eskolaite (Cr_2O_3)	treatment refineries, pyrometallurgical	(oxyanions),Cr ³⁺		
		industry, landfills, scrap heaps	complexes with		
			organic/inorganic		
		N Colores and a secol Constant of Color Color	ligands		
Cu	chalcocite (Cu2S)	microelectropics wood treatment, refuse	Cu metal, Cu oxides, Cu		
	chalcopyrite (CuEeS2)	disposal and landfills, pyrometallurgical	Cu ions		
		industry, swine manure, pesticides, scrap			
		heaps, mine drainage	-		
Hg	Native metal (Hg), cinnabar	Mining and smelting, electrolysis industry,	Organo-Hg complexes,		
	(HgS), degassed from	plastic industry, refuse disposal/landfills,	Hg halides and oxides, 112^{2+} (112) 2^{+} 112^{0}		
NI	Earth's clust and oceans	Iron and stool industry, mining and	Hg , (Hg ₂) , Hg		
INI	ferrous sulfide ores	smelting metal finishing microelectronics	Ni metal, Ni ² ions, Ni		
	pentlandite	battery manufacture	amines, anoys		
Pb	Galena (PbS)	Mining and smelting, iron and steel industry,	Pb metal, Pb oxides and		
		refineries, paint industry, automobile	carbonates, Pb-metal-		
		exhaust, plumbing, battery manufacture,	oxyanion complexes		
		sewage sludge, refuse disposal and landfills,			
Sb	Stibnite (Sb ₂ S ₂).	Microelectronics, pyrometallurgical industry.	Sh ³⁺ ions. Sh ovides and		
	geothermal springs	smelting, mine drainage	halides		
Se	Free element (Se),	Smelting, fossil fuel combustion, irrigation	Se oxides (oxyanions),		
	ferroselite (FeSe2),	waters	Se-organic complexes		

	uranium deposits, black shales, chalcopyrite– pentlandite–pyrrhotite deposits		
TI	Copper, lead, silver residues	Pyrometallurgical industry, microelectronics, cement industry	TI halides, TI–CN complexes
Zn	Sphalerite (ZnS), Willemite (Zn2SiO4), smithsonite (ZnCO3)	Mining and smelting, metal finishing, textile, microelectronics, refuse disposal and landfills, pyrometallurgical industry, sewage sludge, pesticides, scrap heaps	Zn metal, Zn ²⁺ ions, Zn oxides and carbonates, alloys

Source: Sparks (2005); Adriano(2001); mineral nomenclature after Mandarino and Back (2004).

Metals and metalloids are transferred to the environment via fly ash, dust, and leachates coming from point-source pollution such as mine quarries, dumps, and tailings (Shukurov et al., 2014; Martín et al., 2007), and may become a problem of diffuse pollution due to the widespread partitioning of these elements through the ecosystem (Martín et al., 2010).

1.2.2. Trace elements in plants

The disposal of mining wastes resulting from metalliferous and processing wastes release toxic metals into the environment and has harmful effects on soil, terrestrial and aquatic plants, organisms and ecological cycles causing alteration and damage to plants, animals and ecological biodiversity (Ives and Cardinale 2004; Hsu et al. 2006; Anawar et al.2013). Therefore, a better knowledge about the soil processes of these mining soils will provide, in addition to scientific knowledge, better information on how to deal with the processes of recovery and environmental restoration of these environments (Smithet al., 1987; Wong, 2003).

It is known that the chemical composition of plant communities is closely related to the concentration of a number of elements in the soil substrate (Kabata-Pendias, 2011). Plants have developed a range of mechanisms to obtain metals from the soil solution and transport these metals within the plant, accumulating both in roots as in aerial parts (Zhou et al., 2016). Plants are recognized as critical elements of terrestrial ecosystems and must be considered as part of any environmental impact assessment.

Plant ability to take up chemical elements from growth media is evaluated by a ratio of element concentration in plants to element concentration in soils and is called Biological Absorption Coefficient (BAC), Index of Bioaccumulation (IBA), or Transfer Factors (TF). To provide an effective evaluation of the pool of bioavailable trace elements, therefore, techniques based on both soil tests and plant analyses should be used together. An assessment of toxic concentrations and effects of trace elements on plants is very complex because it depends on so many factors that it cannot be measured on a linear scale (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

In recent decades, in order to combat the consequences of pollution from mining activities, a large number of researches have taken place for plant species tolerant of heavy metals, for phytoextraction and/or phytorestoration of affected sites and stabilize the mining waste dumps (Wong 2003).

Phytoremediation is a relatively new approach to removing contaminants from the environment. It may be defined as the use of plants to remove, destroy or sequester hazardous substances from environment (Zu, 2003). It has become a attractive method due its safe and potentially cheap nature compared to traditional methods of remediation (Glick, 2003; Pulford and Watson, 2003). The process of phytostabilization leads to the stabilization of metal contaminants in polluted soils and the reduction of the transfer of metal from the soil to the plants (Blaylock and Huang, 2000).

Despite the impact of mining activities on community structure and biodiversity, ancient as well as recent mine spoils can still support populations of metal-tolerant taxa and some wild plants that grow on metal contaminated soil can accumulate significant amounts of metals. Some plants have mechanisms for accumulation and tolerance or alleviation of high levels of metals in contaminated soils (Khan et al. 2000); for example, native plants such as *Artemisia absinthium* (Badea, 2015) and *Phragmites australis* have been used successfully in phytoremediation (Stoltz and Greger, 2002) due to excellent tolerances to various contaminants and specific biochemical, physiological and anatomical adaptations. Identification of those plants native to such areas with reasonably high biomass and capacity to accumulate heavy metals is essential for phytoremediation (Fitamo, 2010).

Anyway, the use of phytoextraction in the restoration of mine sites or soil polluted by heavy metals is usually restricted due to the high concentration of heavy metals and the potential toxicity of the soil solution. Therefore, in most cases, the use of phytostabilization is frequently applied to these areas. The use of metal tolerant plants together with different amendments like organic materials, liming agents, or other inorganic products to reduce metal mobility and bioavailability in soils, appears a viable strategy for restoration of sites contaminated with high levels of metals when phytoextraction is not a feasible option (Alcorta et al., 2010).

1.2.3. In vitro bioaccessibility assay for metals

Heavy metals in mine-impacted areas may enter to the human body through direct inhalation or ingestion of particulates (Hayes et al., 2012). Accordingly, some methods have been developed to evaluate the health risks of heavy metals (Wang et al. 2005) which depend on the fraction that is soluble in the gastrointestinal environment and available for absorption (Paustenbach, 2000; Oomen et al. 2002). In order to define the amount of an element that is actually readily available for uptake, is desirable the use of human bioaccessibility tests (Wragg and Cave, 2003). *In vitro* bioaccessibility analysis measures the potential hazard from ingestion of metals in soil, dust or other solid-like waste material. The bioaccessibility test of contaminants that have entered the gastro-intestinal tract by direct ingestion of soil should provide quantification of the dissolution under "realistic worst conditions" (Poggio et al, 2009).

There are various methods of *in vitro* bioaccessibility tests ranging from very simple chemical extraction or leaching tests to advanced multi-step tests simulating the human digestion process in detail (Ruby et al.,1996, 1999; Yang et al., 2003). In these assays, soil is incubated in an acid solution for a period corresponding to the residence time of ingested soil particles in the human stomach. The analysis is highly controlled in terms of temperature as well as pH of the fluid.

Statistical relationships between human bioaccessible fractions and various soil properties were found by Ruby et al. (1999), suggesting that this approach could be useful for assessing bioaccessible fractions, especially for preliminary, non-legally binding investigations (Poggio et al, 2009). However, the relationship between bioaccessibility and its fractionation in soils remains to be better characterized (Tang et al., 2018), so this important aspect is going to be addressed in this study.

8

1.3. Soil properties in relation to pollution

Soil is one of the basic elements of the environment because is the component on which ecosystems and most anthropic activities are installed and developed. In this sense, soil is an element that interacts with the other natural components (geological substrate, atmosphere, water component and living organisms), performing ecosystemic and human use functions, including agriculture, industry and mining. Moreover, its dynamic nature extends these function to many other environmental, socioeconomic and cultural scopes, many of which are of great importance for the the functioning and health of ecosystems (Hamilton, 2000).

However, in mining areas soils are heavily disturbed, resulting in a strong alteration of their main properties and constituents. According to the World Reference Base (WRB, 2015), these soils in mining areas were within the Technosols Group. These soils combine soils whose properties and pedogenesis are dominated by their technical origin. They include soils formed by materials that, strictly, have not undergone edaphogenetic processes (e.g.: those previously confined in the subsoil: sterile mines or all kinds of excavation products below the original soil profiles, and sometimes also the byproducts of the treatments like landfills, sludge, residues from mines and ash. Otherwise, Tecnosols also may include surface materials that have undergone edaphogenetic processes, which, in turn, may have been subjected to the mixture of horizons when removed and that, in any case, have been altered their properties during the handling. In the U.S. Soil Taxonomy, any class of soil may be modified by the "technic" or "anthropic" qualifier, so they are included in the Orthent suborder; in the Russian soil classification system they are recognized as surface Technogenic formations and in the Australian soil classification they are considered to be included within Anthroposols.

Heavy metals can be retained in the soil but can also be mobilized by different and chemical mechanisms. Mobilization processes are complex and strongly related to soil properties and constituents, but is especially sensitive to those reactions that affect transfer from solid to liquid phases (Alloway, 1995). The most important factors that influence the mobilization of heavy metals in soils are related to the main soil characteristics like: pH, redox potential, ionic composition of the soil solution, ion change capacity, presence of carbonates, iron forms, organic matter, texture, etc. (Sauquillo et al., 2003).





The possible dynamic of metal(loids) in soils involved in physical, chemical and biological transformation (Fig. 2), although environmental conditions such as acidification, changes in redox conditions, or variation of temperature and humidity, play a key role in the mobility and availability of these potentially pollutant elements into the ecosystem.

In this regard, it is of main interest determining the general behavior of heavy metals in various soil conditions, such as acid soils (Birkefeld et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2005) or alkaline, as well as in a carbonated context (Fotovat and Naidu, 1998, Boussen et al., 2013). In this sense, the behavior of the chemical elements can be evaluated by sequential or selective extraction procedures, which provide essential information on therelations between soil components and pollutants, while providing information on their mobility and bioavailability in relation to the soil properties (Van Herreweghe et al., 2003; Anju and Banerjee, 2010; Uzu et al., 2011; Boussen et al., 2013). The use of these chemical procedures with a mineralogical approach, such as DRX, SEM, TEM, etc., allows the determination of the different metallic phases in the soils (Kovács et al., 2006; Otones and Álvarez-Ayuso, 2011; Chiang et al., 2010), allowing to predict and evaluate their stabilityin the medium and long term.

1.3.1. Soil fractionation of metals and metalloids

Traditionally, in environmental studies the total content of toxic elements is analyzed, but only mobile forms of toxicants can be dangerous for ecosystems, while immobile forms are of less danger. It is now widely recognized that the mobility and bioavailability of trace metals in soils depend not only on the total concentration, but also on their specific chemical form or binding state in relation to soil properties and constituents (Dang et al., 2002; Sauve et al., 2000; Nyamangara, 1998; Romero-Freire et al., 2014). However, changes in environmental conditions such as acidification, changes in the redox potential conditions or increases in organic-ligand concentrations can result in trace-element mobilization from the solid to the liquid phase and cause contamination of surrounding waters (Gleyzes et al., 2002).

To assess the mobility and bioavailability of potentially polluting elements, several extraction schemes have been developed and described in the literature (Rauret et al., 1989; Kersten, 2001; Gleyzes et al., 2002; Quevauviller, 2002). These extraction schemes are based on operationally defined fractions that allow the assessment of distinct reagent-extractable forms (distilled water, single salts, acetic acid, complexing agents, etc.), which are usually defined as pool-extractable forms (soluble, exchangeable, carbonate associated, Fe/Mn oxide-associated, organic associated, residual, etc.). The most insoluble forms (extracted only by strong acids) are usually defined as residual forms (Beckett, 1989). In this way, a set of selective extraction techniques are used to determine the most leachable and thus potentially the most bioavailable compounds, while the total abundance of potentially harmful elements was determined by strong acid digestion (Anju and Banerjee, 2010). Despite the uncertainties associated with non-selectivity of the extractants, readsorption, and redistribution problems, extraction schemes remain widely used as

an essential tool in element fractionation in soil and sediments (Kersten, 2001; Gleyzes et al., 2002).

However, not all the processes or reactions of trace elements with the properties and constituents of the soil that determine their bioavailability (MO, oxides, carbonates, clays etc.) are equally important for each element; although most of these processes are usually affected by the pH of the soil and biological processes (Fageria et al., 2002). In this sense, it is essential to know which processes or reactions are the most important for each element to be able to propose the appropriate solutions to avoid toxicity in organisms and dispersion of pollution.

1.3.2. Soil assessment of toxicity by bioassay tests

To solve the issue of further use of the territories near the areas of past environmental damage, an estimation of soil toxicity is necessary. The assessment of toxicity in soils based on the results of the chemical analysis is not reliable, because the chemical-analytical control cannot detect the actual toxicity of polluted soils, but only shows the presence of a concentration of pollutants that are compared with existing sanitary and hygienic standards (usually called "intervention levels"). This problem can be solved if the methods of bioassay testing are introduced into the environmental control system, which allows obtaining an integral ecotoxicological assessment of the soils in the zone of influence of industrial facilities.

In recent years, a large number of cost effective and more environmentally friendly remediation techniques have been developed (Kulshreshtha et al., 2014). Remediation of polluted areas is important to prevent environmental degradation, as well as to control the impact of people and other living organisms on hazardous chemicals. Pollution and toxicity in polluted soils by metal(loid)s are generally evaluated by the means of bioassays (García-Carmona et al., 2017).

Toxicity bioassays, are used to determine the toxicity in organisms when exposed to potentially contaminating elements. They are crucial to determine the ecological risk, since they can foresee the potential risk of contamination in living organisms in the ecosystem (Petänen et al., 2003). Bioassays are experiments in which selected test organisms are exposed to a soil to bediagnosed, and some biological response is

measured. For terrestrial ecosystems, the most commonly used tests for toxicity assessment include the most important groups of soil organisms: plants, soil microorganisms and mesofauna (Romero-Freire, 2015).

Generaly, extractions remove soluble in water contaminants; subsequently, they reflect the behaviour of the mobile phases and assess the short-term risk of dispersion, solubilization and bioavailability of pollutants in the soil. To evaluate soil toxicity, the use of a diverse set of exposure routes, as well as anumber of bioassays is recommended, jointly take into account exposure to both the solid and the soluble phases of the soil (Romero-Freire et al., 2016).

There are very diverse toxicity tests that can be applied in case of soil contamination assessment. They are divided mainly into two groups: those that use the liquid phase (the saturation extract of the soil), and those that use the solid phase (Farré and Barceló, 2003). There is a high correlation between bioassays that use both phases, although it is not always direct (Lors et al., 2011). The bioassays that use the soil extract seem to better reflect the behavior of the mobile phases, which allows to evaluate in the short term the risks of dispersion, solubilization and bioavailability of the contaminants in the soil (Romero-Freire et al., 2014).

1.4. Justification of the problem

In recent decades, the problem of pollution of natural systems by toxic components of technogenic origin is becoming increasingly important due to the growing influence of metals and metalloids sources in the environment and, as a consequence - in the food chain and the human organism.

We are increasingly confronted with the phenomenon of which Vernadsky (1960) spoke: "...humanity becomes the leading geological force, and its activity determines the formation of a modern geological environment in the atmosphere, the hydrosphere and the upper zones of the lithosphere.". This particularly applies to the mining industry, as a result of which the Earth's surface in some regions is changed beyond recognition and turns into "lunar landscapes". In fact, over 6 billion ha (66

percent of the world's soil surface) has been affected by degradation, leaving roughly only a third of the world's surface in good condition (Gibbs y Salmon, 2015).

In most deposits related to mining activities, the rich ore is mainly involved in industrial development, while the low-grade ore mass is stored in the form of mining wastes or tailing dumps. Extracted to the surface and stored ore-rock association on one hand inevitably experiences the influence of natural factors, modifying and transforming under their influence, and on the other hand exerts an active influence on the surrounding natural components. Mine wastes are often a major source of heavy metal pollution in the local environment owing to direct dispersion of potentially polluted particles by dust blow (eolic erosion) or water erosion, and from the leaching of the products of mineral weathering into nearby soils and watercourses (Tordoff et al., 2000). This pollution may have serious detrimental effects upon crops and public health in the surrounding areas both in active as in abandoned mines.

In this regard, the problem of assessing the impact of unclaimed part of mineral raw materials in the process of mining deposits on the surrounding environment and human health is very relevant, since ore deposits are natural geochemical anomalies, which are potential and real sources of toxic elements. Among the most ecotoxic deposits, gold ore deposits occupy one of the first places, since their ores contain a wide range of toxic elements, most of which classified as 1 and 2 hazard groups (highly and moderately hazardous, respectively) according to the Russian general toxicological standard (GOST 17.4.1.02-83). Taking into account the fact that the main attention is paid to one (Au), maximum of two components (Au + Ag) during the mining of these deposits, the questions of identification the potential environmental risk of pollution of unused ore minerals are of particular importance.

CHAPTER 2. AIM AND OBJECTIVES

2.1. General aim of thesis

As a result of the large-scale mining activities several environmental problems such as land degradation, poor soil and water quality, tailings disposal, high metal contamination, limited vegetation and geological hazards are observed as "pointsource" pollution. In this case, contaminants are directly released to the soil, and the source and of the pollution is easily identified (Hernández and Pastor 2008; Takeuchi and Shimano 2009; Anawar et al. 2011.). Otherwise, in arid and semi-arid regions usually occurs at the same time "diffuse pollution", this involving the spread of contaminants over wide areas, mainly related to wind erosion, which involves the transport of pollutants via air to soil-water systems (Rodríguez-Eugenio et al., 2018). The mining industry is the main national wealth of Uzbekistan. The relevance of the topic is determined by the fact that in the mining regions of Uzbekistan huge amounts of mining wastes have accumulated.

In general, under the socialist system, main attention was paid to the intensive development of minerals and due attention was not paid to the protection of the natural environment and to the sustainable or rational use of resources. After gaining independence and transition to a market economy, Uzbekistan began working on economic incentives for mining enterprises, focusing on the rational and integrated use of mineral raw materials. However, technogenically disturbed territories continue to grow from year to year, producing an increasing degradation of the environment (mainly air, water and soils) which adversely affects the development of livestock, agriculture and public health. However, mining and technical reclamation of disturbed areas was and remains at a very low level of development.

Taking into account the above described, the general aim of this research is to contribute to identify and characterize the potential problems associated with the tailing dumps of the Chadak mine (Uzbekistan), and to support information to be used in further studies related to environmental safety of the population by preventing the negative consequences of the development of activities related to the exploitation of mineral deposits.

2.2. Main objective

The main objective of this work is to assess the environmental impact of metals and metalloids coming from waste rock piles and tailing dumps generated during processing of the Chadak Au-Ag deposit, by characterizing the potentially contaminating elements and assessing their toxicity. The final goal is to generate useful data and information to be used in the development of remediation strategies for alleviate of recovery the environmental problems in Chadak area.

To achieve this objective, the following specific objectives will be carried out:

2.3. Specific objectives

- Characterize the total concentration and distribution of metals and metalloids (As, Sb, Zn, Pb and others) in surrounding soils and wastes deposits in and around the tailing dumps of Chadak mining area, to evaluate the potential risk of pollution as the first step in an environmental risk assessment of the area;
- 2. Analyze of physico-chemical parameters (grain size, pH, EC, CEC, etc.) and mineralogical composition of soils and tailings materials, to be considered as they create conditions for changing the forms of metals.
- 3. Assessment of the mobility and potential bioavailability of the main contaminants (As, Pb, Zn and Sb) by selective chemical extractions.
- 4. Identification of phytoremediation potential of plants (*Phragmites australis*, *Artemisia absinthium*) growing in and around tailing dumps;
- 5. Evaluation of the potential toxicity of metals and metalloids in soils and tailings materials using bioassays and if necessary develop remediation strategies.
- 6. Determination of bioaccessibility of metal(loid)s in tailings material and evaluate associated human health risk from its ingestion.

The overall goal of the project is thereby contribution to more secure livelihoods, increased environmental sustainability, and greater social harmony.

Part II

Results and Discussion

CHAPTER 3. PHYSICO-CHEMICAL AND MINERALOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF SOILS, SEDIMENTS AND WASTE MATERIALS OF CHADAK MINING AREA

3.1. INTRODUCTION

The study of physicochemical and mineralogical properties of soils, sediments and waste materials allows us to understand the processes that largely control superficial geochemical cycles. Moreover, these studies are important in understanding contaminative character of trace metals, to assess the pollution levels and the distribution of these elements among solid-phase fractions (Usman et al., 2017), since their interactions are mainly controlled by these properties. Metal(loid)s are significant natural components in the environment, and their presence in the mineral fraction indicates a store of potentially-mobile species as important components of clays, minerals and iron and manganese oxides that have a key influence on soil geochemistry (Gadd, 2008).

Most of the trace metal(loid)s that enter the environment from anthropogenic sources eventually reach the soil. When metal(loid)s get into the soil, they enter into a series of physico-chemical, biochemical and other interactions during which they accumulate, leach out, perform interphase transitions, and enter plant and animal organisms (Violante et al., 2010). During these interactions, the mobility, availability and potential toxicity of metal(loid)s for living organisms can vary significantly.

The degree of mobility of trace metals in soils is determined by a number of soil physico-chemical characteristics, namely: the granulometric composition, pH, the content of clay minerals, the amount of organic matter, electrical conductivity cation exchange capacity, the content of the oxides of iron (Fe), aluminum (Al), and manganese (Mn), the oxidation-reduction potential and biological activity (Kabata-Pendias, 2001). Soils have different responses against pollution depending on their characteristics, and a way to assess this response, the critical load of contaminats is usually estimated (Jiménez Ballesta et al., 1996). The critical load is defined as the concentration below which significant harmful effects on specified sensitive elements

This Chapter is partially based on the publication: O.Kodirov, Kersten M., Shukurov N., Martín-Peinado F.. 2018. Trace metal(loid) mobility in waste deposits and soils around Chadak mining area, Uzbekistan. Science of the Total Environment, 622–623, 1658–1667.

of the environment do not occur. When this critical load of metal(loid)s is exceeded, the soil no longer be able to effectively protect the ecosystem and can even function as a source of toxic substances (Díez et al, 2008).

The most essential soil properties affecting metal(loid)s mobility summarized by US EPA guide (Cameron, 1992) are as follows:

pH - has a significant effect on solubility by alteration of solution equilibria and direct participation in redox reactions, chemical and microbial reactions occurring at a waste site. The ability of soil to immobilize metal(loid)s increases with rising pH and peaks under mildly alkaline conditions. Although in alkaline conditions there is the possibility of metal(loid)s complex anions formation with an increased mobility and bioavailability (Fijalkowski et al., 2012). Although arid zone climatic and soil properties may limit movement of applied liquids, other properties will increase potential for release and movement (e.g., sudden rainfall, flooding, runoff, and erosion by water and wind). A large change in soil pH will result in a radical modification of the soil environment, being one of the most important factors determining the concentration of metals in the soil solution and their mobility and availability to plants (Alkorta et al., 2004).

Redox potential - oxidation-reduction processes influence contaminant behavior in soils as much as any biological or chemical factor. In general terms, the mobility of most metals is low under reducing conditions and increase in a variable way in oxidizing environments (Plant and Raiswell, 1983). Otherwise, biogeochemical redox processes strongly influence also metalloids mobility such as As and Sb (Violante et al., 2010). The mobility of other metals whose redox state is not affected by the redox conditions is nevertheless indirectly affected by the availability of complexing agents, adsorbing Fe and Mn (hydr)oxides and redox-sensitive anions which can induce precipitation of these metals (e.g. reduced sulfur forms) (Bourg and Loch, 1995). Moreover, redox conditions produce changes in the chemical species which can be related to different degrees of toxicity depending on the specific metal oxidation state; for example, Cr⁶⁺ is toxic to plants, animals and humans, whereas Cr³⁺ is not toxic to plants and is necessary in animal nutrition (Fendorf, 1995).

Organic matter - plays an important role in the accumulation and transport of metals as well as in delaying their circulation in the soil. Trace metals tend to form complexes with organic matter in the soil. Organic matter not only forming complexes, but also retaining trace metals in an exchangeable form. The binding of heavy metals by organic matter involves a different group of complex processes, strongly related to the interactions between organic matter and the mineral phase. Usually, increasing the amount of organic matter in the soil, helps to minimize the absorption of metal(loid)s by plants (Fijalkowski et al., 2012). Otherwise, the presence of organic acids may produce the formations of ligands with many metal ions, increasing their mobility along the soil profile (Gamng et al., 2010).

Ion exchange capacity - corresponds to adsorption reactions that occurs at the interface between the solid and aqueous phase in the matrix of the soils. The main constituents responsible for these surface reactions are organic matter, clay minerals, iron and manganese oxides and hydroxides, carbonates, and amorphous aluminosilicates (McLean and Bledsoe, 1996). The ion exchange capacity (IEC) is one of the general indicators characterizing the buffering capacity of the soil; the higher the IEC, the greater the ability to retain trace metals (van Rensburg et al., 2009). Anyway, the complex interactions among constituents can produce different processes; for example, clay minerals have an important role as carriers of associated oxides and humic substances forming organo-mineral complexes, which present specific sorption capacities different from those of each single soil constituent. Otherwise, variable charge minerals (crystalline and short range ordered Fe-, Al-, Mn-oxides, allophanes, imogolite) strongly retain trace heavy metals for their dependency on pH. On these materials a hydroxylated or hydrated surface, positive or negative charge is developed by sorption or desorption of H⁺ or OH⁻ ions (Violante et al., 2010). Moreover, the competitive anion exchange effects of other elements like P, can displace adsorbed metalloids like As, increasing the mobility of As into the soil (Peryea and Kammereck, 1997).

The type and quantity of the mineral phase largely determines the buffer capacity of a soil in relation to metal(loid)s. Particularly important is the mineralogical analysis with the separation of hypergene stages of mineral formation for the evaluation of tailings as sources of environmental pollution, since the minerals of the sulfate group (transition phase) have the maximum solubility. On the other hand, minerals of initial (sulfides) and final (oxides, hydroxides) stages are most resistant to dissolution (Grehnev, 2011). The latter circumstance is important for the characterization of pollution sources and evolution over time, since the mineralogy determines the potential of geochemical pollution. In mine wastes, Jamieson (2011) describes four groups of minerals and other solid compounds:

- Primary sulfide minerals comprising or accompanying ore, affect the sulfide oxidation rate and the degree and nature of the released potentially toxic elements.
- Primary non-sulfide minerals mainly carbonate and silicate minerals that are in ore deposits or their host rocks; in most cases they can provide neutralizing capacity.
- 3) Compounds produced by ore processing on-site processing such as roasting, heap leaching and pressure oxidation produce new solid compounds that may convert sulfide minerals to oxides and reduce the acid-generating potential of the wastes.
- 4) Secondary minerals formed by weathering majority of these minerals are fine grained with high capacity for adsorption of potentially toxic metals. Secondary minerals can provide information on the environmental condition they formed (pH, redox, etc.)

In this way, physicochemical and mineralogical studies of potentially polluted materials by trace elements are essential to find and apprise the source of pollution, to understand and predict the behavior of the contaminants in the environment, and to propose remediation actions. Therefore, the objective of this chapter is to conduct physicochemical and mineralogical characterization of soil, sediment and mine waste materials to evaluate the potential risk of pollution as the first step in the environmental risk assessment in Chadak area.

3.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.2.1. Study area

The present study is focused on the Chadak mining area, one of the main goldproducing sites in Uzbekistan. The Chadak ore area has been known since antiquity and was in use up to the 12th century, with mining traces (abandoned open-pit mines and placer fields) preserved in the lower Chadak village and other surrounding areas. However, in the 12th and 13th centuries the mining activity declined and was revived only in the 20th century (Kuldashev and Abdurahmanov, 2009).



Figure 3. Location map of the study area

The history of the Chadak deposits without exaggeration is the history of the formation of the gold industry in the Republic of Uzbekistan. The discovery of the

Chadaks gold deposit was the reason for carrying out large-scale prospecting and exploration throughout the territory of Uzbekistan.

3.2.2. Site description

Samples were collected from the vicinity of the Chadak ore field which is located in the Pap district of Namangan region (eastern, Uzbekistan), in the north-eastern slopes of the Kurama ridge in Chadak basin (Fig. 3). Chadak ore field includes goldsilver deposits (Pirmirab and Guzaksay) and a number of other occurrences of gold and other exploitable minerals. System of gold-silver veins of the Chadak deposits (low sulphidation type) is hosted by Carboniferous andesite volcanites. Veins are associated with quartz-sericite-pyrite alteration. The main gangue minerals are quartz, calcite, adularia, sericite, wollastonite and tremolite. The main ore minerals are pyrite and hematite, but galena, chalcopyrite and sphalerite are common (Smirnova et al., 2009).

The area is characterized by a relatively developed mining industry, operated since 1970 by the Chadak gold-extracting plant (GEP) with the capacity of 180,000 t/y. The plant treats gold bearing ore from the Pirmirab and Guzaksai deposits. Mining is conducted by an underground and open pit method, and two tailing dumps were settled to storage the waste from the mineral extraction procedures. The first tailing dump which operated from 1970 to 1979 is abandoned (AbT), while the new tailing dump operating from 1979 to the present time is active (AcT). According to Filimonov (2009) the amount of wastes stored in tailing dumps is 3 Mt. The technological scheme includes: three-stage crushing, one-stage grinding in a closed cycle with two-stage ore classification, hydrocyclone overflow thickening; cyanidation of thickened product; filtration of gold bearing solutions; precipitation of precious metals onto zinc dust and drying of zinc precipitates. The waste products, after their sterilization with liquid chlorine, are delivered to the tailing dump.

The nearest railway stations are the cities of Kokand (65 km), Pop (60 km), Namangan (75 km) and Angren (120 km), with which there is an asphalt road. The source of the active labor force of the mining company and Chadak exploration works group are the villages Altynkan, Chadak and Gulistan. The relief is mountainous and is represented by a system of low ridges, sometimes rocky forms, with slopes between 10 - 30°. Elevations range from 1000 m to 1700 m. The main watercourse in the area is Chadak river and its tributaries Kokinsay, Uryuklisay, Dzhulaysay and Pirmirab. Supply of streams occurs at the expense the melting of snow, rain and springs. The closest source of technical water supply is Dzhulaysay, the source of drinking water is Chadak river.



Figure 4. Schematic map of the Chadak village with production facilities

The capacity of the Chadak river is 0.12-0.2 m³/s in the summer-autumn period, and reaches 30 - 62 m³/s in the spring flood (April-May). The climate is continental with

long hot summers and short, but relatively cold winters with little snow. The average annual air temperature is +14°C. The hottest months are July - August with maximum temperatures between +30°C and +42°C. In winter, the lowest recorded temperature ranging from -5°C to -25 °C. The distribution of seasonal rainfall is very uneven: the maximum amount of precipitation falls in the spring, whereas winter and autumn account for about 50% of the total precipitations, while the summer is characterized by dry weather. Snow falls rarely, and it does not cover more than 30 cm in thickness. Total annual precipitation is also highly variable 250 - 460 mm.

Soils in the area are characterized by low organic matter (<1%), a high level of calcium, often associated with gypsum, alkaline pH, and a low agricultural potential. They usually have poor structural characteristics, and often a high level of compaction. Most of the soils have evolved from alluvial, colluvial or aeolian loessic deposits with little weathering of the parent material. They have been intensively studied for their agricultural development potential because of the availability of irrigation water, mainly from the Amu-Darya river (Letolle and Mainguet, 1993). Three main groups of soils may be distinguished among all the soil types recorded in Uzbekistan (Odintsova and Toyniontsova, 1999): i) sandy aeolian soils (located on the adyr on the piedmont of the eastern mountains); ii) grey-brown soils (located on pre-desert and steppe, on the chol and the adyr); iii) solonchak and solonetz soils (mainly located in depressions, and takyr with a high saline water table).

The area is quite poor in relation to vegetation. The extreme arid to semi-arid and continental climate, the abrupt slopes of the rocky valleys, and the low development of soils support a very poor vegetation cover with a very low diversity. In the semi-arid areas, the vegetation cover consists of various shrub-ephemeral plant communities, with xerophytic-dwarf shrub vegetation predominating in the foothill areas (Gintzburger et al., 2003). The dominant species are *Artemisia diffusa*, *Carex pachystylis*, *Poa bulbosa*, annual *Salsola* spp., *Gamanthus gamocarpus* and *Climacoptera lanata* with annual herbaceous species such as *Bromus tectorum*, *Eremopyrum orientale*, *Malcolmia* spp. and others. Woody vegetation is scarce and the most abundant species are related to rare wild rose bush (Genus *Rosa*),









mountain cherry and almond (Genus *Prunus*). is represented by thawed, poplar (Genus *Populus*), hawthorn (Genus *Crataegus*).

Power supply of work facilities is carried out by the power line capacity of 35 kW. Carrying out survey and exploitation works on the fields of the ore area is possible all the year round. Opening in 1953, of the gold deposit Pirmirab intensive exploration works (1953-1962), construction and commissioning of Chadak mining and processing plant, a complex of two mines and a gold mill in 1970 led to a sharp change in the region infrastructure. There was a separate mining district, where the overwhelming majority of the population (2 thousand people) is associated with the exploration, extraction and processing of gold. Such infrastructure is preserved until today.

Production facilities of mining group includes: mines, beneficiation plant, tailing dumps, administrative-domestic premises, as well as villages Oltinkon and Chadak located on the banks of the river Chadaksay (Fig. 4). The river Chadaksay is the only source of water for mining administration, as well as for residents of villages on its banks.

3.2.3. Geological structure of the ore area

Among the set of conditions that determine the state of the soil and the environment as a whole, geochemical factors associated with the geological history of the area and the chemical composition of its constituent rocks and soils, play an important role.

Chadak ore field consists of gold-silver deposits Pirmirab and Guzaksay. It is located on the southern slope of the eastern end of Kurama Mountains, in the middle of the river Chadak, in the Pap district of Namangan region (Mirkamalov et al., 2011). Ore field is located in a part of volcano-plutonic belt, where manifested very intensive late Carboniferous and Permian supersubduction intraplate volcanism in the junction zones of Ugam-Kumbel thrust and North Fergana upthrust. Within the ore field, the following volcanic structures established: Uryukly dome uplift, Chadak near-fault depression, southern edge of the Babaytaudor caldera (Averin, 1969). Major role in the placement of mineralization played faults. On the area of the ore field are distinguished following systems: sublatitudinal – the earliest, poorly expressed on the surface; the north-western, the largest ones, block dividing have a complicated structure, often accompanied by magmatic hydrothermal vein formations, and also submeridional, mainly branch structures of larger faults of the previous system and are characterized by intense hydrothermal processing of the surrounding rocks, accompanied by quartz, quartz-carbonate veins bearing sometimes commercial gold mineralization. In addition, north-east faults were established, which are intersecting dislocations of the previous system (Majidov and Egamberdiyev, 1992).

Geological formation of the ore field belongs to Hercynian structural stage, subdivided into two substages – Middle-Upper Carboniferous and Permian (Fig.5). Middle – Upper Carboniferous stage (Median Tien-Shan volcanic-plutonic belt of active margin C_1 - C_3) presented by sediment of rhyolite-dacite-trachyandesite complex, which is complicated by two subsuites – lower and upper Nadak. Lower Nadak subsuite composed by sandstones, tuffs of acid composition, banded limestones, tuffs and porphyrites of andesite-dacite and dacite composition. Upper Nadak subsuite represented by acid composition tuffs with interbedded sandstone and argillites. Subvolcanic facies of complex – bodies of andesite and trachyandesite composition. Middle Carboniferous intrusive complex consists of granodiorites of Karamazar type and presented by hornblend-biotite granodiorites. Upper Carboniferous Gushsay-Kuyundy intrusive complex is represented by lakkolite shape, flat-lying body granite porphyry and granodiorite porphyries. At the final stage of formation of the complex took place intrusion of quartz porphyry dike bodies. Rocks of the complex build up a significant portion of the area of deposits Pirmirab and Guzaksay. Among them are the main guartz-gold ore bodies of deposits (Averin et al. 1972). Otherwise, Permian structural stage (Chatkal-Kurama areals of interpolate magmatism P) presented by deposits of Shurabsay, Ravash and Kyzylnura complexes and their subvolcanic facies. Mineralization formed in three stages of hydrothermal activity: early hydrothermal of Upper Carboniferous age; skarn-hydrothermal and late hydrothermal of Upper-Permian age. Basic mass of gold and silver is associated with adular-calcite-quartz gold ore phase of



Figure 6. Schematic geological map (adopted from Mirkamalov et al., 2011)

early hydrothermal stage and chlorite-carbonate-quartz (with adular), gold-silver phase of skarn-hydrothermal stage (Averin et al. 1972). By typomorphic features of minerals and their associations in the area of the ore field is revealed vertical zoning. Above and upper-ore horizons characterized by quartz, calcite, chlorite. Metasomatic quartz marks "blind" ore zones (Barkhudarov, 1975). Structural-tectonic and lithological factors significantly predetermined localization of gold mineralization within Chadak ore field (Majidov and Egamberdiyev, 1992).

3.2.3.1. Pirmirab deposit.

In its area (Fig.6) widely spreaded deposits of Nadak and Shurabsay complexes. From the south, deposits of bearing mineralization Nadak complex, with a sharp azimuthal disconformity in the course are overlapped by basal layers of Shurabsay complex. Shurabsay formations are characterized by variable composition.

Intrusive formations presented by granite-porphyries, quartz and felsite porphyries of Karamazar and Kuyindy complexes, and diabase – granophyre complex, represented by quartz syenite porphyries and dikes of acid, subalkaline and basic composition. Diabase porphyries are the most common formations. In the area of Pirmirab deposit are distinguished vein mineralized zones with north-western, close to the meridional trend:

- Eastern mineralized zone presented by bodies of quartz-carbonate and quartzchlorite with pyrite composition;
- Chadakbashy mineralized zone presented by quartz-chlorite with pyrite veins with non-industrial gold content. On the southern flank of the zone the veins thin out rapidly and can be traced to the south under volcanites of Shurabsay complex and some sites are characterized by concentrations of gold;
- Pirmirab vein zone includes the veins, which are concentrated almost all prospected commercial reserves of gold. All the veins are prospected into depth 150-250mm, have a complex morphology, different mineral composition and the uneven distribution of gold;

- Aktash mineralized zone is represented by a series of thick (20m) quartzcarbonate-chlorite with hematite and magnetite veins. The length of the zone is over 900 m (Mirkamalov et al., 2011).

3.2.3.2. Guzaksay deposit.

Deposit Guzaksay (Fig. 6) is composed by volcanic-sedimentary deposits of Nadak and Shurabsay complexes. Major faults are distinguished: the north-north-western, submeridional (Guzaksay, Akbulak-Karakutan, etc.), north-western and northeastern.

Practically all ore bodies are concentrated in the zones of Guzaksay and Akbulak-Karakutan faults. In the southern part of the Guzaksay fault situated Main Zone (vein), which has a meridional trend with the dip to the west at angles of $60-70^{\circ}$. South-western vein has extent 400 m, the industrial part of the vein along strike – 40-50 m, dip- 85-100 m, with gold content from 0,6 to 27,2 g/t.

In the zone of Akbulak-Karakutan fault two main ore-bearing zones were identified, which contain more than 90% of the deposit reserves. In addition, structures that carry commercial gold-silver mineralization – Small Dzhulaysay fault and the southern end of the Levoberezhny fault (South-Eastern site) was also identified. Vein mineralized zones presents bundles and clusters of an echelon like quartz veins, poorly continued by thickness from 0,3 to 6 m, with variable azimuths and dip angles (Mirkamalov et al., 2011).

3.2.4. Field investigations

3.2.4.1. Soil sampling.

Two replicates of soil samples were taken in a systematic-random pattern (grid of 100 x100 m) from the upper soil layer (0-10 cm) around the active (20 samples, Fig. 7) and abandoned (13 samples, Fig. 8) tailing damps. Moreover, 13 soil samples were collected in the vicinity of Guzaksay open pit area (Fig. 9).



Figure 7. Sampling points at the Active tailing dump

3.2.4.2. Sampling of waste and tailings materials.

A set of 5 samples were collected from the waste piles resulted from the exploration of Guzaksay open pit (Fig. 9). Tailing materials from the surface layer of the active (AcT – 12 samples) and abandoned (AbT – 9 samples) tailing dumps (Fig. 7, 8) as well as a vertical profile of 1.5 m depth in the abandoned tailing dump (Fig. 10) was sampled at different depth (A: 0-30, B: 30-80, C: 80-150 cm, 12 samples).

3.2.4.3. Sediment sampling.

Four replicates for each 9 samples were collected along the Chadaksay river (Fig. 11) in order to assess the impact of contamination to the river banks. A distance between sampling points were 200 m for a total of 18 km profile along the river.



Figure 8. Sampling points at the Abandoned tailing dump



Figure 9. Sampling points at the vicinity of Guzaksay open pit



Figure 10. Sampling a vertical profile at the Abandoned tailing dump

3.2.5. Equipments and their application

3.2.5.1. Ion chromatography (DIONEX DX-120)

A Dionex DX-120 Ion Chromatograph equipment was used to perform isocratic ion analysis of extracts using conductivity detection. The DX-120 is an integrated system, which includes a pump, detector, and injection valve. Ion chromatography is used for water chemistry analysis and water extracts coming from soil, sediments or waste materials. Ion chromatographs are able to measure concentrations of major anions, such as fluoride, chloride, nitrate, nitrite, and sulfate, in the parts-per-billion (ppb) range.

3.2.5.2. Atomic absorption spectroscopy (VARIAN SpectrAA220FS)

Atomic absorption spectrometry is an element analysis technique that uses absorption of electromagnetic radiation to detect the presence of the elements of interest. This technique has been applied to the determination of numerous elements and is a major tool in studies involving trace metals in the environment and in



Figure 11. Sampling profile along the Chadaksay river sediments

biological samples. It is also frequently useful in cases where the metal is at a fairly high concentration level in the sample but only a small sample is available for analysis. The SpectrAA 220 optics feature four lamp positions with automated wavelength and slit selection, and high intensity deuterium background correction as standard. Conventional AA systems still determine one element at a time, repeating all samples for each element in turn. SpectrAA-220 FS provides complete results for each sample in minutes.

3.2.5.3. Inductively coupled plasma – mass spectrometry (PE SCIEX ELAN-5000A)

Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) is a powerful tool for analyzing trace metals in environmental samples. A large range of elements can be detected using an ICPMS. The ICP-MS system can quantitatively measure simultaneously a high range of trace elements and give a measurement of the total amount of the specific element of interest. The benefits of using plasma compared to other ionization methods, such as flame ionization, are that ionization occurs in a chemically inert environment, preventing oxide formation, and ionization is more complete. Also, the temperature profile of the torch is relatively uniform, reducing self-absorption effects.

3.2.5.4. X-Ray fluorescence spectrometer (MagiX Pro XRF)

An X-ray fluorescence (XRF) spectrometer is an x-ray instrument used for routine, relatively non-destructive chemical analyses of rocks, minerals, sediments and fluids. It works on wavelength-dispersive spectroscopic principles that are similar to an electron microprobe (EPMA). However, an XRF cannot generally make analyses at the small spot sizes typical of EPMA work (2-5 microns), so it is typically used for bulk analyses of larger fractions of geological materials. The relative ease and low cost of sample preparation, and the stability and ease of use of x-ray spectrometers make this one of the most widely used methods for analysis of major and trace elements in rocks, minerals, soils and sediments.

3.2.5.5. X-ray diffraction (XRD Philips PW-1710)

X-ray diffraction (XRD) is an important tool for determining the intercrystalline structures of minerals and chemical compounds. The method is non-destructive (although in our study samples were grinded) and mineral species can be identified ('fingerprinted') in bulk samples even if only in very small particles. Mineralogical make-up of sediments and sedimentary rocks can also be estimated (for species with concentrations in excess of about 5%). For total mineralogy of the samples, powdered samples were used, and for clay mineralogy, oriented aggregates of this fraction were analysed.

3.2.5.6. Scanning electron microscopy (ZEISS-SUPRA 40VP SEM)

The Zeiss Supra 40VP scanning electron microscope (SEM) provides high resolution surface imaging. It scan a sample with a focused electron beam and deliver images with information about the sample's morphology and composition. It operates in both high vacuum and variable pressure modes with a high resolution. This equipment has a X-ray Dispersive Energy Microanalysis System (EDX) with X-Max large surface detector 50 mm. The analysis can be done on solid materials having a resistance to incident electron beam (< 30 kV).
3.2.5.7. Microwave Accelerated Reaction System (CEM MARS 230/60 Xpress)

The CEM MARS 230/60 Microwave Accelerated Reaction System is designed for laboratory use in digesting, dissolving, hydrolyzing, extracting or drying a wide range of materials. Its primary purpose is the rapid preparation of samples for analysis by atomic absorption (AA) and inductively coupled plasma (ICP) emission spectroscopy and gas or liquid chromatography. Using microwave energy to heat samples, the MARS rapidly heats and elevates pressures, causing the sample to digest or dissolve quickly and efficiently. Samples were grinded before acid digestion.

3.2.6. Chemical and analytical works

3.2.6.1. Preparation of soils, sediments and waste materials for analysis

The main physico-chemical properties of the samples were measured by standard soil-analysis techniques (MAPA, 1994): the pH was measured in a pH-meter (CRISON digit 501) in a 1:2.5 (w:v) soil-water suspension ratio; electrical conductivity (EC) was measured using a EUTECH XS Con 700 meter in extracts prepared by filtering the 1:10 soil:water suspensions through 0.45 µm cellulose acetate membrane filter; organic carbon (OC) was determined by wet oxidation method; cation exchange capacity (CEC) was determined by 1 N sodium acetate solution at pH 8.2 measured by atomic absorption spectroscopy using the VARIAN SpectrAA 220FS instrument; particle size distribution was determined by the pipette method; and calcium carbonate content was determined manometrically upon HCI digestion.

The neutralization potential (NP) of tailing samples were evaluated with the modified Sobek acid-base accounting (ABA) method (Lawrence and Scheske, 1997). The acid potential (AP) and net neutralization potential (NNP) was calculated according to SRK (1989).

3.2.6.2. Measurement of major anions

Major anions such as fluoride, chloride, nitrate, nitrite, phosphate and sulfate were measured with a means of Dionex DX-120 Ion Chromatograph. A calibration curve was prepared with multi-anions standards (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) containing all the analytes of interest at five different levels of concentration. Measurements were performed according to the Method 300.1 (US Environmental Protection

Agency EPA, 1997). The detection limits for undiluted anion samples ranged in all cases from 0.02 to 0.05 ppm (using an IonPac AS9-HC column).

3.2.6.3. Total concentration of trace elements

The total concentration of trace elements (V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Pb, Sb) was measured using X-ray fluorescence (XRF) analysis of the powder pellets (MagiX Pro XRF with rhodium anode X-ray tube). The total concentration of major elements was determined by XRF using glass pellets of subsamples melted with lithium tetraborate fluxer (0.6:5.5). QA/QC criteria were fulfilled by the use of geochemical standard reference materials GSS-2 and GSS-4 (Table 2); the experimental average values ranged within the certified reference values in both cases.

Table 2. Analysi	s of geochemical	standard reference	e materials GS	S-2 (n=4) an	d GSS-4
(n=2) measured	by XRF.				

Element		G	SS-2		GSS-4				
Element	Certified		Experir	Experimental		Certified		Experimental	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	
V	62	2	62.0	1.4	247	6	261.5	0.7	
Cr	47	1.6	44	1.2	370	6	385	1.4	
Co	8.7	0.3	8.5	1.7	22.3	0.6	24.5	2.1	
Ni	19.4	0.5	19.5	0.6	64.2	1.7	68.5	0.7	
Cu	16.3	0.4	14.5	0.6	40.5	0.1	39.5	0.7	
Zn	42.3	1.2	41.0	0.1	210	5	218	1.4	
As	1.37	0.6	1.35	0.7	58	3	63.0	0.1	
Cd	0.07	0.01	bdl*	-	0.35	0.03	0.20	0.10	
Sb	1.3	0.1	bdl*	-	6.3	0.6	6.0	0.1	
Pb	20.2	1.0	20.0	1.4	58.5	2.1	61.0	1.0	

*bdl - below detection limit; S.D. - standard deviation

3.2.6.4. Mineralogical studies

The mineralogy was studied by X-ray diffraction (XRD) in a Philips PW-1710 instrument with CuK radiation, Ni-filter and graphite monochromator. For total mineralogy determination, powder method was used (Azaroff and Buerger, 1958), and for clay mineralogy, oriented aggregates of clay after three specific treatments (heating at 550°C, and solvation with ethylene glycol and dimethyl-sulfoxide) were analysed according to the Moore and Reynolds (1989) method. Interpretation of diagrams was made according to the software XPowder ver.2004.04 (www.xpowder.com).

Selected subsamples were prepared for scanning electron microscopy (SEM Supra 40VP, ZEISS, Germany). The imaging was performed at an acceleration voltage of 30 kV in both conventional secondary electron and backscattered electron mode. For the elemental microanalysis of mineral particles, an energy-dispersive X-ray microanalysis (EDX) spectrometer with X-Max large surface detector 50 mm, was used in pinpoint mode (diameter 1 μ m), resolution of 10 eV/channel, and a full-spectrum collection time of 100s.

3.2.7. Statistical analysis of geochemical data

Geochemical background values of trace elements for the studied area were calculated from surrounding soil samples collected in the vicinity of tailings dumps with statistical methods using mean (Mf) \pm twice the standard deviation () of the calculated distribution function (Matschullat et al., 2000).

Statistical analyses of the data were carried out after testing the fit of the data set to a normal distribution by a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Mean comparison study was made by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test, the significant differences were considered when p<0.05. The relationship between variables was investigated using Varimax-rotation Principal component analysis (PCA). All statistical treatments were made using SPSS v.20.0 software.

3.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.3.1. Total content of major and trace elements and their distribution in the horizontal and vertical profiles

The results of the major elements analysis for waste and sediment samples are given in Table 3. The main component of all samples is SiO₂, ranging from 53.34% to 73.68%, followed by Al_2O_3 (fluctuations from 7.18 to 17.88%), Fe₂O₃ (3.06-8.44%) and CaO (0.88-11.58%).

The values of the total content of elements in the soil allows us to estimate the general contamination in the study area. The total content of all analyzed trace elements are given in Annex-1 and Annex-2. The mean total concentration of most

important trace elements of environmental concern are summarized in Table 4 for soils and tailing dump material, and in Table 5 for Guzaksay open pit and Chasaksay river sediments samples. The results were compared with the calculated background concentration (BC) of the soils in the area, and the intervention values (IV) reported by the Ministry of Environment of the Regional Government in Andalusia (Spain), based on a review of the intervention values in many countries worldwide (Aguilar et al., 1999) and the Dutch Target and Intervention Values (RIVM, 2000).

Sample	SiO₂	Al ₂ O ₃	Fe ₂ O ₃	MnO	MgO	CaO	Na₂O	K₂O	TiO₂	P ₂ O ₅	Zr
											(ppm)
Abandoned tailing dumps											
CTX I-3	64,02	12,96	4,68	0,11	1,39	4,47	1,66	3,83	0,46	0,16	168,1
CTX II-2	60,17	13,24	6,34	0,19	2,03	5,15	1,12	3,65	0,54	0,20	154,5
CTX II-5	59,05	13,75	5,30	0,09	1,97	6,24	1,82	3,44	0,53	0,16	166,3
CTX IV-3	61,93	11,25	7,13	0,23	2,01	6,70	0,44	3,40	0,33	0,16	79,5
				Acti	ve tailin	g dump					
Chd I	62,57	13,23	5,13	0,13	2,01	4,84	1,55	3,83	0,64	0,20	250,8
Chd II	73,68	9,01	4,33	0,12	1,14	3,55	0,70	3,23	0,39	0,17	116,5
Chd III	70,72	8,28	7,09	0,14	1,20	4,27	0,50	2,90	0,33	0,14	96,9
Chd IV	64,40	13,23	3,96	0,10	1,79	2,82	1,85	3,80	0,59	0,25	256,0
Chd V	71,14	8,38	5,53	0,13	0,98	5,29	0,37	2,84	0,33	0,13	92,0
Vertical profile in abandoned tailing dump											
Chd IV-1	60,16	14,34	5,74	0,12	1,85	5,26	1,51	3,68	0,69	0,20	197,2
Chd IV-2	66,28	11,09	5,93	0,10	1,40	4,12	1,32	3,28	0,87	0,17	273,3
Chd IV-3	68,64	10,20	5,23	0,13	1,25	4,29	0,93	3,54	0,62	0,15	196,5
Chd IV-4	68,06	8,19	3,89	0,20	0,87	7,82	0,50	3,44	0,22	0,10	107,4
Chd IV-5	64,71	7,18	3,46	0,26	0,84	11,58	0,34	2,81	0,18	0,08	96,8
Chd IV-6	65,54	8,34	3,06	0,21	1,00	9,63	0,74	3,30	0,21	0,09	119,3
				Chada	ak river	sedimer	nt				
CHDS-0	71.66	13.75	3.17	0.07	0.75	1.64	2.40	4.20	0.31	0.11	119.3
CHDS-3	66,40	14,51	4,26	0,09	1,21	1,63	2,21	4,24	0,51	0,19	219,1
CHDS-5	71,29	13,75	3,57	0,07	0,78	1,54	2,38	4,31	0,34	0,12	143,6
CHDS-8	67,18	13,62	4,01	0,08	0,99	2,01	2,12	4,24	0,54	0,18	257,6
				Guzak	say ope	n pit are	ea				
KP I-1	55,15	17,88	8,44	0,22	2,11	1,65	0,76	4,60	1,01	0,48	144,8
KP II-1	56,25	17,48	8,76	0,23	3,22	1,18	1,42	4,34	0,95	0,33	163,2
KP III-1	61,79	16,09	5,84	0,15	1,77	2,27	1,19	3,85	0,65	0,26	192,4
KP IV-1	53,34	18,85	5,81	0,13	2,39	6,05	0,86	3,35	0,73	0,24	173,1
KP IV-3	58,95	14,89	7,09	0,20	2,14	4,47	0,52	3,92	0,56	0,22	131,7
KP IV-5	60,57	15,57	5,76	0,18	1,46	4,21	0,60	4,42	0,50	0,18	145,9

Table 3. Total concentration of major elements, (%)

Table 4. Total element concentrations in mg/kg^{-1} (mean ± SD; n = 3) in the surface sampling (0–10 cm) at active (AcT) and abandoned (AbT) tailing dumps and in the vertical profile (AbT). Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences (p<0.05); nd: not determined.

Area	Subare a	V	Cr	Co	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Sb	Pb
•	Soil	85.0±12.7 (a)	46.5±2.1 (a)	10.5±2.1 (ab)	25.0±2.8 (ab)	24.5±0.7 (a)	84.0±1.4 (a)	10.5±2.1 (a)	1.3±0.7 (a)	0.0 ±0.0 (a)	36.0±0.0 (a)
ACI	Tailing	62.7±2.5 (abc)	13.6±1.5 (b)	9.0±3.0 (ab)	5.7±1.5 (a)	37.0±9.8 (a)	233.7±98.6 (a)	27.5±5.0 (a)	1.0±1.8 (a)	3.3±0.6 (a)	137.3±68.6 (a)
AbT	Soil (cover)	81.7±4.9 (ab)	30.8±13.5 (ab)	12.2±1.5 (a)	15.0±6.4 (ab)	29.5±9.4 (a)	215.7±109.4 (a)	132.2±71.1 (a)	1.1±1.0 (a)	7.5±5.8 (a)	126.5±123.3 (a)
	A	89.7±14.5 (a)	35.9±13.9 (ab)	11.1±0.3 (a)	26.3±12.1 (b)	23.97±0.1 (a)	207.8±91.6 (a)	1032.6±928.8 (a)	2.4±1.9 (a)	924.0±824.7 (a)	246.3±198.2 (a)
Profile (AbT)	В	47.5±26.2 (bc)	29.3±1.4 (ab)	7.0±1.0 (ab)	16.2±5.4 (ab)	42.4±27.6 (a)	201.9±29.4 (a)	385.3±405.7 (a)	1.5±0.7 (a)	362.1±257.2 (a)	191.5±5.5 (a)
	С	27.6±1.0 (c)	15.3±0.4 (b)	4.7±0.6 (b)	11.8±1.0 (ab)	38.4±3.4 (a)	229.7±38.9 (a)	347.2±144.8 (a)	1.5±0.3 (a)	68.1±18.2 (a)	293.1±103.3 (a)
Back	ground	131	51	19	31	37	135	15	nd	4	48
Interv	. Value*	-	450	300	300	500	1000	50	10	-	500
Interv.	Value**	250	380	240	210	190	720	55	12	15	530

* Intervention value according to the proposal of Aguilar et al. (1999) to the Ministry of Environment of the Board of Andalusia (Spain).

** Dutch Target and Intervention Values (The New Dutch List, 2000).

Table 5. Total element concentrations in mg/kg⁻¹ (mean \pm SD; n = 3) in the soils (0–10 cm) at open pit area and Chadaksay river sediments. Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences (p<0.05); nd: not determined.

Area	V	Cr	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Sb	Cd	Pb
Open pit area soils	126.3±51.1 (a)	26.9±10.0 (a)	19.3±9.5 (a)	15.2±6.0 (a)	52.6±55.4 (a)	101.9±36.9 (a)	32.1±32.1 (a)	1.6±1.7 (a)	0.9±0.7 (a)	41.4±16.9 (a)
River sediments	45.9±10.1 (a)	12.8±4.8 (a)	5.8±2.4 (a)	5.8±2.5 (a)	26.8±7.4 (a)	72.1±14.0 (a)	5.9±1.7 (a)	0.4±0.6 (a)	0.2±0.3 (a)	40.8±8.7 (b)
Background	131	51	19	31	37	135	15	nd	4	48
Interv. Value*	-	450	300	300	500	1000	50	10	-	500
Interv. Value**	250	380	240	210	190	720	55	12	15	530

* Intervention value according to the proposal of Aguilar et al. (1999) to the Ministry of Environment of the Board of Andalusia (Spain).

** Dutch Target and Intervention Values (The New Dutch List, 2000).

The mean concentrations of V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, and Cd in all surface samples (soils and tailings) were in the range of the background concentrations (BC) in the area. On the other hand, Zn, As, Sb, and Pb showed significantly higher mean concentrations (Table 4) both in tailings of AcT (exceeding 1.7-, 1.8-, 0.8-, and 2.8-fold the BC values, respectively), and in the covering soils of AbT (exceeding 1.5-, 8.8-, 1.8-, and 2.6- fold the BC values, respectively).

In the vertical profile of AbT, trace metals V, Cr, Co, and Ni presented significant differences although these values were in the range of BC (Table 4). Layer A had the highest concentrations of these elements, which decreased in the next two layers. On the other hand, concentrations of Cu, Zn, and Cd were slightly above the BC but below the intervention values (IV) and presented no significant differences along the vertical profile. The Pb concentrations in the vertical profile were higher than the BC (between 3.9- and 6.1-fold), but also below the IV. However, the mean values of Zn and Pb revealed an inverse trend in vertical distribution, showing the highest mean concentrations in the deepest C layer. High values of these elements in tailings could be attributed not only to the presence of sulphide and suphosalt minerals (pyrite, sphalerite, arsenopyrite, galena, and tetrahedrite) in ores of the Chadak deposits, but also to the concentration related to the metal-extraction procedure in the mining activity of the Chadak ore field. The two elements with the highest concentrations in all three layers were As and Sb, with mean values strongly exceeding the IV (up to 20-fold for As, and 62-fold for Sb), with the highest concentrations in the surface A layer (1030 and 920 mg/kg, respectively). A comparison of these concentrations with the ecotoxicological threshold levels reported of 55 mg/kg for As (Van den Berg et al., 1993) and 60 mg/kg for Sb (Sheppard et al., 2005) indicate a high risk of pollution in the area. The problem is exacerbated by the fact that these wastes are located upstream of the main population area (Chadak city), which poses a serious potential pollution risk over time.

The mean concentrations of all elements in the Chadaksay river sediments were in the range of the BC of the area (Table 5). Similarly, the mean concentration of trace elements in the Guzaksay open pit soil samples were in the range of the BC except for Cu and As. However, the latter elements are below the IV and not presenting an

immediate risk for the area. The comparison of open pit and river sediments results showed no significant differences with the exception of Pb.

As the total content of some trace elements of environmental concern were higher in the tailings materials and the surface soils samples, exceeding the intervention values used to assess the potential risk of pollution, a detailed physico-chemical study was conducted in this samples.







Figure 12. Granulometric distribution of Chadak mine tailings, %

3.3.2. Grain size distribution

Tailings of enrichment area consisting of a mixture of solid and liquid phases. The solid phase is represented by a mixture of mineral particles of different sizes (from a micron fraction to 3 mm). According to the granulometric distribution, the tailings pond is mainly represented by sandy material, and also contains a large amount of dust particles ($<5 \mu$ m). The results of studying the granulometric composition of the tailings of the Chadak mine are shown in Figure 12. As can be seen from the figure, the sand fractions is predominating with an average content of more than 50% in all samples. The output of the silt fraction is followed by the sand fraction averaging more than 20%. The clay fraction is the least among all, averaging 10%. Thus, the grain size of tailing materials is represented by sandy-loam texture.

3.3.3. Physio-chemical properties of soil and tailings

The general physico-chemical properties of soils and tailing samples are summarized in Table 6, and the properties of the vertical profile collected on AbT in Table 7. The pH values of soil samples collected in the vicinity of AcT and soils covering AbT showed mean values of 8.2 and 8.4, respectively. The moderately alkaline conditions are presumably related to the presence of carbonate minerals calcite, ankerite, and dolomite (lavazzo et al. 2012), and can be also related to the arid climate in the study area. In any case, calcium carbonate content in soil and tailings was moderately low (mean values < 15%), with minimum concentrations in tailings ranging from 2.9 to 4.2%.

The analysis of the soluble salts by ion chromatograpy was made in the abandoned tailing dump from the water-soluble extract of the samples. Tailings presented a very high concentration in sulfates (224.3 \pm 150.2 mg/kg), with lower amounts of chlorides (9.1 \pm 1.4 mg/kg) and nitrates (8.1 \pm 6.8 mg/kg); while soil covering the abandoned tailing dumps presented a lower concentration of sulfates (44.9 \pm 26.9 mg/kg) in relation to the tailings, low concentration of chlorides (14.4 \pm 3.0 mg/kg) and very low of nitrates (2.6 \pm 0.9 mg/kg). The high deviation of the data did not indicate significant differences between both type of samples.

Soil samples from both areas showed very low EC values (SSDS, 1993), very low

CEC (Marañés, 1998), sparse OC content, and a sandy-loam texture, with no significant differences between active and abandoned tailing dumps. Tailings at AcT, registered similar values to soil samples for pH, EC, and OC, but significant lower values for CEC and clay content (Table 6), indicating a selection in the particle size towards the sand fraction and concomitant reduction in clay content that is directly related to the reduction in the CEC (Jung, 2008).

The comparison between tailings from vertical profile in AbT and active tailing dump (AcT) showed similar properties, with no significant differences in any of the main variables studied except CaCO₃, which showed significantly lower values from the A to C layers (Table 7).

3.3.4. Acid potential (AP) and Neutralization potential (NP) of the tailings

The presence of S was also detected in tailing samples, with values ranging from 1.70 to 0.45%. Therefore, the tailings possess a neutralization potential (NP) which can be balanced with the acid potential (AP) assessed for a worst case from the total S content (neglecting the minor sulphate mineral content as a product of previous oxidation). The acid-base accounting (ABA) of tailings and concentrates are shown in Table 8, where results related to AP, NP and net neutralization potential (NNP) are presented. The acid potential (AP) of tailings from AbT is 20.3 kg CaCO3/t, while for tailings from AcT is 53.1 kg CaCO3/t; meanwhile the mean neutralization potential (NP) of the tailings amount to 15.5 and 11.1 kg CaCO3/t, in AbT and AcT dumps, respectively. This indicates that both tailings have similar neutralization potential, but AcT has higher acid potential than AbT.

Thus, according to the criteria defined by SRK (1989: NNP <-20 kg CaCO3/t), the net neutralization potential (NNP = NP-AP) indicates that the active tailing dump is potentially acid generating (NNP = -42.0 kg/t), while the abandoned tailing dump is not (NNP = -4.8). In this sense, there is a risk of contamination related to the potential acidification of the tailings from AcT. The acidification by sulphide oxidation in presence of carbonate was previously reported in soils from other semi-arid areas (García et al., 2009; Sánchez-Marañón et al., 2015), where soils with similar range in CaCO3 (3.2 - 7.6%) and high amount of S (0.2 - 0.8%) showed a sharp decrease in pH (from 7.4 to 3.1) after 10 years of continuous oxidation under natural conditions.

Table 6. Mean and standard deviations (n=3) of general physicochemical properties of surface samples (0-10 cm) in the active (AcT) and abandoned (AbT) tailing dumps. Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences between samples (p < 0.05). EC: electrical conductivity; CEC: cation-exchange capacity; OC: organic carbon.

A .roo	Cultures		EC	CEC	CaCO ₃	oc	Clay	Silt	Sand
Area	Subarea	рн	(dS/m)	(cmol/kg)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
AcT -	Soil	8.2±0.2 (a)	0.17±0.04 (a)	10.4±2.7 (a)	4.8±2.6 (a)	1.1±0.9 (a)	12.0±1.6 (ab)	33.4±0.3 (a)	53.1±0.8 (a)
	Tailing	8.3±0.1 (a)	0.53±0.05 (a)	2.6±1.0 (b)	5.4±1.7 (a)	0.8±0.2 (a)	5.8±0.6 (b)	22.9±5.8 (a)	71.3±6.4 (a)
AbT	Soil (cover)	8.4±0.2 (a)	0.30±0.44 (a)	7.9±2.3 (ab)	10±1.4 (ab)	0.7±0.3 (a)	13.8±2.9 (a)	35.9±30.2 (a)	50.3±28.6 (a)

Table 7. Mean and standard deviations (n=3) of general physicochemical properties of samples collected from vertical profile in the abandoned tailing dump (AbT). Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences between layers (p<0.05). EC: electrical conductivity; CEC: cation-exchange capacity; OC: organic carbon.

A	Drofilo	лЦ	EC CEC		CEC CaCO ₃		Clay	Silt	Sand	
Area	Profile	рп	(dS/m)	(cmol/kg)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	
	A	8.1±0.3 (a)	0.52±0.57 (a)	6.1±1.6 (a)	6.0±2.5 (a)	0.4±0.1 (a)	10.2±2.5 (a)	25.7±3.3 (a)	64.0±0.8 (a)	
AbT	В	8.2±0.1 (a)	0.68±0.39 (a)	4.9±0.1 (a)	8.2±3.2 (ab)	0.2±0.1 (a)	9.2±1.2 (a)	31.6±4.1 (a)	59.3±5.3 (a)	
	С	8.6±0.1 (a)	0.29±0.17 (a)	3.7±0.3 (a)	14.4±0.6 (b)	0.1±0.05 (a)	8.3±1.1 (a)	38.8±4.7 (a)	52.8±5.8 (a)	

	AP	NP	NNP
		(kg CaCO ₃ /t)	
Tailings at AcT	53.1	11.1	-42.0
Tailings at AbT	20.3	15.5	-4.8

Table 8. Acid potential (AP), neutralization potential (NP) and net neutralization potential (NNP) in the tailings from active (AcT) and abandoned (AbT) tailing dumps.

NNP <0 indicate potential acid generation

3.3.5. Mineral composition of tailing dumps

The source of the materials of the tailing dump are the ores of the Pirmirab and Gusaksay deposits, as well as the imported ore from the Karakutan, Zarmitan, Kauldy, Yambek, Chakmaktash, Kochbulak and other deposits. The ore passed the stage of crushing and extraction of ore components at the Chadak gold extraction factory, and the underextracted material has been deposited into the tailings. These materials can contain significant amount of sulfide minerals which may oxidize and produce metal and acid contamination (Dold et al., 2009).

Below there is a list of primary and secondary minerals of the Chadak ore field (Table 9) according to Moiseeva (1969), that can provide a list of potentially pollutant elements when they were released to the soils and water after acidification processes occur.

Name of minerals	Formula	Frequency of occurence
	Native	
Silver	Ag	+++
Kustelite	(Ag, Au)	+++
Electrum	(AuAg)	++++
Gold	Au	+
Copper	Cu	+
Bismuth	Bi	+
Iron	Fe	+

Table 9. List of minerals of the Chadak ore field

Hessite Ag ₂ Te + Attaite PbTe + Aleksite** PbBi2Te,S2 + Sulfides and sulfosalts * Mckinstryite Ag ₂ ,Cu _{2x} ,S ₂ ++ Chalcocite Cu ₂ S ++ Bornite Cu ₂ FeS ₄ ++ Chalcocite Cu ₂ S +++ Bornite Cu ₂ FeS ₄ ++ Chalcocite Cu ₂ S +++ Bornite Cu ₂ FeS ₄ ++ Chalcocite Cu ₂ S +++ Bornite Cu ₂ FeS ₄ +++ Pyrinotite FeS ₂ ++++ Marcasite FeS ₂ +++ Ascopyrite FeAsS ++ Galena PbS ++++ Galeite Pb ₂ D ₁₂ S ₃ ++ Galdite PbCuBi ₁₅ S ₂ ++ Gladite PbCuBi ₁₅ S ₂ S ₁₃ ++ Pekoite Pb ₁₂ D ₂ S ₁₂ S ₁₃ ++ Pekoite (Cu ₂ Fe) ₁₂ D ₂ S ₂ S ₁₄ +	Tellurides, sulphotellurides											
Altaite PbTe + Aleksite** PbBi/aTe/20 + Sufficies and sulfosalts * Mckinstryite Ag2, Cu3, S4 ++ Chalcocite Cu2, S ++ Bornite Cu2, FeS, +++ Chalcocite Cu2, FeS, +++ Sphalerite ZnS +++ Sphalerite FeS, +++ Marcasite FeS, +++ Marcasite FeS, +++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Galena PbS ++++ Cosalite Pb2,Bi,S5, + Bismuthinite Bi ₂ S3 + Pekote PbCuBi, (S,Se), a + Ferahedrite (Cu,Fe), 2Sh,S13 ++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu), 6Sb,Sn + Opal SiO ₂ ++++ Opal SiO ₂ , H ₂ ++ Opal SiO ₂ , H ₂ ++ Opal <th>Hessite</th> <th>Ag₂Te</th> <th>+</th>	Hessite	Ag ₂ Te	+									
Aleksite** PbBigTe ₂ S ₂ + Sulfides and sulfosalts Mckinstryite $Ag_c.Cu_{s.vS_4}$ ++ Chalcocite Cu_sS_5 ++ Chalcocite Cu_sFeS_s +++ Bornite Cu_FeS_s +++ Sphalerite ZnS ++++ Sphalerite ZnS ++++ Marcasite FeS_s ++++ Marcasite FeS_s +++ Marcasite FeS_s +++ Arsenopyrite $FeAsS$ + Molibdenite MoS_2 ++ Galena PbS ++++ Cosalite Pb2BisS_s ++ Bismuthinite BisS_3 ++ Petote PbCUBis(5.Se) + Gladite PbCUBisS_s ++ Petote PetousSisS ++ Petraeteite [(Ag_CU)_isSh_Sh_S] ++ Petotes + Polybasite (Ag_2SbS_3 ++ + Petotes + Oxides and Hydroxides ++ + + Quartz	Altaite	PbTe	+									
Sulfides and sulfosaltsMckinstryite Ag_s, Cu_{y_1}, S_4 ++Chalcocite Cu_2S ++Bornite Cu_FeS_3 +++Chalcopyrite $CUFeS_2$ +++Sphalerite ZnS +++Sphalerite ZnS +++Mcrasite FeS_2 +++Marcasite FeS_2 ++++Marcasite FeS_2 +++Arsenopyrite $FeAsS$ +Arsenopyrite $FeAsS$ +Arsenopyrite PbS ++++Cosalite $Pb_2Bi_2S_3$ +Bismuthinite Bl_2S_3 +Bismuthinite $PbCUBi_1(S, Se)_{16}$ +Pekoite $PbCUBi_1(S, Se)_{16}$ +Tennanitie $(Cu_Fe)_{1/2}Sa_{513}$ +Ternanitie $(Cu_Fe)_{1/2}Sa_{513}$ +Polybasite $(Ag_2Cu)_6A_SSb_7Sr)[Ag_2CuS_4]$ +Polybasite $(Ag_2Cu)_6A_SSb_7Sr)[Ag_2CuS_4]$ +Poraceite $[(Ag,Cu)_6(A_S,Sb_7Sr)[Ag_2CuS_4]$ +Poraceite $[(Ag,Cu)_6(A_S,Sb_7Sr)](Ag_2CuS_4]$ +Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ ++++Mentite Fe_2O_4 ++++Mentite Fe_2O_4 ++++Anderive SiO_2+H_2 +++Hermatite $FeFe_2O_4$ ++++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ ++++Anderive $Ang(CO_3)_2$ +++Ankerite T_2_2 +++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ ++++CarbonatesCarbonates-+++<	Aleksite**	PbBi ₂ Te ₂ S ₂	+									
Mckinstryite $Ag_{6,x}Cu_{3,x}S_4$ ++Chalcocite Cu_xS +++Chalcocite Cu_xFeS_3 +++Chalcopyrite $CuFeS_2$ +++Sphalerite ZnS ++++Sphalerite FeS_2 ++++Marcasite FeS_2 +++Marcasite FeS_2 +++Marcasite FeS_2 +++Moliodenite MoS_2 +Arsenopyrite $FeAsS$ +Moliodenite MoS_2 +Galena PbS ++++Cosalite $PbCBi_2S_2$ +Bismuthinite Bi_2S_3 +Pekoite $PbCUBi_1(S, Se)_{18}$ ++Gladite $PbCUBi_1(S, Se)_{18}$ ++Petotite $PbCUBi_2S_3$ ++Polybasite $(Ag_1Cu)_1Sb_2S_13$ ++Polybasite $(Ag_1Cu)_1Sb_2S_13$ ++Polybasite $(Ag_1Cu)_1Sb_2S_13$ ++Polybasite $(Ag_1Cu)_1Sb_2S_1Ag_2CuS_4]$ +Pyrargyrite Ag_2Sb_2 ++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++Magnetite Fe_2O_4 ++++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ ++++CarbonatesCarbonatesCarbonatesCalcite $CaCO_5$ +++++Moliocrocite $FloO_3$ +++Ankerite Fl_2 +++Marketovite $FeFe_2O_3$ ++++Marketovite $FeFe_2O_3$ ++++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_3$ ++++Marketovite $FeFe_2O_3$ <	Sulfides and sulfosalts											
ChalcociteCu ₂ S++BorniteCu ₇ ES ₂ +++BorniteCu ⁷ ES ₂ +++SphaleriteZnS+++PyriteFeS ₂ +++MarcasiteFeS ₂ +++PyriteFeS ₂ +++ArsenopyriteFeASS+ArsenopyriteFeASS+ArsenopyriteFeASS+CosalitePb2Bi2S ₅ +BismuthiniteBi ₂ S ₃ +CosalitePbCuBir ₁ (S.Se) ₁₈ +CosalitePbCuBis ₂₅ +EismuthiniteC(u,Fe) ₁₂ SaS ₁₃ +PekoitePbCuBis ₂₅ +Ternantite(Cu,Fe) ₁₂ SaS ₁₃ +Polybasite(Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb ₂₅ Sn+Parcetie[(Ag,Cu) ₄ (As,St) ₂₅ /](AgsCuS ₄]+PyrargyriteAg2SS+Oxides and HydrooxidesUQuartzSiO ₂ ++++MushketoviteFeFe ₂ O ₄ +++MushketoviteFeFe ₂ O ₄ +++HematiteFeFe ₂ O ₄ +++MushketoviteFeFe ₂ O ₄ +++CarbonatesCarbonatesCarbonatesCalciteCaCO ₃ +++SulfatesPbCO ₃ +++AnkeriteF [3] ₂ +++AnkeriteF	Mckinstryite	Ag _{5-x} Cu _{3+x} S ₄	++									
Bornite Cu ₈ FeS ₄ ++ Chalcopyrite CuFeS ₂ +++ Chalcopyrite ZnS ++++ Pyrite FeS ₂ ++++ Marcasite FeS ₂ ++++ Marcasite FeS ₂ ++++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS ++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Molibdenite MoS ₂ + Galena PbS ++++ Cosalite PbcDuBit(S.Se) ₁₈ + Gladite PbCuBit(S.Se) ₁₈ + Cosalite PbCUBit(S.Se) ₁₈ + Gladite PbCUBit(S.Se) ₁₈ + Tennantite (Cu,Fe) ₁₂ Sh ₂ S ₁₃ + Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sh ₂ S ₁₃ + Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sh ₂ S ₁₃ + Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₄ (As,Sh) ₂ S/][Ag ₃ CuSd] + Quartz SiO ₂ +++++ Opal SiO ₂ +H ₂ + Mushetovite Fe ₂ O ₄ ++++ Mush	Chalcocite	Cu ₂ S	++									
$\begin{array}{rcl} Chalcopyrite & CuFeS_2 & +++ \\ Sphalerite & ZnS & +++ \\ Sphalerite & ZnS & +++ \\ Pyrite & FeS_2 & +++ \\ Marcasite & FeS_2 & ++ \\ Marcasite & FeS_2 & ++ \\ Arsenopyrite & FeAsS & + \\ Moliodenite & MoS_2 & + \\ Galena & PbS & +++ \\ Galena & PbS & +++ \\ Bismuthinite & BisS_5 & + \\ Bismuthinite & BisS_5 & + \\ Pekoite & PbCuBisS_6 & + \\ enter & PbCuBisS_6 & + \\ enter & PbCuBisS_6 & + \\ Tennantite & (Cu,Fe)_{12}SasS_{13} & + \\ Ternantite & (Cu,Fe)_{12}SasS_{13} & + \\ Ternantite & (Cu,Fe)_{12}SasS_{13} & + \\ Polybasite & (Ag,Cu)_{16}Sb_SD & +++ \\ Pearceite & [(Ag,Cu)_{6}(As,Sb)_{7}Sr)[Ag_{5}CuS_{4}] & + \\ Pyrargyrite & Ag_{5}SS_3 & + \\ \hline \hline \hline \\ Oxides and Hydrooxides & \\ Ouartz & SiO_2 & ++++ \\ Magnetite & Fe_2O_3 & ++++ \\ Magnetite & Fe_5O_4 & +++ \\ Mushketovite & FeFe_5O_4 & +++ \\ Mushketovite & FeFe_5O_4 & +++ \\ Rutile & TiO_2 & +++ \\ Rutile & TiO_2 & +++ \\ Cassiterite & SnO_2 & + \\ Fluorite & CaF_2 & +++ \\ Smithsonite & CaGO_3 & + \\ Calcite & CaCO_3 & ++ \\ Ankerite & F []_2 & +++ \\ Smithsonite & CaF_2 & +++ \\ Smithsonite & CaGO_3 & ++ \\ Azurite & Cu2(CO)_3[OH]_2 & +++ \\ Malachite & F []_2 & +++ \\ Mathetite & F []_2 & +++ \\ Mathetite & F []_3 & +++ \\ Ankerite & F []_3 & +++ \\ Ankerit$	Bornite	Cu₅FeS₄	++									
Sphalerite ZnS +++ Pyrite FeS2 +++ Pyrrhoite FeS2 +++ Pyrrhoite FeS2 +++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Molibdenite MoS2 + Galena PbS +++ Galena PbS3 +++ Goalite PbCuBirs5 ++ Bismuthinite BisS3 + Pekoite PbCuBirs5 ++ Gladite PbCuBirs5 + Ternantite (Cu, Fe)r2Sb4S13 ++ Petroseite [(Ag, Cu)r6As S13 ++ Pyrargyrite Ag2Sb3 + Petroseite [(Ag, Cu)r6As, Sb)r57][Ag3CuS4] + Pyrargyrite Ag2Sb3 + Opal SiO2+H2 ++++ Mushetovite FeFe2O4 +++++ Mushketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Mushketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Mushketovite FeGe(OH) ++++	Chalcopyrite	CuFeS ₂	+++									
Pyrite FeS2 +++ Marcasite FeS2 +++ Marcasite FeS2 +++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS ++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Molibdenite MoS2 + Galena PbS ++++ Galena PbS3 +++ Cosalite PbzBizS3 + Bismuthinite BisS3 + Pekoite PbCuBir(S,Se):8 + Cosalite CQLFe):284S13 + Ternantite (Cu,Fe):284S13 + Ternantite (Ag,Cu):6852Sn +++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu):6852Sn +++ Pyrayrite Ag26S3 + Oyaftz SiO2 ++++ Pyrayrite Ag26S3 + Opal SiO2+H2 + Hematite Fe20,4 +++ Mushketovite Fe620,4 ++++ Mushketovite Fe620,4 ++++ Qoethite <td>Sphalerite</td> <td>ZnS</td> <td>+++</td>	Sphalerite	ZnS	+++									
Marcasite FeS_2 ++Pyrhotite FeA_3S ++Arsenopyrite FeA_3S +Molibdenite MoS_2 +Galena PbS ++++Casalite $Pb_{Bi}S_5$ +Bismuthinite Bi_2S_3 +Pekoite $PbCuBi_1(S,Se)_{16}$ +Cladite $PbCuBi_1(S,Se)_{16}$ +Cladite $PbCuBi_1(S,Se)_{16}$ +Cladite $PbCuBi_1(S,Se)_{16}$ +Pekoite $(Cu,Fe)_{12}Sa_5a_3$ +Ternantite $(Cu,Fe)_{12}Sa_5a_3$ +Polybasite $(Ag,Cu)_{16}Sb_2S_1[Ag_4CuS_4]$ +Polybasite $(Ag,Cu)_{16}Sb_2S_1[Ag_4CuS_4]$ +Pearceite $[(Ag,Cu)_{16}Sa_5b_2S_1]Ag_4CuS_4]$ +Ouartz SiO_2 ++++Magnetite Fe_2O_3 ++++Hematite FeE_2O_4 +++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++Mushketovite TO_2 +++Catcite $CaCO_3$ +++Catcite $CaCO_3$ +++Claite $CaCO_3$ +++Makerite $F [_3]_2$ +++Ankerite $F [_3]_2$ +++Ankerite $F [_3]_2$ +++Ankerite $PbCO_3$ ++Ankerite $Cu[CO_3]_2(DH]_2$ ++Malachite $Cu(2O_3)_2(DH]_2$ ++Ankerite $F [_3]_2$ +++Ankerite $F [_3]_2$ +++Ankerite $PbCO_3$ <	Pyrite	FeS ₂	+++									
Pyrrhotite $Fe_{1:x3}S$ ++ Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Molibdenite MoS2 + Galena PbS ++++ Galena PbS +++ Bismuthinite Bis2Sa + Bismuthinite PbCuBis5s ++ Fennantite (Cu,Fe) ₁₂ Sb_2Sn_3 ++ Ternantite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb_2Sn ++ Pyrargyrite Ag,SbS_3 + Pyrargyrite Ag,SbS_3 + Oxides and Hydrooxides - +++ Quartz SiO2 ++++ Magnetite Fe2O3 +++++ Magnetite Fe2O3 +++++ Mushketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Quoits	Marcasite	FeS ₂	++									
Arsenopyrite FeAsS + Molibdenite MoS2 + Galena PbS ++++ Cosalite Pb2Bi2Ss + Bismuthinite BizS3 + Pekoite PbCuBi:f(S,Se)r ₁₈ + Cosalite PbCuBi:Ss + Cosalite PbCuBi:Ss + Cosalite PbCuBi:Ss + Cosalite C(L,Fe)r_2SuS13 + Tetrahedrite (Cu,Fe)r_2SuS13 ++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu)r_6Sb2Sn ++ Pyrargyrite AgSbS3 + Oxides and Hydrooxides + + Quartz SiO2 ++++ Opal SiO2+H2 + Hematite Fe2O3 ++++ Mushketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Mushketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Mushketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Castierite SnO2 ++ Fluorite CaCO3 ++++ <tr< td=""><td>Pyrrhotite</td><td>Fe_(1-x)S</td><td>++</td></tr<>	Pyrrhotite	Fe _(1-x) S	++									
Molibdenite MoS2 + Galena PbS ++++ Galena PbS ++++ Cosalite PbBisS5 + Bismuthinite BizS3 + Pekoite PbCuBirs(S,Se)n8 + Cladite PbCuBirs(S,Se)n8 + Cladite PbCuBirs(S,Se)n8 + Cladite (Cu,Fe)r2Sbr33 ++ Tetrahedrite (Cu,Fe)r2Sbr33 ++ Polybasite (Ag.Cu)r6Sbr2Sn ++ Petroceire [(Ag.Cu)r6As.Sbr2sy]Ag.gcuS4] + Pyrargyrite Ag.SbS3 + Oyal SiO2 +++++ Opal SiO2rH12 + Hematite Fee_Q3 ++++ Magnetite Fee_Q3 +++++ Musketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Musketovite FeFe2O4 ++++ Qoethite -FeQ(OH) +++ Lepidocrocite -FeQ(OH) +++ Pyrolusite n2 ++ <td>Arsenopyrite</td> <td>FeAsS</td> <td>+</td>	Arsenopyrite	FeAsS	+									
Galena PbS +++ Cosalite PbBi2S ₅ + Bismuthinite Bi2S ₃ + Pekoite PbCuBi ₁ (S,Se) ₁₆ + Gladite PbCuBi ₁ (S,Se) ₁₆ + Cladite PbCuBi ₁ (S,Se) ₁₃ ++ Tennantite (Cu,Fe) ₁₂ As ₄ S ₁₃ ++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb ₂ Sn +++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb ₂ Sn +++ Pyrargyrite Ag ₂ Sb ₃ + Oxides and Hydrooxides + + Quartz SiO ₂ +++++ Opal SiO ₂ +H ₂ + Hematite Fe ₂ O ₃ +++++ Mushketovite Fe ₇ O ₂ A ++++ Mushketovite Fe ₇ O ₂ A ++++ Goethite -FeO(OH) ++++ Quartz SiO ₂ +++ Mushketovite Fe ₇ O ₂ A ++++ Mushketovite Fe ₇ O ₂ A ++++ Goethite -FeO(OH) ++++ Py	Molibdenite	MoS ₂	+									
$\begin{array}{cccc} Cosalite & Pb_2Bi_2S_5 & + \\ Bismuthinite & Bi_2S_3 & + \\ Pekoite & PbCuBi_1(S,Se)_{18} & + \\ Gladite & PbCuBi_1(S,Se)_{18} & + \\ \hline \\ Gladite & PbCuBi_2S_9 & + \\ \hline \\ Ternantite & (Cu,Fe)_{12}B_4S_{13} & + \\ \hline \\ Tetrahedrite & (Cu,Fe)_{12}B_4S_{13} & + \\ \hline \\ \\ Polybasite & (A_G,Cu)_{16}Sb_2S_n & + \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline \\ \hline \\ \\ \hline $	Galena	PbS	+++									
Bismuthinite Bi_2S_3 + Pekoite PbCuBi ₁₁ (S,Se) ₁₈ + Gladite PbCuBi ₂ S ₃ + Gladite PbCuBi ₂ S ₃ + Tennanitie (Cu,Fe) ₁₂ Sb ₄ S ₁₃ + Petrahedrite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb ₂ Sn ++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb ₂ Sn ++ Pearceite [(Ag,Cu) ₆ (As,Sb) ₂ Sr][Ag ₉ CuS ₄] + Pyrargyrite Ag ₂ Sb ₃ + Quartz SiO ₂ +++++ Opal SiO ₂ +H ₂ + Hematite Fe ₂ O ₃ +++++ Magnetite Fe ₉ O ₄ +++ Mushketovite FeFe ₂ O ₄ +++ Mushketovite FeFe ₂ O ₄ +++ Quartz FeO(OH) +++ Rutile TiO ₂ +++ Gethite n 2 +++ Rutile TiO ₂ +++ Rutile TiO ₂ +++ Calcite Ca ² CO ₃ +++ Dolomite <td>Cosalite</td> <td>$Pb_2Bi_2S_5$</td> <td>+</td>	Cosalite	$Pb_2Bi_2S_5$	+									
Pekoite PbCuBi ₁₁ (S,Se) ₁₈ + Gladite PbCuBi ₁ S ₉ + Tennantite (Cu,Fe) ₁₂ As ₄ S ₁₃ + Tetrahedrite (Cu,Fe) ₁₂ Sb ₄ S ₁₃ ++ Polybasite (Ag,Cu) ₁₆ Sb ₂ Sn ++ Pyracyprite Ag ₂ Sb ₅ + Pyrargyrite Ag ₂ Sb ₅ + Quartz SiO ₂ +++++ Opal SiO ₂ +H ₂ + Hematite Fe ₂ O ₃ ++++ Magnetite Fe ₂ O ₄ +++ Mushketovite FeFe ₂ O ₄ +++ Mushketovite FeFe ₂ O ₄ +++ Lepidocrocite -FeO(OH) +++ Vortile No ++ Casiterite SnO ₂ ++ Rutile TO ₂ +++ Active SnO ₂ ++ Pyrolusite n 2 +++ Casiterite SnO ₂ ++ Fluorite CafCo ₃ ++++ Active F[]2 <td>Bismuthinite</td> <td>Bi₂S₃</td> <td>+</td>	Bismuthinite	Bi ₂ S ₃	+									
Gladite PbCuBisS ₉ + Tennantite $(Cu,Fe)_{12}Sa_{5}S_{13}$ + Tetrahedrite $(Cu,Fe)_{12}Sa_{5}S_{13}$ ++ Polybasite $(Ag_{0},Cu)_{16}Sb_{2}Sn$ ++ Pearceite $[(Ag,Cu)_{16}Sb_{2}Sn$ + Pyrargyrite Ag_SbS ₃ + Ouartz $Ag_{2}Sb_{3}$ + Opal $SiO_{2}+H_{2}$ + Hematite $Fe_{2}O_{3}$ +++++ Magnetite $Fe_{2}O_{4}$ +++ Magnetite $Fe_{2}O_{4}$ +++ Goethite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Goethite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Lepidocrocite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Quartz SinO_2 ++ Cassiterite SinO_2 ++ Pyrolusite n_2 +++ Cassiterite SinO_2 ++ Fluorite CafCa +++ Cassiterite PhCO_3 +++ Ankerite F []2 +++	Pekoite	PbCuBi ₁₁ (S,Se) ₁₈	+									
Tennantite $(Cu, Fe)_{12}As_1S_{13}$ + Tetrahedrite $(Cu, Fe)_{12}Sb_1S_{13}$ ++ Polybasite $(Ag, Cu)_{16}Sb_2Sn$ ++ Pyrargyrite $Ag, Sb_2S_1][Ag_9CuS_4]$ + Pyrargyrite Ag, Sb_3 + Quartz SiO ₂ +++++ Opal SiO ₂ +H ₂ + Hematite Fe ₂ O ₃ +++++ Magnetite Fe ₂ O ₄ +++ Mushketovite FeFe ₂ O ₄ +++ Goethite -FeO(OH) +++ Lepidocrocite n 2 +++ Rutile TO ₂ +++ Calcite Carbonates ++ Calcite CaCO ₃ ++++ Dolomite CaCaO ₃ +++ Ankerite F [3] ₂ +++ Ankerite PbCO ₃ ++ Ankerite Cu ₄ [CO ₃] ₂ (OH] ₂ ++ Malachite Cu ₂ [CO ₃] ₂ (OH] ₂ ++ Malachite Cu ₂ [CO ₃] ₂ (OH] ₂ ++ <td>Gladite</td> <td>PbCuBi₅S₀</td> <td>+</td>	Gladite	PbCuBi₅S₀	+									
Tetrahedrite $(Cu, Fe)_{12}Sb_4S_{13}$ ++ Polybasite $(Ag, Cu)_{16}Sb_2Sn$ ++ Pearceite $[(Ag, Cu)_{16}Sb_2Sn][Ag_3CuS_4]$ + Pyrargyrite Ag_2Sb_3 + Oxides and Hydrooxides + Quartz SiO2 +++++ Opal SiO2+H2 + Hematite Fe2O3 +++++ Magnetite Fe3O4 +++ Magnetite Fe6(OH) +++ Goethite -FeO(OH) +++ Lepidocrocite n 2 +++ Pyrolusite n 2 ++ Rutile TiO2 ++ Carbonates - - Calcite CaCO3 ++++ Dolomite CaMg[CO3]2 +++ Ankerite F [3]2 ++++ Smithsonite ZnCO3 +++ Ankerite F [3]2 +++ Malachite Cut[CO3]2(OH]2 ++ Ankerite F [3]2 +	Tennantite	(Cu,Fe) ₁₂ As ₄ S ₁₃	+									
Polybasite $(Ag,Cu)_{16}Sb_2Sn$ ++ Pearceite $[(Ag,Cu)_{6}(As,Sb)_2Sr][Ag_{3}CuS_{4}]$ + Pyrargyrite Ag_2SbS_3 + Oxides and Hydrooxides Quartz SiO_2 ++++ Opal SiO_2+H_2 + Hematite Fe_2O_3 ++++ Magnetite Fe_3O_4 +++ Magnetite $Fe_{2}O_3$ ++++ Magnetite Fe_2O_3 ++++ Magnetite Fe_2O_4 +++ Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++ Goethite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Lepidocrocite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Rutile TiO2 ++ Rutile TiO2 ++ Calcite CaCO_3 ++ Calcite Carbonates - Calcite CarO_3 ++ Dolomite CalMg[CO_3]_2 +++ Ankerite F [3]_2 ++++ Malachite Cua[CO_3](OH]_2	Tetrahedrite	(Cu,Fe) ₁₂ Sb ₄ S ₁₃	++									
Pearceite $[(Ag,Cu)_{6}(As,Sb)_{2}Sr)[Ag_{9}CuS_{4}]$ +PyrargyriteAg_SbS_{3}+Oxides and HydrooxidesQuartzSiO_2++++OpalSiO_2H_2+HematiteFe2O_3++++MagnetiteFe3O_4+++MushketoviteFeFe2O_4++++Goethite-FeO(OH)+++Lepidocrociten 2+++RutileTiO2++RutileTiO2++FluoriteCaF2++CalciteCaCO_3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO_3]2++AnkeriteF [3]2+++AnkeritePbCO_3++AnkeriteCu_2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteCu_2[CO]3[OH]2++AnglesiteBaSO_4++JarositeKFe3[SO_4[OH]6++AnglesitePbSO_4++AnglesitePbSO_4++	Polybasite	(Ag,Cu)₁6Sb₂Sn	++									
Pyrargyrite Ag_2SbS_3 +Oxides and HydrooxidesQuartz SiO_2 ++++Opal SiO_2+H_2 +Hematite Fe_2O_3 ++++Magnetite Fe_3O_4 +++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ ++++Goethite $-FeO(OH)$ +++Lepidocrocite $-FeO(OH)$ +++Pyrolusite n_2 +++Rutile TiO_2 ++Rutile SiO_2 +Fluorite CaF_2 +++Calcite $CaCO_3$ ++++Dolomite $CaMg[CO_3]_2$ +++Ankerite $F[_3]_2$ +++Mathematic $ZnCO_3$ ++Ankerite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++Malachite $Fe_3[SO_4]_4[OH]_5$ ++Anglesite $PbSO_4$ ++Anglesite $PbSO_4$ ++	Pearceite	[(Ag,Cu) ₆ (As,Sb) ₂ S ₇][Ag ₉ CuS ₄]	+									
Oxides and HydrooxidesQuartzSiO2++++OpalSiO2+H2+HematiteFe2O3++++MagnetiteFe2O4+++MushketoviteFeFe2O4+++Goethite-FeO(OH)+++Lepidocrocite-FeO(OH)+++Pyrolusite Π_2 +++RutileTO2++CassiteriteSnO2+FluoriteCaF2++CalciteCaCO3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO3]2++AnkeriteF [3]2+++SmithsoniteZnCO3+CaviteCu2[CO3](OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO3](OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO3](OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO3](OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO3](OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO3](OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO3](OH]2++AnglesitePbSO4++AnglesitePbSO4++AnglesitePbSO4++	Pyrargyrite	Ag ₂ SbS ₃	+									
QuartzSiO2++++OpalSiO2+H2+HematiteFe2O3++++MagnetiteFe2O4+++MushketoviteFeFe2O4+++Goethite-FeO(OH)+++Lepidocrocite-FeO(OH)+++Pyrolusiten 2++RutileTiO2++FluoriteCaF2++CassiteriteSnO2+FluoriteCaF2++DolomiteCaCO3++++AnkeriteF [3]2+++SmithsoniteZnCO3++CrusitePbCO3++AzuriteCul{CO3}(OH)2++MalachiteCu2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteFe3O4++JarositeKFe3O4(OH)3++AnglesitePbSO4++AnglesitePbSO4++GvpsumCaS02+LO++	Oxides and Hydrooxides											
Opal SiO ₂ +H ₂ + Hematite Fe_2O_3 ++++ Magnetite Fe_3O_4 +++ Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++ Goethite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Lepidocrocite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Lepidocrocite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Pyrolusite n 2 ++ Rutile TO_2 ++ Cassiterite SnO_2 + Fluorite CaF_2 ++ Dolomite $CaCO_3$ ++++ Dolomite $CaMg[CO_3]_2$ ++ Ankerite $F [3]_2$ +++ Smithsonite $ZnCO_3$ ++ Carussite PbCO_3 ++ Azurite $Cu_3[CO_3]_2[OH]_2$ ++ Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++ Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++ Anglesite $PbSO_4$ ++ Anglesite $PbSO_4$ ++	Quartz	SiO ₂	++++									
Hematite Fe_2O_3 ++++ Magnetite Fe_3O_4 +++ Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++ Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++ Goethite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Lepidocrocite $-FeO(OH)$ +++ Pyrolusite n_2 +++ Rutile TO_2 +++ Cassiterite SnO_2 + Fluorite CaF_2 +++ Dolomite $CaCO_3$ ++++ Dolomite $CaMg[CO_3]_2$ +++ Ankerite $F[_3]_2$ ++++ Smithsonite $ZnCO_3$ ++ Cerussite $PbCO_3$ ++ Azurite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++ Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ ++ Jarosite $KFe_8[SO_4]_2[OH]_6$ ++ Anglesite $PbSO_4$ ++ Govpsum $CaSO_42H_2O$ ++	Opal	SiO ₂ +H ₂	+									
Magnetite Fe_3O_4 +++Mushketovite $FeFe_2O_4$ +++Goethite-FeO(OH)+++Lepidocrocite-FeO(OH)+++Pyrolusiten 2++Rutile TO_2 +++Cassiterite SnO_2 +Fluorite CaF_2 ++Calcite $CaCO_3$ ++++DolomiteCalcite $CaCO_3$ +++DolomiteCalcite $CaCO_3$ +++SmithsoniteCalcite $CaCO_3$ +++SmithsoniteCalcite <td colsp<="" td=""><td>Hematite</td><td>Fe₂O₃</td><td>++++</td></td>	<td>Hematite</td> <td>Fe₂O₃</td> <td>++++</td>	Hematite	Fe ₂ O ₃	++++								
MushketoviteFeFe2O4+++Goethite-FeQ(OH)+++Lepidocrocite-FeQ(OH)+++Pyrolusiten 2++RutileTO2++CassiteriteSnO2+FluoriteCaF2++CalciteCalciteCaCO3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO3]2AnkeriteF [3]2+++SmithsoniteZnCO3+++CerussitePbCO3++AzuriteCu2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++JarositePbSO4++GyosumCaSO42H2O++	Magnetite	Fe ₃ O ₄	++									
Goethite-FeO(OH)+++Lepidocrocite-FeO(OH)+++Pyrolusiten 2++RutileTiO2++CassiteriteSnO2+FluoriteCaF2++CalciteCalciteCaCO3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO3]2AnkeriteF [3]2+++SmithsoniteZnCO3++++CerussitePbCO3++AzuriteCu3[CO3]2[OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteKFe3[SO4]2[OH]2++JarositeKFe3[SO4]2[OH]2++AnglesitePbSO4++GypsumCaSO42H2O++	Mushketovite	FeFe ₂ O ₄	+++									
Lepidocrocite-FeO(OH)+++Pyrolusiten 2++RutileTiO2++CassiteriteSnO2+FluoriteCaF2++CarbonatesCalciteCaCO3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO3]2AnkeriteF [3]2+++SmithsoniteZnCO3+++CerussitePbCO3++AzuriteCu2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO]3[OH]2++MalachiteKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++JarositeKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++AnglesitePbSO4++GypsumCaSO42H2O++	Goethite	- FeO(OH)	+++									
Pyrolusiten2+++Rutile TiO_2 ++Cassiterite SnO_2 +Fluorite CaF_2 +++CalciteCalcite $CaCO_3$ +++Dolomite $CaCO_3]_2$ +++AnkeriteF [3]_2+++Smithsonite $ZnCO_3$ +CerussitePbCO_3+++Azurite $Cu_3[CO_3]_2[OH]_2$ +++Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ +++Malachite $Cu_2[CO]_3[OH]_2$ +++Ansoite $Sulfates$ ++BaryteBaSO_4++Jarosite $KFe_3[SO_4]_2[OH]_5$ +++AnglesitePbSO_4++Gvpsum $CaSO_42H_2O$ +++	Lepidocrocite	- FeO(OH)	++									
Rutile TIO2 ++ Cassiterite SnO2 ++ Fluorite CaF2 ++ Calcite Carbonates +++ Dolomite CaMg[CO3]2 +++ Ankerite F [3]2 +++ Smithsonite ZnCO3 +++ Cerussite PbCO3 ++ Azurite Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2 ++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3[OH]2 ++ Malachite BaSO4 ++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]3 ++ Anglesite PbSO4 ++ Gvpsum CaSO42H2O ++	Pyrolusite	<u>n</u> 2	++									
CassiteriteSnO2+FluoriteCaF2++CarbonatesCalciteCaCO3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO3]2AnkeriteF [3]2+++AnkeriteF [3]2+++SmithsoniteZnCO3+CerussitePbCO3++AzuriteCu3[CO3]2[OH]2++MalachiteCu2[CO]3 [OH]2++BaryteBaSO4++JarositeKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++AnglesitePbSO4++GvpsumCaSO42H2O++	Rutile	TiO ₂	++									
Fluorite CaF2 ++ Carbonates Calcite CaCO3 ++++ Dolomite CaMg[CO3]2 +++ Ankerite F [3]2 +++ Smithsonite ZnCO3 ++ Cerussite PbCO3 ++ Azurite Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2 ++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3 [OH]2 ++ Baryte BaSO4 ++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]6 ++ Anglesite PbSO4 ++ Gypsum CaSO42H2O ++	Cassiterite	SnO ₂	+									
CarbonatesCalciteCaCO3++++DolomiteCaMg[CO3]2++AnkeriteF [3]2+++AnkeriteZnCO3+SmithsoniteZnCO3+CerussitePbCO3++AzuriteCu3[CO3]2[OH]2+++MalachiteCu2[CO]3 [OH]2+++BaryteBaSO4+++JarositeKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++AnglesitePbSO4+GypsumCaSO42H2O++	Fluorite		++									
CalciteCaCO3++++Dolomite $CaMg[CO_3]_2$ +++AnkeriteF $\begin{bmatrix} 3 \end{bmatrix}_2$ +++AnkeriteZnCO3++SmithsoniteZnCO3++CerussitePbCO3+++AzuriteCu3[CO3]2[OH]2+++MalachiteCu2[CO]3 [OH]2+++BaryteBaSO4+++JarositeKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++AnglesitePbSO4+GypsumCaSO42H2O++		Carbonates										
Dolomite CaMg[CO ₃]2 ++ Ankerite F [3]2 +++ Smithsonite ZnCO3 ++ Cerussite PbCO3 ++ Azurite Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2 +++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3 [OH]2 +++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3 [OH]2 +++ Baryte BaSO4 +++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]6 +++ Anglesite PbSO4 ++ Gypsum CaSO42H2O ++	Calcite	CaCO ₃	++++									
Ankerite F [_ 3]2 +++ Smithsonite ZnCO3 + Cerussite PbCO3 ++ Azurite Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2 ++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3 [OH]2 ++ Baryte BaSO4 ++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]6 ++ Anglesite PbSO4 ++	Dolomite	CaMg[CO ₃] ₂	++									
Smithsonite ZnCO3 + Cerussite PbCO3 ++ Azurite Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2 ++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3 [OH]2 ++ Sulfates Sulfates ++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]6 ++ Anglesite PbSO4 ++ Gypsum CaSO42H2O ++	Ankerite	F [3]2	+++									
Cerussite PbCO3 +++ Azurite Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2 ++ Malachite Cu2[CO]3 [OH]2 ++ Sulfates Sulfates Baryte BaSO4 ++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]6 ++ Anglesite PbSO4 + Gypsum CaSO42H2O ++	Smithsonite	ZnCO ₃	+									
Azurite Cu₃[CO₃]₂[OH]₂ ++ Malachite Cu₂[CO]₃ [OH]₂ ++ Sulfates Sulfates Baryte BaSO₄ ++ Jarosite KFe₃[SO₄]₂[OH]₆ ++ Anglesite PbSO₄ ++ Gypsum CaSO₄2H₂O ++	Cerussite	PbCO ₃	++									
Malachite Cu2[CO]3[OH]2 ++ Sulfates Sulfates Baryte BaSO4 ++ Jarosite KFe3[SO4]2[OH]6 ++ Anglesite PbSO4 ++ Gypsum CaSO42H2O ++	Azurite	Cu3[CO3]2[OH]2	++									
SulfatesBaryteBaSO4++JarositeKFe3[SO4]2[OH]6++AnglesitePbSO4+GypsumCaSO42H2O++	Malachite	Cu ₂ [CO] ₃ [OH] ₂	++									
Baryte BaSO ₄ ++ Jarosite KFe ₃ [SO ₄] ₂ [OH] ₆ ++ Anglesite PbSO ₄ + Gypsum CaSO ₄ 2H ₂ O ++		Sulfates										
Jarosite KFe ₃ [SO ₄] ₂ [OH] ₆ ++ Anglesite PbSO ₄ + Gypsum CaSO ₄ 2H ₂ O ++	Baryte	BaSO₄	++									
AnglesitePbSO4+GypsumCaSO42H2O++	Jarosite	KFe ₃ [SO ₄] ₂ [OH] ₆	++									
Gypsum CaSO ₄ 2H ₂ O ++	Anglesite	PbSO₄	+									
	Gypsum	CaSO ₄ 2H ₂ O	++									

Alunite	KA13[SO4][OH]6	+								
	Molybdates, wolframite and Arsena	ites								
Wulfenite	Pb [MoO4]	++								
Scheelite	CaWO ₄	+								
Chalcophyllite	Cu ₁₈ A _{l2} (AsO ₄) ₃ (SO ₄) ₃ (OH) _{27*33} H ₂ O	+								
Silicates and aluminosilicates										
Grossular	Ca ₃ Al ₂ [SiO ₄] ₃	+++								
Andradite	₃ Fe ₂ [SiO ₄] ₃	+++								
Hedenbergite	CaFe ²⁺ [Si ₂ O ₆]	++								
Actinolite	Ca ₂ (Mg,Fe) ₅ [Si ₈ O ₂₂](OH) ₂	++++								
Tremolite	Ca ₂ Mg ₅ [Si ₄ O ₁₁] ₂ [OH] ₂	+								
Epidote	2(I, Fe)3[Si2O7] [SiO4]O[OH]	+++								
Zoisite	Ca ₂ Al ₃ [Si ₂ O ₇] [SiO ₄]O[OH]	++								
Orthoclase	[ISi ₃ O ₈]	+++								
Adularia	K[AlSi ₃ O ₈]	+++								
Albite	Na[AlSi₃O ₈]	+								
Oligoclase	(Na,Ca)(Si,Al) ₄ O ₈	++								
Muscovite	KAI ₂ [AISi ₃ O ₁₀][OH] ₂	++								
Sericite	KAl ₂ [AlSi ₃ O ₁₀][OH] ₂	++++								
Biotite	K(Mg,Fe) ₃ .[Si ₃ AlO ₁₀] [OH] ₂	++								
Pennine	(Mg, F)	++								
Serpentine	Mg ₆ [Si ₄ O ₁₀](OH) ₈	+								
Montmorillonite	(Na,Ca) _{0.33} (Al,Mg) ₂ (Si ₄ O ₁₀)(OH) ₂ ·	++								
Kaolinite	Al 4[Si4O10][OH]8	++								

++++ : main minerals (found in amounts of more than 10%);

+++ : minor minerals (the same, up to 10%);

++ : minerals distributed in small quantities (<1%);

+ : rare minerals, isolated finds.

Patterns and mineralogical composition obtained on the total fraction by XRD from selected soil and tailings materials are shown in Figure 12. All samples contained mainly quartz, feldspar group minerals, calcite, micas and chlorite, without detecting any other accompanying mineral species, probably due to the low concentrations.

The mineralogical characterization of phyllosilicates from the clay fraction (<2 μ m) in a surface sample in AbT with no treatment and treated with ethylene-glycol and dimethyl-sulfoxide is presented in Figure 13. The figure depicts that the mineralogy of phyllosilicates is dominated by micas, chlorite and smectite. The surface properties of phyllosilicates (high active surface areas and presence of electrical charge) is a key factor for the buffer and sink properties of soils (Kabata-Pendias, 2011), and therefore have a major positive effect on chemical and physical soil properties in relation to the dispersion of the pollution.







Figure 12. Mineralogical composition of selected soil and tailing materials



Dimethyl sulfoxide treatment

Figure 13. Mineralogical characterization of phyllosilicates from surface soil at AbT

The results of the SEM-EDS imaging made on the tailings and open pit waste materials is shown in Annex 3 (Figures 14 - 23). Microphotography of the sample grain from AcT material showed the presence of pyrite (FeS₂) in pyritohedron form (Fig.14 (1)) surrounded by foliate form of clinochlore (Mg₅Al(AlSi₃O₁₀)(OH)₈) crystals (Fig.14 (2)). Massive calcite (CaCO₃) (Fig.14 (3)) and albite (Na(AlSi₃O₈)) (Fig.14 (4)) minerals also were detected in this sample. Primary non-sulfide minerals such as carbonates play an important role in neutralizing acid drainage. Silicates may dissolve slowly and they are usually not effective in controlling pH (Jambor et al., 2002), however, soluble silicates may largely influence the composition of drainage (Jamieson, 2011).

In the microphotography of the sample from vertical profile of AbT was identified partially oxidized grains of pyrite (Fig.15 (A-B)) and rare unaltered arsenopyrite (FeAsS) (Fig.15 (C)). Pyrite and arsenopyrite are common acid producing sulfide minerals in tailing dumps. Oxidation of pyrite may produce the formation of secondary products such as goethite (FeO(OH)), hematite (Fe₂O₃) and jarosite (KFe₃(SO₄)₂(OH)₆) (Dold, 2010) which were found in the studied area. Moreover, the amorphous grain from vertical profile of Abt contains mica, probably biotite (Fig. 16 (1)) with crystals of quartz (fig. 16 (2)) and rutile (fig. 16 (3)) which is consistent with the mineralogy of the area.

However, apart from the primary minerals, the precipitation of Ca–Fe–As phases were found (Fig. 17 (1)), Fig.18 (A, B -1)), indicating the possible presence of yukonite-like or arseniosiderite-like minerals previously reported in oxidized Asbearing ores (Gomez et al., 2010) and in tailings of a gold-mining operation in Nova Scotia, Canada (Walker et al., 2009).

Tailings with a high Ca/As ratio found in some areas, provide neutral drainage and are less acid-generating and hence less risky to the environment (Jamieson, 2011). However, when we consider the possible oral ingestion of the fine dust, arsenate minerals such as yukonite pose high risk of toxicity (see Chapter 5).

Amorphous secondary precipitations of Fe and Mn with accompanying elements such as Ca, K, Si, P, As, Pb, Zn and Co were observed by SEM and EDS analyses

54

in the vertical profile of AbT (Fig. 17 (2)), (Fig. 18 (B-2)), (Fig. 19 (2)) and in the open pit waste materials (Fig. 21 (1, 2)), (Fig. 22 (B-1, 2)) and (Fig. 23 (2, 3)), which could be resulted from the oxidation of sulfide (pyrite, arsenopyrite, sphalerite, galena), dissolution of oxyhydroxides and oxyhydroxide sulfates (hematite, goethite, jarosite) and aluminosilicate (feldspars and micas) minerals presented in Chadak ore area. Secondary precipitations of rounded (spherical) form of Fe with Ca is observed (Fig. 20 (1)) which have probably a microbial origin. Microbial activities largely enhance oxidation of sulfides and cause the release of metal(loid)s and the precipitation of iron oxyhydroxides sulfates (Lu and Wang, 2012).

The above mentioned secondary minerals can greatly affect the mobility of metal(loid)s in mine tailing dumps and acid mine drainage (AMD) affected areas. Secondary minerals are able to retain significant quantities of metal(loid)s by adsorption or sequestration on the large surface areas (Kabata-Pendias, 2011). On the other hand, the adsorbed or coprecipitated metal(loid)s are susceptible to remobilization resulted after transformation of these secondary minerals as environmental conditions change (Lu and Wang, 2012). Consequently, the geochemical and mineralogical characterizations of mine tailings are of high importance for the assessment of environmental impact of trace metals.

3.4. CONCLUSION

Chadak ore field is one of the main gold-producing sites in Uzbekistan. Abandoned and active tailing dumps with wastes enriched with metal(loid)s poses a potential pollution risk for this mining area and for populations living in the vicinity. Our data indicate that the total concentrations of As, Sb, Zn, and Pb exceeded the background concentrations in wastes at the active tailing (AcT) dump and in soils at abandoned tailings dump (AbT). Waste deposits at AbT have very high concentrations of As (mean > 1030 mg/kg) and Sb (mean > 920 mg/kg), exceeding intervention threshold values by 20- and 62-fold, respectively.

General physico-chemical properties of soils and tailing samples showed a moderately alkaline pH, low EC, CEC and OC. Due to the moderate presence of calcium carbonate in the tailings, the net neutralization potential (NNP = NP-AP)

indicates that the active tailing dump is potentially acid generating, while the abandoned tailing dump is not. This is directly related to a higher amount of sulfide minerals with high acid potential in the AcT in relation to the AbT dump.

Mineralogy patterns from selected soil and tailings materials obtained by XRD presented that samples dominated by quartz, feldspars, calcite, micas and chlorite, and gives useful information in relation to the amount of neutralizing minerals (like calcite), although minerals bearing potentially pollutant elements are not detected by this technique. Otherwise, the results of the SEM-EDS analysis made on the tailings and open pit waste materials identified primary and secondary minerals consisting of sulfides, silicates and secondary precipitations of Fe and Mn oxyhydroxides. The presence of yukonite-like precipitation of Ca–Fe–As phases were also detected.

The geochemical and mineralogical characterizations of mine tailings are of high importance for the characterization of the potential toxicity of waste materials, the evaluation of the buffer capacity, and the assessment of the environmental impact of metal(loid)s in surrounding areas.

CHAPTER 4. ASSESSMENT OF MOBILITY AND AVAILABLILITY OF METAL(LOID)S AND THEIR RELATION TO SOIL AND TAILING PROPERTIES

4.1. INTRODUCTION

The analytical determination of the total content of metal(loid)s in soils, sediments and waste materials does not provide the necessary information to determine the physical-chemical state of these elements, nor does it allow the deduction of their potential mobilization capacity (Thomas et al., 1994). The application of selective extraction techniques allows us to deduce the distribution of the trace elements between the different fractions of a soil, while at the same time it allows us to deepen our knowledge of both the potential mobility of these elements and their biological availability. (Raksasataya et al., 1996; Breward et al., 1996).

Traditionally the method used to carry out studies of mobilization of heavy metal(loid)s is based on speciation studies, through operational fractionation methods such as selective, simple and / or sequential chemical extractions, since the direct determination is almost impossible (Van Herreweghe et al., 2003).

The sequential extractions are based on the selectivity of certain reagents, understanding this selectivity as the ability of that reagent to attack a single fraction of the metal(loid) in the material to analyze, remaining the other fractions unaltered to that attack; although there are authors who state that practically no reagent is totally specific (McCarty et al., 1998). These extractions depend on different factors such as the chemical nature of the extractant agents, the duration of the extraction, the solid / liquid ratio and the preparation and conservation of the sample, to the point that significant differences have even been found in the results when the same scheme has been applied by different analysts (Van Herreweghe et al., 2003). The first important works in the field of sequential chemical extractions were carried out by Tessier al. (1979); although later other methods of sequential extraction were developed, such as the BCR method (Thomas et al., 1994), and the method of Hall et al. (1996), as well as multiple methodological schemes based on the Tessier protocol or modifications thereof.

This Chapter is partially based on the publication: O.Kodirov, Kersten M., Shukurov N., Martín-Peinado F.. 2018. Trace metal(loid) mobility in waste deposits and soils around Chadak mining area, Uzbekistan. Science of the Total Environment, 622–623, 1658–1667.

One of the main problems of sequential extractions is that it has as a source of errors the handling and washing of solid samples between one extraction stage and the next, which can cause loss of solid material (Breward et al., 1996), generating that the degree of precision of the applied method decreases as the number of extraction steps increases in the procedure. Otherwise, the extractants applied are not fully selective and a considerable redistribution of heavy metals may take place upon the extraction procedure (Vodyanitskii, 2006).

On the other hand, single-selective extractions are used instead of sequentialselective extractions. In this case, the theoretical basis is similar in both cases, and the main difference is that for sequential extractions, the same sample is used in the successive steps, while for single extractions, different aliquots of a same sample are used to be reacted with different reagents. In the case of single extractions, a reagent is used to isolate the metal(loid)s associated or bound in a particular soil phase, fraction or component in a single extraction procedure. These single extractions allow us to estimate, both the natural mobility of heavy metals as the potential mobility in the face of changes in the environmental conditions in which they are found, according to the experiences carried out in similar environments (Martínez et al., 1996, García-Rizo et al., 1999, Pérez-Sirvent et al., 2003, Vidal et al., 2004, Navarro, 2004). In addition, single extractions are more used than sequential ones in studies of mobility and bioavailability in contaminated soils (Ure et al., 1995a). In any case, there is a wide variety of selective extraction protocols that leads to the absence of a standardized and unique extraction accepted procedure to evaluate the mobility and availability of metal(loid)s in soils, sediments or waste materials, which makes it difficult the comparison of the results obtained by different studies.

The aim of this chapter is to assess the mobility and availability of metal(loid)s found in tailings from the abandoned tailing dump by the use of single-selective extractions, and to correlate with the total concentrations and the main physicochemical properties to analyse the potential risk of pollution in the area in relation to the ability to disperse and move around the environment.

58

4.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1. Selective extraction of metal(loid)s

Selective extractions were applied to assess metal(loid)s mobility in sieved samples (< 2 mm) at the abandoned tailing dump site (AbT) with the following reagents: 1) distilled water (Sposito et al., 1982), 2) ammonium nitrate 1M (DIN 19730, 1997), 3) acetic acid 0.43M (Ure et al., 1993), and 4) oxalate buffer pH 3 (Schwertmann and Taylor, 1977). In general, metal(loid)s extracted with water (W) are the soluble fraction (Sposito et al., 1982). Those extracted with ammonium nitrate (AN) are considered as the readily available fraction (Gryschko et al., 2005). The extracted with acetic acid (AC) have been considered by many authors as bioavailable, although they are associated with the fraction bound to carbonates and also specifically linked to oxides and organic matter (Beckett, 1989). Those extracted with oxalic-oxalate (OX) are estimated to be linked to oxides (Ure, 1995). The extraction power of these reactants goes in increasing order as they have been presented here (W <AN <AC <OX), so that a solution is able to extract forms considered in the previous solutions, although this is not the case with all the elements or in all soil types.

The total concentration of trace elements was additionally determined by strong acid digestion (HNO₃/HF/HCI) using a Microwave Accelerated Reaction System (CEM MARS 230/60 Xpress). All extracted fractions (both strong acid digestion as single-selective extractions) were analyzed by inductively coupled plasma–mass spectrometry (ICP–MS) in a Perkin-Elmer Sciex-Elan 5000 instrument equipped with quartz torch, nickel sampler, and skimmer cones. Standard solutions were prepared from ICP single-element standard (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) after appropriate dilution with 10% HNO₃. The accuracy of the method was evaluated by six replicate analyses of the certified reference material SRM 2711, average recoveries of the certified reference values ranged between 91% and 105% for the main pollutant elements (Martín Peinado et al., 2015).

4.3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.3.1. Geochemical fractionation of trace elements in tailings dumps material

Due to the elevated concentrations of metal(loid)s, mainly As and Sb, and the relatively high concentrations of Zn and Pb in the tailing samples analyzed from the vertical profile in the abandoned tailing dump (AbT), mobility and availability were assessed by selective extractions (water, ammonium nitrate salt solution, acetic acid, and oxalic-oxalate). The results of these selective extractions procedures of the soluble in water and ammonium nitrate extracted forms are shown in Tables 10 and 11.

Table 10. Soluble in water extracted forms in tailings from the abandoned tailing dump (values in mg/kg)

Profile	e (AbT)	V_W	Cr_W	Co_W	Ni_W	Cu_W	Zn_W	As_W	Cd_W	Sb_W	Pb_W
	Mean	0,046	0,082	0,023	0,091	0,059	0,775	4,056	0,005	1,482	0,431
Α	St. dev.	0,051	0,025	0,003	0,002	0,055	0,603	2,362	0,005	0,291	0,583
-	Mean	0,015	0,064	0,013	0,074	0,037	0,504	2,116	0,002	1,993	0,182
в	St. dev.	0,008	0,002	0,003	0,033	0,012	0,015	1,687	0,000	1,466	0,090
<u> </u>	Mean	0,013	0,065	0,015	0,045	0,047	0,526	6,848	0,001	0,465	0,159
L.	St. dev.	0,002	0,001	0,008	0,010	0,016	0,170	4,709	0,001	0,029	0,187
Tatal	Mean	0,025	0,070	0,017	0,070	0,048	0,602	4,340	0,003	1,313	0,257
Iotal	St. dev.	0,028	0,014	0,006	0,026	0,028	0,311	3,263	0,003	0,965	0,308

Table 11. Ammonium nitrate extracted forms in tailings from the abandoned tailing dump (values in mg/kg)

Profile	e (AbT)	V_AN	Cr_AN	Co_AN	Ni_AN	Cu_AN	Zn_AN	As_AN	Cd_AN	Sb_AN	Pb_AN
	Mean	0,006	0,027	0,048	0,924	0,018	0,108	0,624	0,006	0,992	0,002
A	St. dev.	0,001	0,001	0,039	0,508	0,003	0,028	0,286	0,006	0,620	0,000
Р	Mean	0,005	0,028	0,047	0,975	0,044	0,137	1,554	0,003	2,073	0,002
Б	St. dev.	0,001	0,001	0,004	0,350	0,033	0,018	1,363	0,001	1,430	0,001
<u> </u>	Mean	0,006	0,028	0,057	0,577	0,069	0,154	11,609	0,001	0,464	0,003
<u></u>	St. dev.	0,001	0,001	0,047	0,180	0,035	0,038	8,268	0,000	0,021	0,000
Total	Mean	0,005	0,027	0,051	0,826	0,043	0,133	4,596	0,003	1,176	0,002
rotal	St. dev.	0,001	0,001	0,028	0,347	0,031	0,031	6,614	0,003	1,012	0,001

Both soluble in water and ammonium nitrate extracted forms represent the readily soluble or available forms and are related the short-term mobility processes. The high variability of concentrations in all layers showed no significant differences in any case and for any element analyzed. There is no information about guideline values in readily mobile forms of metal(loid)s related to the soil solution of potentially polluted soils, so a comparison with Guideline values for water reuse (EPA, 2004) was made; according to this Guideline the concentration of most elements is below these reference values, with the exception of As which present a very high concentration (>4 mg mobile As / kg soil) above the reference value fixed in 0,1 mg/l, indicating a potential risk of pollution in relation to this element. In the case of Sb, readily mobile forms showed values above 1 mg mobile Sb / kg soil, but no guideline value was found for this element; according to the EPA drinking water regulations (EPA, 2009), the maximum level is fixed in 0.006 mg/l, which could indicate a high potential risk of toxicity for this element from the lixiviates derived from the tailings. Anyway, the potential implications of the high mobility of As and Sb in this area was discussed in Chapter 5, were toxicity and human-health concerns are discussed.

Acetic acid extracted forms, related to more strongly retained (but potentially longterm available) are presented in Tables 12. The high variability of concentrations in all layers showed no significant differences for any element analyzed. The elements extracted in greater concentrations were Zn (>56 mg/kg), As and Pb (>46 mg/kg for both elements), indicating that these elements could be partially uptaken by plants after slight acidification from the rhizosphere (Beckett et al., 1989) or leached from the tailing by the acidification caused by the sulphide oxidation (Simón et al., 2002). The extraction with acetic acid allows an estimation of the metal(loid)s fraction remobilised after acidification of the tailings (Van der Sloot et al., 1996), so long-term potential problems related to the acid potential of the tailings could be deduced.

Profil	e (AbT)	V_AC	Cr_AC	Co_AC	Ni_AC	Cu_AC	Zn_AC	As_AC	Cd_AC	Sb_AC	Pb_AC
-	Mean	0,30	0,77	1,88	3,35	1,81	42,95	66,19	1,00	7,12	5,07
Α	St. dev.	0,34	0,07	1,31	0,87	1,33	35,83	46,73	0,63	3,68	0,41
_	Mean	0,18	1,00	1,47	2,86	7,66	58,90	35,90	0,83	14,63	60,23
В	St. dev.	0,19	0,12	0,70	0,32	5,59	15,56	22,41	0,05	11,17	50,26
-	Mean	0,07	1,05	0,89	3,56	8,64	67,57	37,57	1,23	2,15	75,36
C	St. dev.	0,06	0,13	0,01	0,27	1,68	23,09	12,25	0,36	0,72	4,77
	Mean	0,18	0,94	1,41	3,26	6,04	56,47	46,55	1,02	7,97	46,88
lotal	St. dev.	0,20	0,16	0,80	0,54	4,25	23,16	28,27	0,37	7,71	40,06

Table 12. Acetic acid extracted forms in tailings from the abandoned tailing dump (values in mg/kg)

Oxalic-oxalate extracted forms, related to more strongly retained fraction, are presented in Tables 13. The high variability of concentrations in all layers (high standard deviation) showed no significant differences for any element analyzed.

Profile	e (AbT)	V_OX	Cr_OX	Co_OX	Ni_OX	Cu_OX	Zn_OX	As_OX	Cd_OX	Sb_OX	Pb_OX
-	Mean	5,52	3,40	4,31	7,21	8,29	103,57	794,58	0,16	202,85	27,43
A	St. dev.	3,55	2,32	1,06	4,82	3,11	79,10	720,04	0,16	192,78	29,81
	Mean	2,37	6,72	2,67	6,58	15,01	97,53	279,31	0,05	95,74	11,99
в	St. dev.	1,30	3,18	1,08	0,19	8,00	7,11	321,81	0,04	43,32	6,01
0	Mean	1,85	7,66	1,85	6,72	22,79	135,38	313,39	0,03	17,51	5,90
L	St. dev.	0,28	1,12	0,54	1,34	4,60	47,45	135,82	0,00	7,30	1,59
	Mean	3,25	5,93	2,94	6,83	15,36	112,16	462,43	0,08	105,37	15,10
Iotal	St. dev.	2,46	2,71	1,33	2,26	7,81	45,19	441,05	0,10	121,43	16,85

Table 13. Oxalic-oxalate extracted forms in tailings from the abandoned tailing dump (values in mg/kg)

The oxalic-oxalate forms is related to the retention of metal(loid)s by the iron oxyhydroxide (mainly as non-crystalline forms) in the tailings. The element extracted in higher concentration was As, with mean values higher than 460 mg/kg, followed by Zn and Sb, with mean concentrations higher than 100 mg/kg; while Pb and Cu presented lower values (around 15 mg/kg) of these extracted forms. These values are related to the ability of iron to retain these elements; in these tailings, the iron released by oxidation of sulfides precipitated in amorphous or poorly crystallized forms adsorbing these elements presented in the acid solutions that are generated in the process (Simón et al., 2002). This mechanism of retention could be considered as a positive response to the potential release of pollutants, preventing the dispersion of these elements in the environment.

In the case of the four elements with the greatest potential for mobility or toxicity, a comparison has been made between the different forms extracted. Since the ammonium nitrate (AN) and the acetic acid (AC) also extract the water soluble forms (W), the calculations have been made by subtracting the soluble phase to these two extractions. In the case of oxalic-oxalate (OX) it is considered that it can extract elements associated with the same forms (oxides, inorganic precipitates, carbonates, etc.) as acetic acid, so this analysis has been carried out using the percentage of higher selective extraction for each element. The residual (insoluble)

fraction was also calculated from be the difference between the total concentration of the element and the amount extracted by the most effective reagent; that is, the one which extracts the greatest amount of element. The calculation of the percentage in relation to the total of each single-extraction procedure is presented in Figure 24.



Figure 24. Percentage of extracted metal(loid)s (mean values) in the different layers of the tailing at the abandoned tailing dump.

According to this figure, most of the As (between 49.9 - 78.8% in relation to the total) was extracted by oxalic-oxalate buffer (Asox) with the highest proportion in the C layer of the AbT profile. Oxalic-oxalate buffer is the reagent that extracts specifically the elements adsorbed and retained by the thus dissolved Fe-Mn oxides. The results are consistent with previous observations (Aguilar et al. 2006; Martín et al. 2011) which found that As in polluted soils is associated mainly with iron oxides. Iron oxide phases are therefore generally accepted as the primary sorption sites for arsenic in many soils and sediments (Adriano, 1986; Sadiq, 1997). Fe-Mn oxides are also important scavengers of heavy metals in soils, particularly in the high pH range (Li

and Thornton, 2001). The residual fraction (extracted only with strong acids) is not as high (below 24% of the total) except in the B layer (mean 36% of the total), presumably associated with the presence of arsenopyrite in the tailings. Extractions determined that 6.5-13.3% of the total arsenic (AsT) was extractable with acetic acid (As_{AC}) without readsorption to other phases, whereas a negligible proportion (<2% of the total) was extracted by water (As_W) and ammonium nitrate (As_{AN}). Low solubility and exchangeable potential of As measured by these extractants agree with the soil pH and the presence of carbonates (Rodrigues et al., 2010), and can be related by the incorporation of As into the lattice structure of calcite as arsenite under alkaline pH (Di Benedetto et al., 2006; Alexandratos et al., 2007). Despite the low water-soluble ratios, concentrations of As_W (mean 4.34 mg soluble As per kg dry soil) far surpassed the critical level of 0.04 mg of soluble As per kg dry soil (Bohn et al., 1985), indicating a need for detailed ecotoxicological studies to prevent the risk of pollution to the environment and the nearby population.

As with As, the highest extraction of Zn was in C layer and associated with the Fe-Mn oxides (mean 45.4-57.7% in relation to the total Zn), while the residual fraction had a mean range between 13.2-35.8% with the highest amount in the A layer. These results agree with previous observations of Ashraf et al. (2012) and Li and Thornton (2001), who found that Zn was associated primarily with Fe/Mn oxides and the residual fraction. Alvarez-Ayuso et al., (2008) and García et al., (2009) also stated that Zn may co-precipitate with oxides and hydroxides at high pH values. The next most abundant Zn fraction was that extracted with acetic acid (Zn_{AC}), which accounted for a mean range of between 18.2-29.7% in relation to the total Zn; this fraction, also called the exchangeable fraction, registered the same percentage, according to Marguí et al. (2004), but in other studies even far higher percentages have been reported (lavazzo et al., 2012; Rodríguez et al., 2009), depending on the soil properties such as the Fe/Mn content. The percentage of the water-soluble (Znw) and ammonium-nitrate-extracted (Zn_{AN}) fractions were negligible (mean <0.5% for Znw and below detection limit for ZnAN). However, the mean value of water concentration of 0.6 mg soluble Zn per kg dry soil was within the toxic range (0.5 mg soluble Zn per kg dry soil) in soil solution reported by Ewers (1991), indicating a potential risk of environmental pollution for this element. The highest concentration of Sb was in the residual fraction (mean 64.3 - 78.2% in relation to the total Sb),

indicating that Sb is contained chiefly in the crystalline lattice of the secondary minerals. Wilson et al. (2010) reported that the residual Sb was up to 98% in minecontaminated soils, but the relative proportion of Sb in this phase depends on the source (Tighe and Lockwood, 2007). The proportion of antimony extracted with oxalic-oxalate buffer (Sbox) was below 30% of the total Sb, slightly below the values of the same extraction phase reported by Tighe and Lockwood (2007), where 30-47% of the total Sb was associated with non-crystalline Fe and Al hydroxides. The acetic-acid-soluble fraction (Sb_{AC}) was low in relation to the total concentration (mean 0.7 - 5.9%), which coincides with the studies of He (2007), Tighe and Lockwood (2007), and Hou et al. (2006). The percentage of water-soluble (Sbw) and ammonium-nitrate-extracted (Sb_{AN}) in relation to the total Sb concentrations were very low (mean <1%). Although Sb is generally described as a geochemically immobile element, its solubility depends on soil properties (Evangelou et al., 2012) and the rise of soil pH can inhibit Sb sorption to soil Fe and Al oxy-hydroxides, increasing the Sb in soil-solution phase (Nakamaru et al., 2006).

Pb was also associated mainly with the residual fraction (mean 70.9-88.2% in relation to the total Pb), containing the highest amount in the A layer. This agrees with the observations of Ashraf et al. (2012) and Ramirez et al. (2005), who reported that Pb is associated mostly with the residual phase. Pb associated with acetic acid-soluble fraction (Pb_{AC}) accounted for mean 2.5-30.9% followed by a minor amount of oxalic-oxalate buffer-extractable fraction (mean 1.9-8.8% of the total). In this case, Pb is considered to be bound to carbonates and related to weathered (oxidized) precipitates from old tailing waste materials (Anju and Banerjee, 2010). The least abundant proportion of Pb was found in water-soluble (Pbw mean <0.5%) and ammonium-nitrate-extracted (Pb_{AN} below the detection limit) fractions in relation to the total concentrations, with similar results as those observed by other authors (Ramos et al. 1994, Chlopecka et al. 1996, Maiz et al. 2000). In any case, the Pbw concentrations did not exceed the toxic level in the soil solution (1 mg/kg⁻¹) reported by Ewers (1991).

4.3.2. Correlation between tailing properties and metal(loid)s

The Pearson correlation analysis between the main physico-chemical properties of the tailing at the abandoned tailing dump, the total concentrations of metal(loid)s and the forms that are water soluble, ammonium nitrate, acetic acid, and oxalic oxalate buffer extractable, is presented in Table 14.

Table 14. Pearson correlation between total (T), water soluble (W), ammonium nitrate (AN), acetic acid (AC) and oxalic oxalate (OX) extracted forms of As, Sb, Zn, Pb and tailing properties in the vertical profile of the abandoned tailing dump.

	AsT	As_W	As _{AN}	As _{AC}	As _{OX}	SbT	Sbw	\mathbf{Sb}_{AN}	Sb _{AC}	Sbox
рН	-0.567*			-0.893*	-0.903*	-0.650*				-0.900*
EC										
CEC										
CaCO ₃										
OC	-0.550*			0.880^{*}	0.899*	-0.688**				0.894*
Clay										
Silt			0.870*							
Sand			-0.903*							
	ZnT	Znw	Zn _{AN}	Zn _{AC}	Znox	PbT	Pbw	Pb_{AN}	Pb _{AC}	Pbox
рН						-0.595*				-0.952**
EC	0.575*									
CEC	-0.818**					-0.583*	0.724*			
CaCO₃									0.814*	
OC										0.881*
Clay	-0.602*					-0.601*				
Silt										
Sand										

EC: Electrical conductivity; CEC: Cation exchange capacity; OC: Organic carbon.

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

The results for arsenic indicate that AsT together with As_{AC} and As_{OX} showed a significant (p<0.05) and negative correlation with pH, indicating that for this type of pollution involving the release of sulfide tailings, their oxidation and hence acidification processes are related to the increase in total pollution by the generation of acidic conditions that lead to a release of contaminants (Romero-Freire et al., 2015, Simón et al., 2001). Significant correlation of As_{AC} and As_{OX} was found with OC in our samples. The effect of organic carbon to arsenic mobility is controversial. In some studies the application of organic matter reduced the As mobility (Gadepalle et al., 2007), whereas in others As is mobilized after compost application and by phytoremediation due to the competing effect of organic matter with arsenate for adsorbing surface sites (Clemente et al. 2008, Martín et al. 2011). No correlation in relation to tailing properties was found for the Asw, whereas a significant positive

correlation was found for As_{AN} with silt fraction and a significant negative correlation with sand. Simón et al. (2001) showed that there was a strong positive correlation between arsenic levels and the fine-silt fraction of the sludge due to the enhanced specific surface available for As exchange.

In relation to the tailing properties, total (SbT) and oxalic-oxalate buffer (Sbox) showed similar behaviour with As, presenting significant negative correlation with pH and OC. The oxyanion-forming metalloids As and Sb have comparable geochemical activity (Fu et al. 2016; Wilson et al., 2010; Casiot et al., 2007). However, the understanding of Sb toxicity and environmental activity is limited (Filella et al., 2002). The other extracted forms of the Sb did not present any correlation with tailing properties, suggesting that these parameters do not control the partitioning of this metalloid.

By contrast, the correlation of tailing properties and ZnT showed significant positive correlation with electrical conductivity, indicating that Zn is strongly related to the soluble salts produced after the oxidation reactions (Romero-Freire et al., 2015). On the other hand, ZnT negatively correlated with CEC and clay fraction, suggesting that these tailing properties also affect Zn activity. This is consistent with the data in the literature indicating also that clay and soil hydroxides can strongly adsorb to Zn especially under alkaline conditions (Vandana et al., 2011). No significant correlation was found for other Zn extractions.

Total concentrations of Pb were significantly and negatively correlated with pH, as well as with CEC and the clay fraction, indicating that alkaline pH, CEC, and the clay fraction were the main factors controlling the mobility of lead. As pH rises, Pb becomes less soluble under oxidizing conditions (Vandana et al., 2011) due to the formation of insoluble salts mainly under the presence of carbonates (Razo et al., 2004). The water-soluble form (Pbw) was not related to any of the soil properties except for the CEC, with a significant and positive correlation, indicating the favorable effect of the adsorption processes for the retention of Pb. Acetic acid extractable Pb (PbAc) presented a significant correlation with CaCO₃ concentrations, while the proportion extracted by oxalic-oxalate buffer (Pbox) significantly correlated with OC, indicating also a major contribution of OC in retaining Pb.

	Component						
	1	2	3				
ZnT	0.504	-0.785					
AsT	0.950						
SbT	0.953						
PbT	0.515	-0.738					
Znw		0.960					
Asw			0.940				
Sbw			-0.858				
Pbw		0.948					
рН	-0.862						
EC	0.751						
CEC		0.902					
CaCO₃	-0.849						
OC	0.951						
Clay		0.879					
Silt		-0.685	0.632				
Sand			-0.754				
%							
Cumulative Variance	35.4	70.7	91.6				

Table 15. Principal component analysis among total concentration (T) of pollutant, soluble in water (W) and main physico-chemical properties in the tailing

EC: Electrical conductivity; CEC: Cation exchange capacity; OC: Organic carbon.

The mobility and potential toxicity were assessed in relation to physico-chemical properties of the tailings, using a principal-component analysis between total and soluble concentrations of the main pollutants and the tailing properties (Table 15). Three components explained 91.6% of the variance, with Component 1 being the one that included the total concentrations of metal(loid)s directly related to EC and inversely related to pH and CaCO₃, indicating that the pollution is controlled fundamentally by tailing oxidation processes involving acidification, weathering of CaCO₃, and increase in soluble salts (Simón et al., 2001). Component 2 includes the total concentrations of these elements are not controlled by their total concentrations, but rather that the CEC and texture (clay fraction) were the main properties affecting the water concentration of these elements in the soil solution (Kumpiene et al., 2008). Component 3, explaining the 20.9% of the variance,

includes As_w and Sb_w forms inversely related to each other, indicating a contrasting relation between the two elements (Mitsunobu et al., 2006) and a strong influence of carbonates usually found in the silt fraction on the activity of the soluble forms of these elements, as reported by Martínez-Lladó et al. (2011).

4.4. Conclusions

The geochemical fractionation, made from single-extraction procedure, of trace elements in the tailing of the abandoned tailing dump shows differences in the mobility and availability of the main potential pollutant analyzed. Soluble in water and ammonium nitrate extracted forms represent the readily soluble or available forms and are related the short-term mobility processes; in our study, the elements that presented higher mobility were As and Sb, with potential implications in the dispersion of the pollution to the surrounding areas. For the acetic acid extraction, the elements measured in greater concentrations were Zn, As and Pb, indicating that these elements could be partially uptaken by plants after slight acidification from the rhizosphere, or leached from the tailing by the acidification caused by the sulphide oxidation. This extraction allows an estimation of the potential fraction of metal(loid)s that could be remobilised after acidification of the tailings, so long-term potential problems related to this process could be deduced. For the oxalic-oxalate extraction, the element measures in higher concentration was As, followed by Zn and Sb. These values are related to the ability of amorphous or poorly crystallized iron forms to retain these elements, so this mechanism is considered as a positive response to the potential release of pollutants, preventing the dispersion of these elements in the environment.

The influence of physico-chemical properties is a key factor controlling the mobility and availability of potentially pollutant elements. In this sense, metal(loid)s behavior is directly related to EC and inversely related to pH and CaCO₃, indicating that the pollution is controlled fundamentally by tailing oxidation processes involving acidification, weathering of CaCO₃, and generating an increase in soluble salts. Moreover, the CEC and texture (clay fraction) were the main properties affecting the water concentration of these elements in the tailing solutions in the short-term;

69

while iron oxides are responsible of the retention in the long-term of the most potentially toxic elements (like As and Sb).

CHAPTER 5. EVALUATION OF THE POTENTIAL TOXICITY OF METAL(LOID)S BY THE USE OF TOXICITY BIOASSAYSS AND PHYTOEXTRACTION OF METAL(LOID)S BY THE WILD PLANTS OF THE AREA

5.1. Introduction

The development of mineral deposits and the operation of enrichment facilities are inevitably associated with environmental pollution. Every year, a large amount of ore is extracted from the mining industry, which, after enrichment, is stored in special storage facilities, the so-called tailing dumps, which remain a potential source of metal(loid) contamination of adjacent territories even after the end of the activity.

Soil is a key element in terrestrial ecosystems, while it is the medium that most frequently receives severe pollution (Bagur et al., 2010). Due to its role in the environment and its essential functions for the development of human life, it is vital to prevent its degradation, and with special emphasis on pollution problems (Simón et al., 2010). Thus, soil contamination has become an environmental problem of relevance to society and administration in the last decades (Galán and Romero, 2008).

When a pollutant occurs in concentrations above a certain threshold, it can generate adverse effects on the ecosystem and organisms. The toxicity of metal(loid)s is related to their total concentrations, but the study of mobility and bioavailability of these total values is the basis for environmental risk assessment, because these available forms can adversely affect biological functions in organisms. The bioavailability of an element depends on its chemical form, soil properties and the ability to absorb it by living organisms (Aguilar et al., 1999, Galán and Romero, 2008, Diez et al., 2010).

Frequently, only a small part of the total content of the potentially polluting elements in the soil is bioavailable and its effect may be different for each specific organism and for each type of soil. The bioavailability of the trace elements is a function of the chemical form in which it is found in the environment, the physical-chemical properties of the soil, and the capacity of the organisms to absorb or ingest it (Galán and Baena, 2008).

Ecotoxicity tests are key tools in the study of the fate and bioavailability of pollutants and to assess the potential ecotoxicological effects of metal(loid)s found in soils, sediments or waste deposits. These adverse effects are not only restricted to soil media, as they can be easily transferred to other compartments such as surface- or ground-waters, or even can be incorporated into the food chain. The use of biological tests is essential for determining the potential ecological risk of soil contamination to organisms and ecosystems, although the influence of long-term equilibration processes usually is not considered in such tests (Romero-Freire et al., 2015). There are many bioassays that can be applied to assess toxicity in potentially contaminated areas. They are divided mainly into two groups: those that use the liquid phase (the saturation extract of the soil) and those that use the solid phase (Farré and Barceló, 2003). There is a high correlation between bioassays that use both phases, although it is not always direct (Lors et al., 2011). The bioassays that use the soil extract seem to better reflect the behavior of the mobile phases, which allows to evaluate in the short term the risks of dispersion, solubilization and bioavailability of the contaminants in the soil (Romero-Freire et al., 2014).

The determination of the ecotoxicity of metal(loid)s using simple bioassays as the one applied in this study, allows to evaluate the toxicological risk of the analyzed samples and helps to take measures to evaluate the disturbance of the ecosystems and to promote alternatives for bioremediation (Shanker et al., 1996; Iannacone et al., 2000; Iannacone and Alvariño, 2005).

Bioavailable metal(loid)s can be accumulated in organisms up to several orders of magnitude higher than the concentration found in the environment where they live. Bioaccumulation may cause the persistence of pollutants for long periods promoting the potential danger on the ecosystem (Aguilar et al., 1999). Plants can adopt different strategies against the presence of metal(loid)s in the environment (Baker, 1981, Barceló et al., 2003). Some plants focus their resistance to pollutants by an efficient exclusion of the metal(loid)s, restricting their transport to the aerial parts. Others prefer to accumulate the metal(loid)s in the aerial part in a non-toxic way for

72

the plant. Exclusion is more characteristic of sensitive and metal-tolerant species, while accumulation is more common for species that always appear in contaminated or mine soils. Some plants can tolerate and accumulate much higher concentrations of metal(loid)s; these plants are called hyperaccumulators and are used for phytoremediation or phytostabilization of contaminated soils (Salt et al., 1995). There are different criteria for considering a plant as hyperaccumulator, although in general terms it can be defined as plants that not retain pollutants in the roots but are translocated to the shoot and accumulated in above-ground organs, especially leaves, at concentrations 100-1000-fold higher than those found in nonhyperaccumulator species (Rascio and Navari-Izzo, 2011). There are numerous examples of plants capable of accumulate pollutants, among the most frequent elements to be accumulated we can mention Cu, As and Cd (Jiang et al., 2004, Yang et al., 2002, Yang et al., 2004). Moreover, there is a very extensive bibliography in relation to phytoremediation, being the reviews of Moosavi and Seghatoleslami (2013) and that of Wang et al. (2017) among the most complete and recent.

Other important part in the environmental risk assessment is related to the implication for human health. Of particular concern in arid or semi-arid environment is the risk associated with the wind erosion of pollution practices coming from mining areas and the deposition over agricultural soils; this can lead to the direct ingestion of products grown in potentially contaminated soils.

Most of these assessments are based on soil guidelines according to total concentrations in soil and oral toxicity values are obtained from studies in which the potentially pollutant elements were spiked as soluble salts. Therefore, they may overestimate the risk associated with accidental soil ingestion since only a portion of the elements would be effectively absorbed by the human body (bioavailable). This fact has generated an increasing interest in incorporating bioavailability into risk assessments (Ge et al., 2002), which is estimated from *in vivo* tests using laboratory animals. However, due to bioethical considerations and to constraints in costs and time, during the last few years *in vitro* extraction tests are being developed to determine the oral bioaccessibility, defined as the fraction of a substance that is soluble in the gastrointestinal environment and is available for absorption (Ruby et

73
al., 1999). The ingestion of dust coming from wastes or polluted soil is a route of exposure to environmental contaminants very important, especially in the case of children (IHOBE, 1994; Pierzynski et al., 2000). In the case of many metal(loid)s and other pollutants that have a low mobility in the soil, the ingestion of contaminated soil is one of the main routes of exposure to take into account in the evaluation of health risks (Oomen, 2003). The possible effects on health due to the ingestion of soils contaminated with potentially dangerous metal(loid)s should be evaluated with the incorporation of the measurement of their bioavailability in the calculations of exposure doses and not of the total content in the soil (Hamel et al., 1999, Martínez Sánchez and Pérez Sirvent, 2013) to be able to establish, based on the soil properties, the maximum permitted levels and to be able to carry out the cleaning operations of the site.

In this chapter we will present the results obtained when evaluating the degree of potential toxicity in the main materials founded in Chadak mining area. This evaluation will be carried out from three points of view: Firstly, we analyze the results obtained after the application of two toxicity bioassays (Lactuca sativa and Vibrio fischeri tests) in potentially contaminated samples of tailings from the abandoned tailing dump. Secondly, we analyze the results obtained in relation to the potential accumulation of heavy metal(loid)s in two of the most abundant plants in the area (Artemisia absinthium and Phragmites australis), to evaluate the degree of bioaccumulation and the potential of these plants to be used as hyperaccumulator species in the decontamination of contaminated areas by phytoextraction technique. Thirdly, the results obtained in a bioaccessibility study are evaluated from a standardized methodology for the evaluation of the risk of heavy metal(loid)s accumulation after human exposure through the ingestion of dust and its subsequent assimilation within the digestive system; this assessment was made to evaluate the risk in the active mining (industrial use) and in the surrounding areas close to the mine (urban and agricultural use).

5.2. Material and Methods

In this chapter, we correlate the obtained results from the different toxicity or bioaccumulation tests with the general properties and constituents of the samples (including physicochemical characteristics and metal(loid)s concentration). The methodologies used in relation to the physicochemical characterization of the studied samples, in addition to the analysis of the total concentrations (measured by PXRF) and extracted in the different procedures of selective extraction are detailed in Chapters 3 and 4.

5.2.1. Toxicity bioassays

The bioassays used in this study were made from the saturation extract of the samples. We used the soluble-in-water extractions because they better reflect the behavior of the mobile phases and assess the short-term risk of toxicity. In this case, a soil:water extract (1:5) using 10 grams of sample + 50 ml of distilled water were prepared, after 24 hours shaking the extracts were centrifuged and the liquid phase was used for the toxicity bioassays. The tests that were applied were i) *Lactuca sativa* bioassay, and ii) *Vibrio fischeri* bioassay; a detailed explanation of them is included below. The soluble concentration of potentially pollutant elements was also measured in this liquid phase in a ICP-MS spectrometer (PE SCIEX ELAN-5000A), at the Scientific Instrumentation Center (CIC) of the University of Granada.

5.2.1.1. Lactuca sativa bioassay

This test is adapted from the methodologies described by EPA (1996; OPPTS 850.4200). This bioassay was applied to assess the phytotoxic effects on seed germination and seedling growth (root elongation) in the first days of growth (Torres, 2003). For each sample, two replicates of 15 *Lactuca sativa* L. seeds were placed in 90-mm-diameter Petri dishes containing filter paper in the bottom as support. Five milliliters of saturation extract was then added, and the dishes were placed in a Memmert Din 40050-IP-20 incubator (Memmert, Bundesrespublik Deutschland, Germany) at 25±1°C.The number of seeds that had germinated and the length of the roots of the germinated seeds were measured after 120 h. Control samples were prepared in the same way, replacing the 5 ml of saturation extract with deionized water.

The variables analyzed were the number of germinated seeds and the elongation of the roots. The results for each sample were expressed as percentage of variation with respect to the control performed with distilled water, according to the following formula:

$$SG = [(Seed_S \times 100) / Seed_C]$$

Where *SG* is the <u>Seed Germination</u> percentage in each sample in relation to the control, *Seed_S* is the mean of the seeds germinated in the sample, and *Seed_C* is the mean of seed germinated in the control.

The root elongation of the seeds was calculated according to the percentage of reduction in the sample in relation to the control according to the following formula:

$$LsR = [100 - ((RE_Sx 100) / RE_C)]$$

Where *LsR* is the <u>Root elongation reduction</u> percentage in each sample in relation to the control, *RE_S* is the mean (cm) of the root elongation in the sample, and *RE_C* is the mean (cm) of the root elongation in the control.

In this case, values range from 0 for the samples that no presented toxicity, to 100 for the samples with the maximum toxicity. Values below 0 can occur when there stimulation of the study variable occurs (hormesis).

In all cases, 3 samples were prepared and 3 repetitions were performed for each sample; 6 controls with distilled water were also included.

5.2.1.2. Vibrio fischeri bioassay

This test is adapted from the Microtox® test (ASTM, 2004) and is based on the reduction of the light emitted by a non-pathogenic strain of luminescent marine bacterium *Vibrio fischeri* upon exposure to a toxic sample (Ribó and Kaiser 1987). The test was performed in a Microtox 500 analyser from Microbics Corporation, according to a modification of Microtox Basic Test for Aqueous Extracts Protocol (Martín et al. 2010; Azur Environmental 1998).

The protocol starts with the measurement of the luminescence in the regenerating solution with bacteria, before the mixture with the water extracts (0 minutes). Then, the mixture of the water extracts and the regenerating solution with bacteria was made, and the inhibition of bioluminescence was measured at 5 and 15 minutes after the mixture. The results for each sample were expressed as percentage of reduction (Red) with respect to the initial luminescence value. Afterwards, these values were used to calculate two toxicity indexes:

Luminescence reduction at 5 minutes:

VfR5 = 100 x [(Red5_S - Red5_C) / (100 - Red5_C)]

Where *VfR5* is the percentage of Luminescence reduction after 5 minutes in each sample in relation to the percentage of reduction in the control, $Red5_S$ is the percentage of luminescence reduction in the sample at 5 minutes in relation to the luminescence at 0 minutes, and $Red5_C$ is the percentage of luminescence reduction in the control at 5 minutes in relation to the luminescence at 0 minutes.

Luminescence reduction at 15 minutes:

VfR15 = 100 x [(Red15_S - Red15_C) / (100 - Red15_C)]

Where *VfR15* is the percentage of Luminescence reduction after 15 minutes in each sample in relation to the percentage of reduction in the control, *Red15_S* is the percentage of luminescence reduction in the sample at 15 minutes in relation to the luminescence at 0 minutes, and *Red15_C* is the percentage of luminescence reduction in the control at 15 minutes in relation to the luminescence at 0 minutes.

In this case, values range from 0 for the samples that no presented toxicity, to 100 for the samples with the maximum toxicity. Values below 0 can occur when there stimulation of the study variable occurs (hormesis). In all cases, 3 samples were prepared and 3 repetitions were performed for each sample; 6 controls with distilled water were also included.

5.2.2. Bioaccumulation of metal(loid)s in plants

Sampling of plants was carried out according to the existing protocols from Malyuga (1963) and Talipov (1988). From each sample point two replicates of composite plant samples were collected in the vicinity of Chadak mining area and in the tailing dumps which coincided with sampling points of soil and tailings samples, respectively. Two dominant plants growing in natural conditions (without fertilizers or artificial irrigation) were collected: *Artemisia absinthium* in soils surrounding of the active tailing dump and in the abandoned tailing dump (Fig.25), and *Phragmites australis* directly growing on the tailings of the active tailing dump (Fig.26). In all cases, the aboveground biomass of the plants was selected.



Figure 25. Artemisia absinthium collected from soils surrounding AcT and AbT.



Figure 26. Phragmites australis collected from the tailings of the AcT.

5.2.2.1. Preparation of plant samples and analyses

Collected plants were dried at 70°C during 48 hours. The dry samples were placed in an aluminum dish and burned in the open air, and the charred mass was transferred to paper bags with the name of sample and sent to the laboratory for further analyses.

Dry ashes of plants were introduced in an electric muffle furnace at 450-500°C. The ashing was performed until the complete removal of organics (constant weight). The resulting ash was prepared to microwave acid digestion in a CEM MARS 230/60 Microwave Accelerated Reaction System. To conduct acid digestion 0.3 grams of sample were dissolved in 5 ml of a combination of nitric-hydrochloric acids (HNO₃– HCl) in a ratio 1:3. The final solution was analyzed for V, Cr, Mn, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Mo, Sn, Sb, Ba, and Pb by ICP-MS spectrometer (PE SCIEX ELAN-5000A), at the Scientific Instrumentation Center (CIC) of the University of Granada.

Results were presented as concentration (mg/kg dry weight) of pollutant in plants. Moreover, to estimate the degree of enrichment/transfer capacity of plants in relation to soil concentration, the bioaccumulation factor was calculated according to the following formula:

$$BF = [X_p] / [X_s]$$

Where *BF* is the bioaccumulation factor of the plant sample, [X_p] is the concentration (mg/kg) of the element "X" in plant, and [X_s] is the concentration (mg/kg) of the same element "X" in soil.

BF is a dimensionless value, representing the accumulation of a certain element in plant, where values below 1 indicate no accumulation and values above 1 indicate accumulation.

5.2.3. Bioaccessibility and human exposure assessment of metal(loid)s

A physiologically-based extraction test simulating was made for the analysis of metal bioaccessibility. A standard operating procedure for an *in vitro* bioaccessibility assay for lead and arsenic in soil (Ruby et al., 1996; EPA, 2017) was used to assess the potential hazard to human being from ingestion after the gastric phase of potentially toxic elements. After drying and sieving to 150 μ m, 1 gram of sample is rotated with 100 ml (0.1 L) of 0.4 M glycine buffered extraction fluid with hydrochloric acid (pH 1.50). Samples were extracted by rotating at 30 ± 2 rpm for 1 hour. The time that ingested material is present in the stomach (stomach emptying time) is about 1 hour for a child, so this time was considered as standard (EPA, 2007). The temperature of 37°C is used as standard because this is the approximate temperature of gastric fluid *in vivo* in humans; for this purpose, samples were placed in a water bath at this temperature (±2°C). A pH of 1.5 was selected because the highest amounts of lead and arsenic are extracted at this value compared with higher pHs (Brattin et al., 2013). The supernatant is separated from the sample by filtration with a 0.45-µm cellulose acetate disk filter and analyzed for metal(loid)s by a ICP-MS spectrometer (PE SCIEX ELAN-5000A), at the Scientific Instrumentation Center (CIC) of the University of Granada. A control blank was also measured, including the extraction fluid only. All samples were measured in triplicate.

Results were expressed as concentration (mg/kg) of element in soil potentially bioaccesible after gastric digestion. The reference sample used was CRM025-050, a sandy loam soil polluted with trace metals (Sigma-Aldrich RTC, 2011). Moreover, metal(loid)s bioaccessibility (BA) was calculated as the percentage of extractable element (after the gastric phase) to total concentration in sample, accoding to the following formula (Oomen et al., 2002):

BA (%) =
$$(C_g \times 100) / C_s$$

Where *BA* is the percentage of bioaccessibility of the element; C_g is the extractable concentration after the gastric digestion; and C_s is the total concentration in sample.

To assess the associated human health risk, average daily intake of metal(loid)s via ingestion route (ADI_{ing}) was calculated using the following formula (EPA, 1989):

$$ADI_{ing} = C_g x (IR x EF x ED) / (BW x AT)$$

Where C_g is the extractable concentration after the gastric digestion; *IR* is the ingestion rate; *EF* is the exposure frequency; *ED* is the exposure duration; *BW* is the average body weight; and *AT* is the average exposure time.

The human health risk was calculated according to the via of ingestion route for three different soil uses: 1) Industrial soil use (mining activity); 2) Urban use (separating between children and adults); and 3) Agricultural soil use. Exposure parameters used in this work (RD 9/2005; EPA, 2001) are presented in Table 16. Human health risk of metal(loid)s were determined by the hazard quotient (HQ) in a dose-response model according to the following formula (EPA, 1989):

$$HQ = ADI_{ing} / RfD$$

Where *HQ* is the hazard quotient of potentially pollutant metal(loid)s; *ADI*_{ing} is the average daily intake via ingestion route; and *RfD* is the oral reference dose that is unlikely to pose appreciable risks of deleterious effect during lifetime (Table 17).

When HQ < 1.0, the health risk is negligible; and when HQ > 1.0 some degree of risk exists.

Parameter		Industrial	Urban children/adult	Agricultural
Ingestion rate (g/day)	IR^*	0.02	0.05 / 0.02	0.05
Exposure frequency (day/year)	EF	250	350	350
Exposure duration (year)	ED	25	6 / 30	30
Average body weight (kg)	BW	70	15 / 70	70
Average exposure time (day)	AT	ED x 365	ED x 365	ED x 365

Table 16. Parameters values for calculation of associated human health risk for ingestion route in the three soils uses considered.

* According to EPA (2017a).

Table 17: Oral reference dose (RfD) in mg/kg according to EPA (2001).

Element	Cu	Zn	As	Sb	Pb
RfD (mg/kg)	0.14	0.30	3 x 10 ⁻⁴	4 x 10 ⁻⁴	0.0036

5.2.4. Statistical analysis

In all cases, the normality of the samples was first checked with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, and the homogeneity of the variance with the Levene test. In the cases in which the requirements of normality or homogeneity of variance were not met, the data was transformed logarithmically and checked again. If the requirements of normality and homocedasticity were met, a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was carried out taking into account the requirements of the test, in order to study the differences between treatments. As a method of multiple comparisons, the Tukey's test was applied. In the case of not meeting the requirements, nonparametric tests were applied, specifically the Kruscal-Wallis analysis. Pearson or Spearman correlation analysis was performed (for parametric and non-parametric data, respectively) to analyze the relationships of physicochemical properties on toxicity variables. An analysis of the main components rotated by the standardization method of Varimax with Kaiser was carried out to establish the relationship between sample properties, contaminants and their ecotoxicological effects. All analyzes were performed at a confidence level of 95%. For the statistical analyzes the statistical package SPSS 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA) was used.

5.3. Results and discussion

In this section the results related to the potential ecotoxicity in the main materials analyzed in Chadak mining area were presented. This assessment was carried out from three points of view: 1) Toxicity bioassays according to *Lactuca sativa* and *Vibrio fischeri* tests; 2) Potential accumulation of heavy metal(loid)s in plants; and 3) Bioaccessibility and human exposure assessment of potentially pollutant elements.

5.3.1. Toxicity bioassays

For the study of potential toxicity in the area according to the bioassays response, tailings from the abandoned tailing dump were selected because of the high concentration of metal(loid)s detected, which could be related to a high risk of pollution to the surrounding areas. The total concentration of metal(loid)s in these samples and their physicochemical properties are summarized in Table 18. According to this data, a first assessment of the potential pollution in these samples could be made by the comparison with regulatory levels. In this case, there is no published official regulatory levels for metal(loid)s in Uzbekistan, so we made a comparison with the regulatory levels in two countries of reference: Spain (Decree 18/2015 for polluted soils in Andalucía) and Holland (VROM, 2000).

According to these reference levels (Table 18), the studied samples exceed the intervention levels for some metal(loid)s. In the case of As, the concentration in tailings is very high and all samples exceed these levels, with maximum concentrations increasing more than 30-folds the value in Holland and 47-folds the value in Andalucía, which could indicate a high potential risk of toxicity according to the total concentrations. In the case of Sb, the concentration in tailings is also very high and many samples, with maximum concentrations increasing more than 100-folds the value in Holland and 17-folds the value in Andalucía, which could also

indicate a high potential risk of toxicity according to these total concentrations. The Pb concentrations were not exceeded the intervention values in Holland in any sample, and slightly exceeded these values in some cases, indicating a very low potential risk of toxicity for this element. Zn was not exceeded the intervention values used as reference in this work in any case, so there is no potential risk of toxicity for this element.

Table 18. Total concentration of main metal(loid)s and physicochemical properties in tailings from the abandoned tailing dump.

	ZnT	AsT	SbT	PbT	рН	EC	CEC	CaCO₃	ос	Clay	Silt	Sand
Sample		(mg/	/kg)			(dS/m)	(cmol₊/kg)			(%)		
Chd IV1a	143	376	341	106	8,3	0,129	7,2	7,0	0,3	12,0	23,4	64,6
Chd IV2a	273	1689	1507	386	7,0	0,922	5,0	4,0	0,5	8,4	28,1	63,5
Chd IV3a	223	672	544	188	8,0	0,958	5,0	5,0	0,2	10,0	34,5	55,5
Chd IV4a	181	98	180	195	8,0	0,405	4,8	10,0	0,1	8,3	28,7	63,0
Chd IV5a	257	450	55	366	8,0	0,407	3,9	14,0	0,2	9,1	42,2	48,8
Chd IV6a	202	245	81	220	8,0	0,165	3,5	14,0	0,1	7,6	35,5	56,9
R. Spain-And.	10000	36	90	275								
R. Holland	720	55	15	530								

R. Spain-And.: Intervention levels in Andalucía, Spain (Decree 18/2015); R. Holland: Intervention levels in Holland (VROM, 2000. Dutch list). EC: Electric conductivity; OC: Organic carbon.

5.3.1.1. Lactuca sativa bioassay

The results of the toxicity bioassay according to *Lactuca sativa* L. response in the tailing samples at the abandoned tailing dump are presented below. In the case of Seed germination (SG), the reliability indices established by the test protocol (> 90% of germination in the control samples) (OECD, 2006), determined that the control carried out with distilled water presented a value of 96.7%, indicating that this index was met. In the case of the studied samples, the pH and EC values are considered in the range for the growth of lettuce seeds (Valadez, 1997).

The results of the studied samples (Fig. 27) indicate high seed germination in all cases, with no significant differences (p>0.05) among samples. The similarity of these values with the control samples shows that no toxicity was detected according to SG. Anyway, a low degree of discrimination of this variable could be related with

the low availability of pollutant elements in relation to the soil properties. These relationships will be discussed below, but previous studies (Martín et al., 2012) reported that SG is a variable with a low degree of sensitivity under medium to low potentially toxic conditions.



Figure 27. Seed germination (SG) in tailing samples and in control (distilled water) showing no significant differences among samples and control.

In relation to the *Lactuca sativa* L. reduction of root elongation (LsR), the results are presented in Figure 28. Toxicity will be shown at positive values, indicating a reduction of the root elongation in relation to the control (distilled water). In the case of studied samples, no toxicity was detected in any tailing sample, and negative values (hormesis) were found in all cases, indicating a positive response in the root elongation in relation to the control.



Figure 28. Root elongation reduction (LsR) in tailing samples and in control (distilled water) showing negative values (no toxicity) in all cases.

In general, the low degree of toxicity detected in these samples, despite the high concentrations of potentially contaminating elements measured, is related to the low concentrations of soluble elements detected (see Chapter 4). In semi-arid environments, it is common that the total concentrations of metals do not correlate with those of their soluble fractions, differences that can be explained by the influence of soil properties (Romero-Freire et al., 2016). In this sense, As and Sb are metalloids that tend to accumulate in soils due to their low mobility (Yang et al., 2012; Nakamaru and Martín, 2017), and their solubility is more controlled by soil properties than for the total concentration detected (Martín et al., 2012; Romero-Freire et al., 2015). The properties studied with greater influence on the availability of As and Sb are pH, OC, iron oxides, clay content, calcium carbonate and CEC (Martín et al., 2012; Romero-Freire et al., 2014; Song et al., 2006; Nakamaru and Martín, 2017). Special is the case of pH in As, in which the presence of basic pH or a high content of calcium carbonate, could cause an increase in the solubility of some forms of As (Fleming et al., 2013; Simón et al., 2010), although in our study, the absence of toxicity observed in the two tests carried out, seems to indicate a low degree of solubility of As under these conditions.

5.3.1.2. Vibrio fischeri bioassay

The results of the toxicity bioassay with *Vibrio fischeri* in the tailing samples are similar to that obtained in the bioassay with *Lactuca sativa* in relation to the root elongation reduction (LsR). In the *Vibrio fischeri* bioassay, the influence of pH and EC should be tested, and according to our samples (pH: 7.90 ± 0.40 ; and EC: 0.50 ± 0.36) these values are within the recommended range for this toxicity bioassay (Onorati y Mecozzi, 2004). According to the toxicity bioassay with *Vibrio fischeri*, all samples showed a decrease in the luminescence in relation to the initial value, even in the control samples (distilled water), because this bacterium is from a marine environment, for this reason, the luminescence reduction was normalized according to the percentage of reduction in relation to the control (Martín et al. 2010).

The reduction of luminescence at 5 minutes indicated a slight reduction in relation to the control in two samples (Chd IV1a and Chd IV6a), but the differences were not statistically significant (p>0.05)in relation to the control sample (distilled water). For the other samples, a positive response indicated that the soil solution of these

samples stimulated bacterial activity (hormesis), and no toxicity was observed (Fig. 29).



Figure 29. *Vibrio fischeri* reduction at 5 minutes (LsR) in relation to the control (distilled water) in tailing samples showing no toxicity (hormesis) in all cases.

The reduction of luminescence at 15 minutes indicated no reduction in relation to the control in any sample and the differences were not statistically significant (p>0.05) in relation to the control sample (distilled water) (Fig. 30). Therefore, the luminescence after 15 minutes showed no toxicity and even an increase in the values over time was observed; this evolution is normal when no toxicity occurs and is reflected by an rise in the negative values in relation to the luminescence detected at 5 minutes.



Figure 30. *Vibrio fischeri* reduction at 15 minutes (LsR) in relation to the control (distilled water) in tailing samples showing no toxicity (hormesis) in all cases.

5.3.1.3. Influence of physicochemical properties and total concentration of metal(loid)s on toxicity bioassays

Finally, to obtain information about the relationships between the variables obtained in the toxicity bioassays, a factorial analyses was applied using all bioassays results, on one hand, and the total concentration of metal(loid)s and physicochemical properties, on the other hand. In this case the factorization type used was a principal component (PCA) which supposes that all of the variability of the data corresponds exclusively to common factors. We applied an orthogonal rotation of the axis (Varimax rotation) and obtained new groups of variables called components, which usually group the studied variables in accordance with common features and a percentage of variance explained (Pérez-López, 2002). The results of the PCA are shown in Figure 31. This analysis grouped the variables in two main Components explaining the 70.7% of the variance: Component 1 explaining the 47.8%, and Component 2 explaining the remaining 22.9% of the variance.



Figure 31. Principal component analysis (PCA), using Varimax rotation, among the variables in toxicity bioassays, total metal(loid)s concentration and physicochemical properties of the tailings.

According to these results, we can conclude that the absence of toxicity in the studied samples is directly related to some physicochemical properties that prevent and control the influence of metal(loid)s. In this way, seed germination (SG) of *Lactuca sativa* is closely grouped with clay content and cation exchange capacity (CEC), indicating the positive effect of these two variables in the reduction of the solubility of potentially polluted elements. The influence of these two variables in the mobility of metal(loid)s has been extensively studied (Kabata-Pendias, 2011; Romero-Freire, 2015a) and our results are in the line of these findings. Otherwise, pH is strongly grouped with the variables from the *Vibrio fischeri* bioassay (VfR5 and VfR15) and the *Lactuca sativa* root elongation reduction (LsR). The role of high pH conditions on the reduction of metal(loid)s toxicity has been extensively studied (Kabata-Pendias, 2011), although the presence of basic pH could cause an increase in the solubility of As (Fleming et al., 2013; Simón et al., 2010). In this way, despite of the high concentration of some elements (mainly As and Sb) our results indicate the absence of toxicity under these conditions.

5.3.2. Bioaccumulation of metal(loid)s in plants

In this section, the results of bioaccumulation of two dominant plants growing in the area are presented: *Artemisia absinthium* dominant in soils surrounding of the active tailing dump and in the abandoned tailing dump, and *Phragmites australis* directly growing on the tailings of the active tailing dump. The concentrations of the main micronutrients in plants are shown in Table 19, indicating a high range of variability between species and among the values measured for the same species.

The concentrations of micronutrients measured in plants showed significant differences (p<0.05) between both species. *A. absinthium* presented significant lower concentrations in Mn and significant higher concentrations in Ni than *P. australis*. The other micronutrients (Cu, Zn and Mo) did not presented significant differences between both species. Otherwise, *A. absinthium* showed significant differences among the different locations sampled, with significantly lower concentrations of Mn and Ni in the soil cover at the abandoned tailing dump (AbT).

Table 19. Mean concentration and range (mg/kg d.w.) of main micronutrients in plants collected in different sites of the study area (letters in brackets indicate statistically significant differences between samples; Tukey's test: p<0.05).

		Plant species		Mn	Ni	Cu	Zn	Мо
	Sail	Artemisia	Mean ± SD	1051±343 (bc)	29.6±7.3 (a)	214±62.9 (a)	528±347 (a)	14.2±7.9 (a)
	absinthium	Range	593-2142	11-49	110-332	262-1798	6-40	
ACT	Toiling	Phragmites	Mean ± SD	2214±543 (a)	7.7±1.2 (d)	149±240 (ab)	644±243 (a)	25.8±17.1 (b)
	railing	australis	Range	1641-2969	6-9	37-639	376-1005	9-49
46T	AbT Soil Cover	Artemisia	Mean ± SD	673±265 (c)	14.8±4.9 (c)	109±39.9 (b)	465±299 (a)	16.2±10.8 (ab)
ADT		absinthium	Range	361-1162	10-27	48-192	174-1217	3-44
Open pit	Open pit Artemisia wastes Soil absinthium area		Mean ± SD	1311±488 (b)	21.9±2.5 (b)	149±45.0 (ab)	431±140 (a)	17.3±8.6 (ab)
area			Range	717-2556	17-27	68-211	269-892	5-41
Backgr. Conc.		390	31	37	135	3		
Excessive or toxic values in plants *			400-1000	10-100	20-100	100-400	10-50	

* Kabata-Pendias (2011); Backgr. Conc.: Background concentration in unpolluted soils in the area.

The concentrations of micronutrients measured in plants showed significant differences (p<0.05) between both species. *A. absinthium* presented significant lower concentrations in Mn and significant higher concentrations in Ni than *P. australis*. The other micronutrients (Cu, Zn and Mo) did not presented significant differences between both species. Otherwise, *A. absinthium* showed significant differences among the different locations sampled, with significantly lower concentrations of Mn and Ni in the soil cover at the abandoned tailing dump (AbT). The comparison of these concentrations with the reported as "toxic values in plants" reported in Kabata-Pendias (2011), indicate that these plants are able to accumulate some metals in their aboveground biomass. In the case of *A. absinthium*, Mn is concentrated up to 2-fold, Cu 3-fold and Zn 4-fold in relation to the maximum toxic value for other plants; meanwhile in the case of *P. australis*, Mn is concentrated up to 3-fold, Cu 6-fold and Zn 2.5-fold in relation to the maximum toxic value for other plants.

The concentration of potentially toxic metal(loid)s in plants is presented in Table 20. These values showed significant differences (p<0.05) between both species and among the different location for the same specie (*A. absinthium*), with a high range of concentrations in all cases.

Table 20. Mean concentration and range (mg/kg d.w.) of non-essential elements in plants collected in different sites of the study area (letters in brackets indicate statistically significant differences between samples; Tukey's test: p<0.05).

	Plant species		V	Cr	As	Sb	Pb	
	Cail	Artemisia	Mean ± SD	33.7±13.6 (a)	21.5±7.5 (a)	7.2±3.1 (ab)	9.4±3.9 (a)	62.7±50.5 (a)
Sol	5011	absinthium	Range	3-57	7-35	2-15	3-17	25-228
ACT	Toiling	Phragmites australis	Mean ± SD	3.5±1.9 (c)	7.5±2.5 (b)	3.3±1.0 (a)	5.7±1.6 (a)	52.5±112 (a)
	Tailing		Range	2-7	5-11	2-5	4-8	4-282
4 L T	s. – Soil	Artemisia	Mean ± SD	15.1±7.9 (b)	8.7±3.3 (b)	54.2±89.9 (b)	21.8±30.3 (a)	22.3±10.0 (a)
ADI	Cover	absinthium	Range	6-30	4-14	5-341	7-121	14-51
Open pit	Cail	Artemisia	Mean ± SD	18.4±8.1 (b)	10.3±2.6 (b)	7.9±6.1 (ab)	12.9±2.4 (a)	26.7±9.4 (a)
area	area	absinthium	Range	10-35	7-17	3-26	10-18	15-43
Backgr. Conc.			131	51	15	4	48	
Excessive or toxic values in plants *			5-10	5-30	5-20	150	30-300	

* Kabata-Pendias (2011); Backgr. Conc.: Background concentration in unpolluted soils in the area.

A. absinthium presented significant (p<0.05) higher concentrations in V than P. australis. The other potentially pollutant elements(Cr, As, Sb and Pb) did not presented significant differences between both species. Otherwise, A. absinthium showed significant differences among the different locations sampled, with significantly higher concentrations of V and Cr in the soil surrounding the active tailing dump (AcT). The comparison of these concentrations with the reported as "toxic values in plants" reported in Kabata-Pendias (2011), indicate that these plants do not to accumulate high amounts of metal(loid)s in their aboveground biomass. In the case of *P. australis*, none of the metal(loid)s analysed are accumulated above the maximum toxic value for other plants. In the case of A. absinthium, the mean values of some elements slightly exceed the maximum toxic value for other plants, although in some individual plants, concentrations measured were up to 5.7-fold in the case of V, 1.2-fold for Cr and 17-fold for As, indicating a potential of this plant to accumulate As in its aboveground biomass. It is important to point out that the maximum concentration of As in A. absinthium was found in plants growing over the soil cover of the abandoned tailing dump (AbT), which could mean a potential risk of dispersion of this contaminant to the food chain, if appropriate preventive measures are not adopted.

The bioaccumulation factor (BF) of the plants is presented in Table 21, and was calculated from the ratio between the concentration (mg/kg) of the element in plant, and the concentration (mg/kg) of the same element in soil. According to these results, we found a different behavior between the two plant species studied. P. australis showed a BF<1 for Ni, V, Cr, As, Sb and Pb, which indicates a low transfer of these elements from the soil to the aboveground biomass. The other elements were bioaccumulated in low ratio for Zn and Mn (BF~2.5), moderate for Mo (BF~5.5) and high for Cu (BF~11). The comparison of our values with the BF reported by Bragato et al (2009) in degraded areas of North Italy, indicates that bioaccumulation of these elements are in the same range. P. australis is an invasive species frequently found in disturbed areas (Ye et al., 1997), and although is not considered as hyperaccumulator, it has a fast growing and high-biomass production, with a deep root system that can tolerate and/or accumulate a range of heavy metals in their aerial portion (Bragato et al., 2009). Otherwise, *P. australis* has also a very low (<<1) translocation factor (ratio of metal in aerial biomass in relation to roots) for most metals (Deng et al., 2004), which could indicate that trend to accumulate the metal pool into belowground biomass (Weis and Weis, 2004). In our case, this plant may be efficiently utilized for metal removal (mainly Cu) and, in any case, can also be used for phytostabilization of contaminated sites.

			Mn	Ni	Cu	Zn	Мо	V	Cr	As	Sb	Pb
АсТ	Soil	Artemisia absinthium	1.43	1.20	37.82	4.80	7.83	0.42	0.73	0.66	3.54	0.05
	Tailing	Phragmites australis	2.42	0.80	11.06	2.54	5.56	0.07	0.87	0.07	0.71	0.67
AbT	Soil Cover	Artemisia absinthium	1.34	1.03	3.74	4.27	9.55	0.19	0.30	1.07	2.53	0.55
Open pit wastes area	Soil	Artemisia absinthium	1.77	1.66	4.24	4.78	10.29	0.17	0.43	0.34	7.88	0.74

Table 21. Bioaccumulation factor (BF) of metal(loid)s in plant of the study area.

On the other hand, *A. absinthium* showed a BF<1 for Pb, V and Cr; and a BF~1 for Ni, As and Mn, which indicates a low transfer of these elements from the soil to the aboveground biomass. Other elements like Zn, Sb and Mo were bioaccumulated in a

moderate to high ratio (BF between 5 and 10); and Cu was the element with the highest bioaccumulation (BF~38). The total concentration of metal(loid)s in aboveground biomass of *A. absinthium* and the BF for most elements are in the range of values reported by Massa et al. (2010) in a polluted site in Italy. The potential use of this plant as possible agent in recovery of heavy metal contaminated soils was previously reported (Samkayeva et al., 2001; Lyubun and Tychinin, 2007), although little specific affinity between the potentially polluting elements has been reported. According to our results, *A. absinthium* can be considered as a suitable plant for phytoextraction of Cu, Zn and Sb in polluted areas. Moreover, the ability to accumulate potentially toxic elements in shoots or root of this plant, along with its tolerance to the contamination and good adaptation to the local environmental conditions (Massa et al., 2010), make this plant can be regarded as bioindicator of terrestrial ecosystem pollution (Samkayeva et al., 2001), as well as phytostabilizator in polluted areas.

5.3.3. Bioaccessibility and human exposure assessment

The bioaccessibility (BA) of metal(loid)s after gastric phase extraction strongly change depending on the element. According to results in Figure 32, bioaccessible metal(loid)s concentrations in tailings in descending order were as follows: Pb > Zn > Ni Cu As Co > Sb. The comparison of this sequence with the obtained in the standard reference material (CRM) indicates that the BA (%) of the potentially pollutant elements is completely different, although there were statistically significant differences in relation to the percentage of elements extracted only in the case of Zn, As and Sb; in these cases, the amount extracted was significantly lower in the tailings in relation to the reference polluted soil, indicating that these metal(loid)s are in less bioaccessible forms in relation to the soil.



Figure 32. Mean metal(loid)s bioaccessibility after gastric phase extraction in tailings and in reference material (CRM)

According to the total concentrations of metal(loid)s measured in tailings, the potentially pollutant elements considered for the assessment of human health risk were Cu, Zn, As, Sb and Pb. In the case of these elements, we calculated the average daily intake (ADI_{ing}) via ingestion route for three soil uses (Industrial, Urban and Agricultural), and the hazard quotient (HQ) by the ration between ADI_{ing} and the oral reference dose (RfD) that is unlikely to pose appreciable risks of deleterious effect during lifetime (Table 22).

The assessment of human health risk according to the hazard quotient indicate that the risk is negligible for Cu and Zn (HQ<1), but a high risk for human health occurs for As, Sb and Pb. The element with highest values of HQ was As, followed by Pb and Sb. Special high risk is detected in the case of urban soils exposed to children (gardens or parks) and in agricultural soils located close to the mining areas. The exposure of dust particles coming from the tailing dump could deposit variable amounts of potentially pollutant elements increasing the human health risk to the population living in nearby areas.

		Cu	Zn	As	Sb	Pb
Industrial	ADIing	0.0055	0.0091	0.0048	0.0006	0.0101
	HQ	0.04	0.03	15.94	1.60	2.80
Urban	ADI	0.0897	0.1483	0.0781	0.0105	0.1644
(children)	HQ	0.64	0.49	260.27	26.13	45.68
Urban	ADI	0.0077	0.0127	0.0067	0.0009	0.0141
(adults)	HQ	0.05	0.04	22.31	2.24	3.92
Agricultural	ADI	0.0192	0.0318	0.0167	0.0022	0.0352
	HQ	0.14	0.11	55.77	5.60	9.79

Table 22. Average daily intake (ADI_{ing}) via ingestion route and hazard quotient (HQ) for the potentially pollutant metalloids in three different soil uses.

In toxicological studies, calculations of exposure to soils contaminated with heavy metals assume that 100% of the elements in the soil is absorbed after the accidental ingestion of contaminated soil (Ruby et al., 1999) and based on this, the contaminant concentrations that must be reached in recovery work is fixed. Numerous studies carried out with materials from the mining activity and soils affected by it with high concentrations of lead and arsenic (Ruby et al., 1996, Kelley et al., 2002, Mercier et al., 2002, Oomen et al., 2002), show that contaminants in soil have lower solubility than in the environments in which toxicological studies are normally carried out, such as water or food, and therefore, the risk associated with the presence of the contaminant in the soil is overestimated (IHOBE, 1998; Oomen, 2003). Therefore, in the evaluation of exposure to a metal, it is necessary to take into account the matrix in which it is found.

In our study area, the most common minerals bearing metal(loid)s are sulphides. In this case, the elemental form and sulphides are usually less soluble in biological fluids (Ruby et al., 1999) and therefore, less bioavailable than oxides, hydroxides or carbonates of the same metal. In acidic soils (pH<5), products are formed that will be more stable in the acidic conditions of the stomach and therefore, less bioavailable (Juhasz, 2003); while the products that form in alkaline soils (pH>8) tend to have greater bioavailability. Under acidic conditions (pH<3), adsorption within the organic matter of arsenic can reduce its mobility in mining waste, while mobility can increase under alkaline conditions (pH>7) (Wang and Mulligan, 2009). Many metals, including

cadmium, lead, mercury and nickel, are usually associated with carbonates in alkaline soils, these being more bioavailable in the oral exposure route (Kientz et al., 2003). Soils with high concentrations of iron and manganese (> 3-5%) tend to have low bioavailability, due to adsorption processes on the surfaces of soil particles, especially in the case of arsenic. However, when we consider oral ingestion of fine dust the risk associated with As in mine wastes is different. Meunier et al. (2010) based on tailings samples from several abandoned gold mines in Nova Scotia, showed that As bioaccessibility depends on As mineralogy. In particular, relatively low As bioaccessibility exhibited by scorodite (FeAsO4.2H2O) and arsenopyrite (FeAsS), whereas samples containing Ca-Fe arsenate minerals, such as yukonite [Ca7Fe12(AsO4)10(OH)20+15H2O] have relatively high bioaccessibility. Higher As bioaccessibility associated with Ca-Fe arsenate could be related to the residual carbonate and the As-hosting Ca-bearing minerals present in tailings that dissolve more readily in the gastric fluid (Jamieson, 2011). Due to the fact, that yukonite like phases are observed in samples at the AbT in Chadak mine might therefore be considered the riskiest material.

5.4. Conclucion

The toxicity assessment in the Chadak mining area was made according to three approaches: Toxicity bioassays, Plant accumulation and Human health risk. The toxicity bioassay showed no risk of toxicity in the short-term, in this case, the test was made with the soluble-in-water phase, indicating that the metal(loid)s in tailings mainly associated to secondary phases related to carbonates and are iron/manganese forms that reduce the mobility and toxicity of these soluble phases. The plant accumulation results indicated that Artemisia absinthium can be considered as a suitable plant for phytoextraction of Cu, Zn and Sb in polluted areas, and *Phragmites australis* may be efficiently utilized for metal removal (mainly Cu) and, in any case, can also both be used for phytostabilization of contaminated sites. Finally, the human health risk assessment indicate a high potential of toxicity by accidental ingestion route for As, Sb and Pb. Special high risk was detected in the case of urban soils exposed to children (gardens or parks) and in agricultural soils. Therefore, the exposure of dust particles coming from the tailing dump could deposit variable amounts of potentially pollutant elements, increasing the human health risk

to the population living in nearby areas. The main implication of this study is the recommendation of remediation actions to mitigate or prevent the risk of toxicity to the population close to the mining area.

Part III

Conclusions

CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS

Chadak ore field is one of the main gold-producing sites in Uzbekistan. Abandoned and active tailing dumps with wastes enriched with metal(loid)s poses a potential pollution risk for this mining area and for populations living in the vicinity. As a result of this work following conclusions have been obtained:

- The total concentrations of As, Sb, Zn, and Pb exceeded the background concentrations in wastes at the active tailing (AcT) dump and in soils at abandoned tailings dump (AbT). Waste deposits at AbT have very high concentrations of As (mean > 1030 mg/kg) and Sb (mean > 920 mg/kg), exceeding intervention threshold values by 20- and 62-fold, respectively.
- 2. Physico-chemical properties of soils and tailing samples showed a moderate critical load of pollutants related to the alkaline pH and calcium carbonate, low EC, CEC and OC. Due to the moderate presence of calcium carbonate in the tailings, the net neutralization potential indicates that the active tailing dump is potentially acid generating, while the abandoned tailing dump is not. This is directly related to a higher amount of sulfide minerals with high acid potential in the AcT in relation to the AbT dump.

Mineralogical composition from selected soil and tailings materials obtained by XRD presented that samples were dominated by quartz, feldspars, calcite, micas and chlorite, and gives useful information in relation to the amount of neutralizing minerals (like calcite), although minerals bearing potentially pollutant elements are not detected by this technique. Otherwise, the results of the SEM-EDS analysis made on the tailings and open pit waste materials identified primary and secondary minerals consisting of sulfides, silicates and secondary precipitations of Fe and Mn oxyhydroxides. The presence of yukonite-like precipitation of Ca–Fe–As phases were also detected and could be related to potentially available forms of As.

3. The geochemical fractionation, made from single-extraction procedure, of trace elements in the tailing of the abandoned tailing dump shows differences in the mobility and availability of the main pollutants analyzed. Readily soluble or available forms were found for As and Sb, indicating a potential short-term dispersion of these pollutants to the surrounding areas. Otherwise, Zn, As and Pb presented a potential fraction that could be remobilised after acidification of the tailings, so long-term potential problems related to this process could be deduced.

The influence of physico-chemical properties is a key factor controlling the mobility and availability of potentially pollutant elements. In this sense, metal(loid)s behavior is directly related to tailing oxidation processes involving acidification and weathering of CaCO₃. Moreover, the CEC and texture (clay fraction) were the main properties controlling the soluble-in- water concentration of pollutants in the tailing in the short-term; while iron oxides are responsible of the retention in the long-term of the most potentially toxic elements (like As and Sb).

- 4. The plant accumulation results indicated that Artemisia absinthium can be considered as a suitable plant for phytoextraction of Cu, Zn and Sb in polluted areas, and Phragmites australis may be efficiently utilized for metal removal (mainly Cu) and, in any case, can also both be used for phytostabilization of contaminated sites.
- 5. The toxicity bioassay using Lactuca sativa and Vibrio fischeri showed no risk of toxicity in the short-term. In this case, the tests were made with the soluble-in-water phase, indicating that the metal(loid)s in tailings are mainly associated to secondary phases related to carbonates and iron/manganese forms that reduce the mobility and toxicity of these soluble phases.
- 6. Finally, the human health risk assessment indicate a high potential of toxicity by accidental ingestion route for As, Sb and Pb. Special high risk was detected in the case of urban soils exposed to children (gardens or parks) and in agricultural soils. Therefore, the exposure of dust particles coming from the tailing dump

could deposit variable amounts of potentially pollutant elements, increasing the human health risk to the population living in nearby areas. The main implication of this study is the recommendation of remediation actions to mitigate or prevent the risk of toxicity to the population close to the mining area.

Part IV

Bibliography

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adriano D. 1986. Trace elements in the terrestrial environment. Springer-Verlag.

- Aguilar, J., Dorronsoro, C., Galan, E., Gomez, L. 1999: Criterios y estandares para declarar un suelo como contaminado en Andalucia. Public. Universidad de Sevilla. 252 p.
- Aguilar, J., Dorronsoro, C., Fernández E., Fernández J., García I., Martín F., Sierra M., Simón M. 2006. Arsenic Contamination in Soils Affected by a Pyrite-mine Spill (Aznalcóllar, SW Spain). Water, Air and Soil Pollution, 180: 271–281.
- Aguilar, J., Gómez, J.L., Galán, E. 1999. Criterios y estándares para declarar un suelo contaminado en Andalucía y la metodología y técnicas de toma de muestra y análisis para su investigación. Consejería de Medio Ambiente de la Junta de Andalucía.
- Alexandratos, V.G., Elzinga, E.J., Reeder, R.J., 2007. Arsenate uptake by calcite: macroscopic and spectroscopic characterization of adsorption and incorporation mechanisms. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 71: 4172–4187.
- Alkorta, I., Becerril, J.M., Garbisu, C. 2010. Phytostabilization of metal contaminated soils.Reviews on Environmental Health, 25(2):135-46.
- Alkorta, I., Hernandez-Alica, J., Becerril, J.M., Amezaga, I., Albizu, I., Garbisu, C. 2004. Recent findings on the phytoremediation of soils contaminated with environmentally toxic heavy metals and metalloids such as zinc, cadmium, lead and arsenic. Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology, 3: 71-90.
- Alloway, B.J. 1995. (ed.) Heavy metals in solis. 2nd edition. Blackie Academic and Professional, London. England.
- Álvarez-Ayuso, E., García-Sánchez, A., Querol, X., Moyano, A., 2008. Trace element mobility in soils seven years after the Aznalcóllar mine spill. Chemosphere, 73: 1240-1246.
- Anju, M., Banerjee, D.K. 2010. Comparison of two sequential extraction procedures for heavy metal partitioning in mine tailings. Chemosphere, 78: 1393–1402.
- ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials). 2004. Standard test method for assessing the microbial detoxification of chemically contaminated water and soil using a toxicity test with a luminescent marine bacterium. ASTM, West Conshohocken, PA, D5660-5696.
- Averin, Yu.A. 1969. Geology of the Chadak ore field//Ore formations and main characteristics of the gold Metallogeny in Uzbekistan. Tashkent: Fan. 89-104. (in Russian).
- Averin, Yu.A., Azin, V.N., Vosheylo, S.O., Martinov, V.V. Moiseeva, M.I. 1972. Chadak ore field. In the book of "Ore fields of Karamazar", (2nd edition). Dushanbe, Irfon, 190-233. (in Russian).
- Aydinalp, C., Marinova, S. Distribution and forms of heavy metals in some agricultural soils. 2003. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies, 12(5): 629-633.
- AZUR Environmental 1998. The Microtox Acute Basic, DIN, ISO and Wet Test Procedure. Carlsbad, Calif, USA.
- Badea Delia Nica. 2015. Determination of potentially toxic heavy metals (Pb, Hg, Cd) in popular medicinal herbs in the coal power plant area. Revista de Chimie, 8(66): 1132-1136.
- Bagur, M.G., Estepa, C., Martín, F., Morales, S. 2010. Toxicity assessment using *Lactuca sativa* L. bioassay of the metal(loid)s As, Cu, Mn, Pb and Zn in soluble-in-water saturated soil extracts from an abandoned mining site. Journal Soils Sediments 11: 281–289.
- Baker, A.J.M. 1981. Accumulators and excluders strategies in the response of plants to heavy metals. Journal Plant Nutrition, 3:643-654.
- Banik, G.C., Sanyal, S.K. 2016. Evaluation of inorganic fractions of arsenic in relation to soil properties in affected areas of West Bengal, India. Current Science., 111: 1371-1377.
- Barceló, J., Poschenrieder, C. 2003. Phytoremediation: principles and perspectives. Contributions to Science, 2(3): 333-344. Institut d'Estudis Catalans, Barcelona.

- Barkhudarov, V.A. 1975. On the characterization of metasomatites in gold deposit Chadak (Kurama mountain range) / Tashkent State University. - Tashkent. 484: 33-36. (in Russian).
- Beckett, P.H.T. 1989. The use of extractants in studies on trace metals in soils, sewage sludge, and sludge-treated soils. In Advances in Soil Science. B.A. Stewart (ed.) Springer-Verlag., 9:143-176. New York.
- Bhattacharya, A., Routh, J., Jacks, G., Bhattacharya, P., Mörth, M. 2006. Environmental assessment of abandoned mine tailings in Adak, Västerbotten district (northern Sweden). Applied Geochemistry, 21: 1760-1780.
- Birkefeld, A.; Schulin, R.;Nowack, B. 2006. In situ investigation of dissolution of heavymetal containing mineral particles in an acidic forest soil. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta, 70(11): 2726-2736.
- Blaylock, M.J., Huang, J.W. 2000. Phytoextraction of metals. In: Raskin I, Ensley B (eds) Phytoremediation of toxic metals—using plants to clean up the environment. Wiley– Interscience, New York, 53–56.
- Bohn, H.L.; McNeal. B.L. & O'Connor, G.A. 1985. Soil Chemistry. Wiley Interscience, New York, USA.
- Bourg, A.C.M., Loch, J.P.G. 1995. Mobilization of Heavy Metals as Affected by pH and Redox Conditions. In: Salomons W. et al. (eds.), Biogeodynamics of Pollutants in Soils and Sediments. Springer-Verlag Berlin, Germany. 88-102.
- Boussen, S., Soubrand, M., Bril, H., Ouerfelli, K., Abdeljaouad, S. 2013. Transfer of lead,zinc and cadmium from mine tailings to wheat (Triticumaestivum) in carbonated Mediterranean (Northern Tunisia) soils. Geoderma, 192: 227-236.
- Bragato, C., Schiavon, M., Polese, R., Ertani, A., Pittarello, M., Malagoli, M. 2009. Seasonal variations of Cu, Zn, Ni and Cr concentration in *Phragmites australis* (Cav.) Trin ex steudel in a constructed wetland of North Italy. Desalination, 247: 36-45.
- Brattin, W., Drexler, J., Lowney, Y., Griffin, S., Diamond, G., Woodbury, L. 2013. An *in vitro* method for estimation of arsenic relative bioavailability in soil.J Toxicol. Environ. Health, Part A: Current Issues 76(7):458–478.
- Breward, N., Williams, M., Bradley, D. 1996. Comparison of alternative extraction methods for determining particulate metal fractionation in carbonate-rich Mediterranean soils. Applied Geochem., 11: 101-104.
- Cameron, R.E. 1992. Guide to site and soil description for hazardous waste site characterization, vol. 1: Metals. EPA /600/4-91/029. USEPA.
- Casiot, C., Ujevic, M., Munoz, M., Seidel, J.L., Elbaz-Poulichet, F., 2007. Antimony and arsenic mobility in a creek draining an antimony mine abandoned 85 years ago (upper Orb basin, France). Applied Geochemistry, 22: 788–798.
- Chen, T.B., Zheng, Y.M., Lei, M., Huang, Z.C., Wu, H.T., Chen, H., Fan, K.K., Yu, K., Wu, X., Tian, Q.Z. 2005. Assessment of heavy metal pollution in surface soils of urbanparks in Beijing, China. Chemosphere, 60:542-551.
- Chiang, K.Y., Lin, K.C., Lin, S.C., Chang, T.K., Wang, M.K. 2010. Arsenic and lead (beudantite) contamination of agricultural rice soils in the Guandu Plain of northern Taiwan. Journal OfHazardous Materials, 181(1-3): 1066-1071
- Chlopecka, A., Bacon, J.R., Wilson, M.J., Kay, J. 1996. Heavy metals in the environment. J. Environ. Qual., 25:69-79.
- Clemente, R., Dickinson, N.M., Lepp N.W. 2008. Mobility of metals and metalloids in a multielement contaminated soil 20 years after cessation of the pollution source activity. Environ. Pollut., 155:254–261.
- Collon, P, Fabriol.R, Buès, M. 2006. Modelling the evolution of water quality in abandonedmines of the Lorraine Iron Basin. Journal of Hydrology (DOI:10.1016/j. hydrol.2006.01.005).
- Dang, Z., Liu, C. Q. and Martin, J. H. 2002. Mobility of heavy metals associated with the natural weathering of coal mine spoils. Environmental Pollution, 118: 419–426.
- Decreto 18/2015, de 27 de enero, por el que se aprueba el reglamento que regula el régimen aplicable a los suelos contaminados. BOJA 38: 28-64.

- Deng, H., Ye, Z.H., Wong, M.H. 2004. Accumulation of lead, zinc, copper and cadmium by 12 wetland plant species thriving in metal-contaminated sites in China. Environmental Pollution, 132: 29-40.
- Di Benedetto, F., Costagliola, P., Benvenuti, M., Lattanzi, P., Romanelli, M., Tanelli, G., 2006. Arsenic incorporation in natural calcite lattice. Evidence from electron spin echo spectroscopy. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 246: 458–465.
- Díez, M., Giska, I., Groot, M., Borgman, E.M., Van Gestel, C.A.M. 2010. Influence of soil properties on molybdenum uptake and elimination kinetics in the earthworm *Eisenia* andrei. Chemosphere, 80: 1036–1043.
- Díez, M., Simón, M., García, I. et al. 2009. Water Air Soil Pollut, 199: 381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-008-9886-6.
- DIN (Deutsches Intitut für Normung Hrgs.) 19730. 1997. Extraktion von Spurelementen mit Ammoniumnitratlösung. Bodenbeschaffenheit. Beuth Verlag, E DIN 19730, Berlin.
- Dold Bernhard. 2010. Basic concepts in environmental geochemistry of sulfidic mine-waste management. A book chapter in: Waste Management, edited by Sunil Kumar. pp.232.
- Dold, B., Wade, C. and Fontbote, L. 2009. Water management for acid mine drainage control at the polymetallic Zn-Pb-(Ag-Bi-Cu) deposit of Cerro de Pasco, Peru. Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 100(2-3): 133-141.
- Dudka, S., Adriano, D.C., 1997. Environmental impacts of metal ore mining and processing: a review. J. Environ. Qual. 26, 590–602.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2017. Standard Operating Procedure for an *in vitro* Bioaccessibility Assay for Lead and Arsenic in Soil. OLEM (Office of Land and Emergency Management) 9200.2-164.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2017a. Exposure Factors Handbook Chapter 5 (Update): Soil and Dust Ingestion. US EPA Office of Research and Development, Washington, DC, EPA/600/R-17/384F.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency) 2009. National Primary Drinking Water Regulations. EPA 816-F-09-004. FSTRAC, Washington.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2007. Guidance for Evaluating the Oral Bioavailability of Metals in Soils for Use in Human Health Risk Assessment. OSWER 9285.7-80.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency) 2004. Guidelines for water reuse. EPA/625/R-04/108. USAID, Washington.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2001. Supplemental Guidance for Developing Soil Screening Levels for Superfund sites. Washington, DC 20460.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1996. Ecological effects test guidelines. Seed germination/root elongation toxicity test. OPPTS 850.4200.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 1989. Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund. Human Health Evaluation Manual, (Part A) [R] vol. 1. Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, Washington, DC ([EPA/540/1-89/002]).
- Ettler, V., Johan, Z., Kribek, B., Sebek, O., Mihaljevic, M. 2009. Mineralogy and environmental stability of slags from the Tsumeb smelter, Namibia. Appl Geochem, 24:1–15.
- Evangelou, M.W.H., Hockmann, K., Pokharel, R., Jakob, A., Schulin, R. 2012. Accumulation of Sb, Pb, Cu, Zn and Cd by various plants species on two different relocated military shooting range soils, J. Environ. Manage., 108: 102–107.
- Ewers, W., 1991. Standards, guidelines and legislative regulatory concerning metals and their compounds. In: Merian, E. (Ed.), Metals and Their Compounds in the Environment. VCH Publishers, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 707–711.
- Fageria, N.K., Baligar, V.C., Clark, R.B. 2002. Micronutrients in crop production. Advances in Agronomy, 77: 185-268.
- Farré, M., Barceló, D. 2003. Toxicity testing of wastewater and sewage sludge by biosensors, bioassays and chemical analysis. Trends in Analytical Chemistry 22 (5): 299–310.
- Fendorf, S.E. 1995. Surface reactions of chromium in soils and waters. Geoderma, 67: 55-71.
- Fijalkowski, K., Kacprzak, M., Grobelak, A., Placek, A. 2012. The influence of selected soil parameters on the mobility of heavy metals in soils. Inzynieria i Ochrona Srodowiska, 15(1): 81-92.
- Filella, M., Belzile, N., Chen, Y., 2002a. Antimony in the environment: a review focused on natural waters I. Occurrence. Earth Science Reviews, 57: 125–176.
- Filimonov, A.E. 2009. Ekologicheskie aspekti proizvodstva (Environmental aspects of industry). Gorniy Vestnik Uzbekistana, 38: 98-101.
- Finžgar, N., Tlustoš, P., Leštan, D. 2007. Relationship of soil properties to fractionation, bioavailability and mobility of lead and zinc in soil. Plant Soil Environ., 53: 225–238.
- Fitamo Daniel, Leta Seyoum. 2010. Assessment of plants growing on gold mine wastes for their potential to remove heavy metals from contaminated soils. International Journal of Environmental Studies, 67 (5): 705-724.
- Fleming, M., Tai, Y., Zhuang, P., McBride, M.B. 2013. Extractability and bioavailability of Pb and As in historically contaminated orchard soil: Effects of comport amendments. Environmental Pollution, 177: 90-97.
- Fotovat, A.; Naidu, R. 1998. Changes in composition of soil aqueous phase influencechemistry of indigenous heavy metals in alkaline sodic and acidicsoils. Geoderma, 84(1): 213-234.
- Fred, G. Bell & Laurance, J. Donnelly. 2006. Mining and its impact on the environment. Taylor & Francis.
- Fu Zhiyou, Wu Fengchang, Mo Changli, Deng Qiujing, Meng Wei, Giesy John P. 2016. Comparison of arsenic and antimony biogeochemical behavior in water, soil and tailings from Xikuangshan, China. Science of the Total Environment, 539: 97-104.
- Gadd, J.M. 2008. Transformation and mobilization of metals, metalloids, and radionuclides by microorganisms. In: A. Violante, P.M. Huang, G.M. Gadd. (eds). Biophysico-Chemical Processes of Metals and Metalloids in Soil Environments. Wiley-Jupac Series, Vol 1 John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NY pp: 53-96.
- Gadepalle, V.P., Ouki S.K., Van Herwijnen, R., Hutchings T. 2007. Immobilization of heavy metals in soil using natural and waste materials for vegetation establishment on contaminated sites. Soil Sedim Contam, 16:233–251.
- Galán Huertos, E., Romero, A. 2008. Contaminación de Suelos por metales pesados. Macla, 10: 48-60.
- Gang, W., Hubiao, K., Xiaoyang, Z., Hongbo, S., Liye, C., Chengjiang, R. 2010. A critical review on the bio-removal of hazardous heavy metals from contaminated soils: Issues, progress, eco-environmental concerns and opportunities. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 174: 1-8.
- García-Carmon, M., Romero-Freire, A., Sierra Aragón, M., Martínez Garzón, F.J., Martín Peinado, F.J. 2017. Evaluation of remediation techniques in soils affected by residual contamination with heavy metals and arsenic. Journal of Environmental Management, 191: 228-236.
- García, I., Díez, M., Martín, F., Simón, M., Dorronsoro, C., 2009. Mobility of arsenic and heavy metals in a sandy-loam textured and carbonated soil. Pedosphere, 19: 166-175.
- García-Rizo, C., Martínez-Sánchez, J., Pérez-Sirvent, C. 1999. Environmental transfer of zinc in calcareous soils in zones near old mining sites with semiaridic climate. Chemosphere, 39(2): 209-227.
- Ge, Y., Murray, P., Sauvé, S., Hendershot, W. 2002. Low metal bioavailability in a contaminated urban site. Enviran. Toxicol. Chem., 21: 954-961.
- Gibbs, H.K., Salmon, J.M. 2015. Mapping the world's degraded lands. Applied Geography, 57: 12-21.
- Gintzburger, G., Toderich, K.N., Mardonov, B.K., Mahmudov, M.M. 2003. Rangelands of the arid and semi -arid zones in Uzbekistan. CIRAD, ICARDA.

- Gleyzes Christine, Tellier Sylvaine, Astruc Michel. 2002. Fractionation studies of trace elements in contaminated soils and sediments: a review of sequential extraction procedures. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry., 21(6-7): 451-467.
- Glick, BR. 2003. Phytoremediation: synergistic use of plants and bacteria to clean up the environment. Biotechnol Adv, 21: 383–93.
- GOST 17.4.1.02-83. 1983. Environmental Protection, Classification of Chemical Substances for Pollution Control Standart, Moscow. (in Russian)
- Gray, N. 1997. Environmental Impact and Remediation of Acid Mine Drainage: A Management Problem. Environmental Geology, 30(1): 62-71.
- Gryschko, R., Kuhnle, R., Terytze, K., Breuer, J., Stahr, K. 2005. Soil Extraction of Readily Soluble Heavy Metals and As with 1 M NH₄NO₃-Solution - Evaluation of DIN 19730. Journal of Soils and Sediments, 5(2): 101-106.
- Hamel, S.C., Ellickson, K.M., Lioy, P.J. 1999. The estimation of the bioaccessibility of heavy metals in soils using artificial biofluids by two novel methods: mass-balance and soil recapture. The Science of the Total Environment, 243/244: 273-283.
- Hamilton, E.I. 2000. Environmental variables in a holistic evaluation o fland contaminatedby historic mine wastes:astudy of multi-element mine wastes in West Devon ,Englandusing arsenic as an element of potential concern to human health. The Science of the Total Environment, 249: 171-221.
- Hayes, S., Webb, S., Bargar, J., O'Day, P., Maier, R., Chorover, J. 2012. Geochemical weathering increases lead bioaccessibility in semi-arid mine tailings. Environ. Sci. Technol., 46: 5834–5841.
- He, 2007. Distribution and phytoavailability of antimony at an antimony mining and smelting area, Hunan, China. Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 29: 209–219.
- Hou, H., Takamatsu, T., Koshikawa, M.K., Hosomi, M., 2006. Concentrations of Ag, In, Sn, Sb and Bi, and their chemical fractionation in typical soils in Japan. European Journal of Soil Science, 57: 214–227.
- Hudson-Edwards, K. A., Dold B. 2015. Mine Waste Characterization, Management and Remediation. Minerals, 5 (1): 82-85.
- Hudson-Edwards, Karen A., Jamieson, Heather E., Lottermoser Bernd G. 2011. Mine wastes: Past, Present, Future. Elements, 7: 375-380.
- Iannacone, O., Alvariño F., L. 2005. Efecto ecotoxicológico de tres metales pesados sobre el crecimiento radicular de cuatro plantas vasculares. Agricultura Técnica (Chile), 65(2):198-203.
- Iannacone, J., Alvariño, L., Caballero, C., Sánchez, J. 2000. Cuatro ensayos ecotoxicológicos para evaluar lindano y clorpirifos. Gayana, 64:139-146.
- Iavazzo Pietro, Adamo Paola, Boni Maria, Hillier Stephen, Zampella Mariavittoria. 2012. Mineralogy and chemical forms of lead and zinc in abandoned mine wastes and soils: An example from Morocco. Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 113: 56–67.
- IHOBE, S. A. 1998. Manual Práctico. Investigación de la contaminación del suelo. Departamento de Ordenación del Territorio, Vivienda y Medio Ambiente, Gobierno Vasco, Vitoria-Gasteiz.
- IHOBE, S. A. 1994. Guía metodológica de investigación de la contaminación del suelo. Departamento de Ordenación del Territorio, Vivienda y Medio Ambiente, Gobierno Vasco, Vitoria-Gasteiz.
- Jamieson, Heather E. 2011. Geochemistry and mineralogy of solid mine waste: essential knowledge for predicting environmental impact. Elements, 7: 381-386.
- Jiang, L., Yang, X. E., He, Z. L. 2004. Growth response and phytoextraction of copper at different levels in soils by *Elsholtzia splendens*. Chemosphere, 55(9): 1179-1187.
- Jiménez Ballesta, R., Sánchez Cabrero, B., Sverdrup, H. 1996. Critical acid loads for different soils of the Mediterranean environment. The Science of the Total Environment, 181: 65-71.
- Jones, H.,Boger, D.V. 2012. Sustainability and Waste Management in the Resource Industries.Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research, 51: 10057-10065.

- Juhasz, A.L., Smith, E., Smith, J., Naidu, R. 2003. Influence of Soil pH and Iron Content on Arsenic Bioaccessibility. Proc. 7th Intern. Conf. on the Biogeochem. of Trace Elements. Uppsala. 106-107.
- Jung, M.C. 2001. Heavy metal contamination of soils and waters in and around the Imcheon Au-Ag mine, Korea. Applied Geochemistry, 16: 1369–1375.
- Jung, M.C. 2008. Heavy Metal Concentrations in Soils and Factors Affecting Metal Uptake by Plants in the Vicinity of a Korean Cu-W Mine. Sensors, 8: 2413-2423.
- Kabata-Pendias, A. 2011. Trace Elements in Soils and Plants (4th edition) CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Kelley, M.E., Brauning, S.E., Schoof, R.A., Ruby, M.V. 2002. Assessing oral bioavailability of metals in soil. Battelle Press. Columbia, Ohio.
- Kempton, H. and Atkins, D. 2000, 'Delayed Environmental Impacts from Mining in Semi-Arid Climates', in Proceedings from the 5th International Conference on Acid Rock Drainage ICARD 2000, Society for Mining Metallurgy and Exploration, Inc. Denver, CO, U.S.A., May 2000, 1299–1308.
- Khan, A.G., Kuck, C.T., Chaudhry, M., Khoo, C.S., Hayes, W.J. 2000. Role of plants, mycorrhizae and phytochelators in heavy metal contaminated land remediation. Chemosphere, 21:197–207.
- Kientz, K., Jiménez, B.D., Pérez, L., Rodríguez-Sierra, C.J. 2003. In Vitro Bioaccessibility of Metals in Soils from a Superfund Site in Puerto Rico. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 70: 927-934.
- Kodirov, O., Martín, F., Shukurov, N., Pulatov, A., Romero-Freire, A. 2014. Assessment of potential contamination of trace elements in Chadak mining area, Uzbekistan. Revista de la Sociedad Espanola de Mineralogia. Macla, 19.
- Kovacs, A., Dubbin, W.E. Tamas, J. 2006. Influence of hydrology on heavy metal speciationand mobility in a Pb-Zn mine tailing. Environmental Pollution, 141(2): 310-320.
- Kuldashev, A.G., Abdurahmanov, A.A. 2009. Chadak deposits firstborns of the gold industry of the Republic of Uzbekistan (in Russian). Gorniy Vestnik Uzbekistana, 38: 44-47.
- Kulshreshtha, A., Agrawal, R., Barar, M., Saxena, S. 2014. A review on bioremediation of heavy metals in contaminated water. IOSR L. Environ. Sci. Toxicol. Food Technol., 8 (7): 44-50.
- Lawrence, R.W., Scheske, M., 1997. A method to calculate the neutralization potential of mining wastes. Environ. Geol., 32: 100–106.
- Letolie, R., Mainguet M. 1993. Aral. Paris: Springer-Verlag France.
- Li Xiangdong, Iain Thornton. 2001. Chemical partitioning of trace and major elements in soils contaminated by mining and smelting activities. Applied Geochemistry, 16(15): 1693-1706.
- Lors, C., Ponge, JF, Martínez Aldaya, M., Damidot, D. 2011. Comparison of solid and liquidphase bioassays using ecoscores to assess contaminated soils. Environmental Pollution 159: 2974-2981.
- Lottermoser, B.D. 2010. Mine Wastes. Characterization, Treatment and Environmental Impacts. 3rd ed., Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.
- Lu Xiancai and Wang Hongmei. 2012. Microbial oxidation of sulfide tailings and the environmental consequences. Elements, 8: 119-124.
- Lyubun, Y.V., Tychinin, D.N. 2007. Phytoremediation in Russia. Chapter 29: 423-434. In: Methods in Biotechnology, vol. 23: Phytoremediation: Methods and Reviews Edited by: N. Willey © Humana Press Inc., Totowa, NJ.
- Majidov, T.M., Egamberdyev, A.A. 1992. Features of the localization of gold mineralization in Chadak ore field // Geol. Journ. of Uzb., 3-4: 47-54. (in Russian).
- Maiz, I., Arambarri, I., Garcia, R., Millan, E. 2000. Evaluation of heavy metal availability in polluted soils by two sequential extraction procedures using factor analysis. Environ. Pollut., 110: 3–9.

- Malyuga, D.M. 1963. Biogeochemical method of prospecting ore deposits (The principle and practice of prospecting). USSR Academy of Sciences. Moscow. (in Russian).
- MAPA, 1994. Métodos Oficiales de Análisis. Tomo III Secretaría General Técnica del Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación (MAPA), Madrid, Spain.
- Marañes, C. A.; Sánchez, G. J. A.; De Haro, L. S.; Sánchez, G. S. T.; Del Moral, T. F. 1998. Análisis de suelos: Metodología e interpretación. Almería, España.
- Marguí, E., Salvadóa, V., Queralt, I., Hidalgo, M. 2004. Comparison of three-stage sequential extraction and toxicity characteristic leaching tests to evaluate metal mobility in mining wastes. Analytica Chimica Acta, 524: 151–159.
- Martín, F., Romero-Freire, A., García, I., Sierra, M., Ortiz, I., Simón, M. 2015. Contamination in a recovered area affected by mining spill. Science of the Total Environment, 514: 219-223.
- Martín, F., Romero, A., Arco, E., Sierra, M., Ortiz, I., Abbaslou, H. 2012. Assessment of arsenic toxicity in spiked soils and water solutions by the use of bioassays. Spanish Journal of Soil Science, 2: 45-56.
- Martín, F., Escoto, M., Fernández, J., Fernández, E., Arco, E., Sierra, M., Dorronsoro, C. 2010. Toxicity assessment of sediments with natural anomalous concentrations in heavy metals by the use of bioassay. International Journal of Chemical Engineering. doi:10.1155/2010/101390.
- Martín, F., Simón, M., Arco, E., Romero, A., Dorronsoro, C. 2011. Arsenic behaviour in polluted soils after remediation activities. In: Hernandez-SorianoMC (ed) Soil health and land use management. InTech, Rijeka, 201–216.
- Martín, F., Diez, M., García, I., Simón, M., Dorronsoro, C., Iriarte, Á. 2007. Weathering of primary minerals and mobility of major elements in soils affected by an accidental spill of pyrite tailing. Sci Total Environ., 378:49–52.
- Martínez Sánchez, M.J., Pérez Sirvent, C. 2013. Diagnostico y recuperación de la contaminación del suelo en Portmán- Sierra Minera. En: I. Baños González y P. Baños Páez (Eds.), Portmán: De el Portus Magnus del Mediterráneo Occidental a la Bahía Aterrada, Murcia: Editum. 313-340.
- Martínez Sánchez, M.J., Pérez Sirvent, C., García Rizo, C. 1996. Errores de evaluación de riesgos en la movilización de metales pesados en suelos carbonatados. Comunicaciones técnicas: III Congreso de Medio Ambiente. Colegio Oficial de Físicos-Unión Profesional-APROMA, Madrid. 1053-1101.
- Massa, N., Andreucci, F., Poli, M., Aceto, M., Barbato, R., Berta, G. 2010. Screening for heavy metal accumulators amongst autochtonous plants in a polluted site in Italy. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 73: 1988–1997.
- Matschullat, J., Ottenstein, R., Reimann, C. 2000. Geochemical background can we calculate it? Environ. Geol., 39: 990 –1000.
- McCarty, D.K., Mome, J.N., Marcus, W.A. 1998. Mineralogy and trace element association in an acid mine drainage iron oxide precipitate; comparison of selective extractions. Applied Geochem., 13: 165-176.
- McLean, J.E., Bledsoe, B.E. 1996. Behavior of metals in soils. In: Boulding, J.R. (Ed.). EPA Envrionmental assessment sourcebook. 19-49. Ann Arbor Press, Inc. Chelsea, MI.
- Mercier, G., Duchesne, J., Carles-Gibergues, A. 2002. A simple and fast screening test to detect soils polluted by lead. Environmental Pollution, 118: 285-296.
- Meunier, L., Wlaker, S.R., Wragg, J., Parsons, M.B., Koch, I., Jamieson, H.E., Reimer, K.J. 2010. Effects of soil composition and mineralogy on the bioaccessibility of arsenic from tailings and soil in gold mine districts in Nova Scotia. Environmental Science and Technology, 44: 2667-2674.
- Mirkamalov, R.H., Golovanov, I.M. Chirikin, V.V. Phadeicheva, L.P. Mirkamalova G.H. 2011. Atlas of ore deposits models of Uzbekistan. Tashkent. GP "NIIMR". 100.
- Moiseeva, M.I. Mineralogy of gold ore veins of the Chadak ore field. 1969. Ore formations and the main features of the metallogeny of gold in Uzbekistan. Tashkent, Fan. 104-118.

- Moosavi, G., Seghatoleslami, M, J. 2013. Phytoremediation: A review. Adv. Agri. Biol., 1(1): 5-11. (in Russian).
- Nakamaru, Y., Martín Peinado, F.J. 2017. Effect of soil organic matter on antimony bioavailability after the remediation process. Environmental Pollution, 228: 425-432.
- Navarro, M.C. 2004. Movilidad y Biodisponibilidad de Metales Pesados en el Emplazamiento Minero Cabezo Rajao (Murcia). Tesis Doctoral. Universidad de Murcia.
- Pérez-Sirvent, C., Martínez-Sánchez, M.J., Vidal, J., Sánchez, A. 2003. The role of lowquality irrigation water in the desertification of semi-arid zones in Murcia, SE Spain. Geoderma, 113: 109-125.
- Nriagu, JO., Bhattacharya, P., Mukherjee, A.B., Bundschuh, J., Zevenhoven, R., Loeppert, R.H. 2007. Arsenic in soil and groundwater: an introduction. In: Bhattacharya P, Mukherjee AB, Bundschuh J, Zevenhoven R, Loeppert RH, editors. Arsenic in soil and groundwater environment: biogeochemical. interactions, health effects and remediation. Trace Metals and other Contaminants in the Environment, Amsterdam: Elsevier. 9: 1-58.
- Nyamangara, J., 1998. Use of sequential extraction to evaluate zinc and copper in a soil amended with sewage sludge and inorganic metal salts. Agri. Ecosyst.Environ. 69, 135-141.
- Odintsova, E.A., Toyniontsova, T.B. (Eds.) 1999. Soil map of Uzbekistan. Main office of the Geodesy, Mapping and Government Cadastre, Cabinet of Minister of The Republic of Uzbekistan. Tashkent Mapping Factory.
- OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). 2003. OECD Guideline for the testing of chemicals. Proposal for updating guideline 208. Terrestrial Plant Test: 208: Seedling Emergence and Seedling Growth Test.
- Oomen, A.G., Rompelberg, C.J.M., Bruil, M.A., Dobbe, C.J.G., Pereboom, D.P.K.H., Sips, A.J.A.M. 2003. Development of an *In Vitro* Digestion Model for Estimating the Bioaccessibility of Soil Contamination. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 44: 281-287.
- Oomen AG, Hack A, Minekus M, Zeijdner E, Cornelis C, Schoeters G, Verstraete W, van de Wiele T, Wragg J, Rompelberg CJM, Sips AJAM, van Wijnen JH. 2000. Comparison of five in vitro digestion models to study the bioaccessibility of soil contaminants. Environ. Sci. Technol., 36:3326–3334.
- Onorati, F., Mecozzi, M. 2004. Effects of two diluents in the Microtox toxicity bioassay with marine sediments. Chemosphere, 54(5): 679–687.
- Oomen, A.G., Hack, A., Minekus, M., Zeijdner, E., Cornelis, C., Schoeters, G., Verstraete, W., Van de Wiele, T., Wragg, J., Rompelberg, C.J., 2002. Comparison of five *in vitro* digestion models to study the bioaccessibility of soil contaminants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 36 (15): 3326-3334. Oomen, A.G., Hack, A., Minekus, M., Zeijdner, E., Cornelis, C., Schoeters, G., Verstraete, W., Van de Wiele, T., Wragg, J., Rompelberg, C.J., 2002. Comparison of five *in vitro* digestion models to study the bioaccessibility of soil contaminants. Environ. Sci. 3326-3334.
- Otones, V., Alvarez-Ayuso, E., Garcia-Sanchez, A., Santa-Regina, I., Murciego, A. 2011. Mobility and phytoavailability of arsenic in an abandoned mining area. Geoderma, 166:153-161.
- Parth Vandana, Murthy N.N. and Saxena Praveen Raj. 2011. Assessment of heavy metal contamination in soil around hazardous waste disposal sites in Hyderabad city (India): natural and anthropogenic implications. E. J. Environ. Res. Manage, 2(2): 027-034.
- Pérez-López, C. 2002. Estadística Práctica con STATGRAPHICS, Pearson Education S.A., Madrid, Spain.
- Peryea, F.J., Kammereck, R. 1997. Phosphate enriched movement of arsenic out of lead arsenate contaminated topsoil and through uncontaminated subsoil. Water, Air and Soil Pollution, 93: 243-254.
- Paustenbach, D.J., 2000. The practice of exposure assessment: a state of the art review. Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B 3: 179–291.

- Petänen, T., Lyytikäinen, M., Lappalainen, J., Romantschuk, M., Kukkonen, J.V.K. 2003. Assessing sediment toxicity and arsenite concentration with bacterial and traditional methods. Environmental Pollution, 122: 407–415.
- Pierzynski, G.M., Sims, J. T., Vance, G.F. 2000. Soils and Environmental Quality. CRC Press.
- Pietro Iavazzo, Paola Adamo, Maria Boni, Stephen Hillier, Mariavittoria Zampella. 2012. Mineralogy and chemical forms of lead and zinc in abandoned mine wastes and soils: An example from Morocco. Journal of Geochemical Exploration, 113: 56–67.
- Plant, J.A., Raiswell, R. 1983. Principles of environmental chemistry. En: Thornton I (ed). Applied Environmental Geochemistry. 1-39. Academic Press. Londres.
- Poggio Laura, Borut Vrš aj, Rainer Schulin, Erwin Hepperle, Franco Ajmone Marsan. 2009. Metals pollution and human bioaccessibility of topsoils in Grugliasco (Italy). Environmental pollution, 157: 680-689.
- Pulford, I.D., Watson, C. 2003. Phytoremediation of heavy metal-contaminated land by tree—a view. Environ. Int., 29: 529–40.
- Purves, D. 1985. Trace-element contamination of the environment. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Quevauviller, Ph., 2002. Operationally defined extraction procedure for soil and sediment analysis. Part 3: new CRMs for trace-element extractable contents. Trend Anal. Chem., 21: 774–785.
- Raksasataya, M., Langdon, A.G., Kim, N.D. 1996. Assessment of the extent of lead redistribution during sequential extraction by two different methods. Analyt. Chim. Acta, 332: 1-14.
- Ramos, L., Hernandez, L.M., Gonzales, M.J. 1994. Sequential fractionation of copper, lead, cadmium and zinc in soil from or near Donana national park. J. Environ. Qual., 23: 50–57.
- Rascio, N., Navari-Izzo, F. 2011. Heavy metal hyperaccumulating plants: How and why do they do it? And what makes them so interesting? Plant Science, 180(2): 169-181.
- Razo I., Carrizales L., Castro J., Díaz-Barriga F., Monroy M. 2004. Arsenic and heavy metal pollution of soil, water and sediments in a semi-arid climate mining area in Mexico. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 152: 129–152.
- RD 2005. Real Decreto 9/2005, de 14 de enero. Relación de actividades potencialmente contaminantes de suelos y criterios y estándares para la declaración de suelos contaminados. Ministerio de Presidencia. España.
- Report on the environmental pollution in the Republic of Uzbekistan in 2000. State Committee for Nature Protection of the Republic of Uzbekistan: 2001.
- Ribó, J.M., Kaiser, K.L. 1987. *Photobacterium phosphoretum* toxicity bioassay. Test procedures and applications. Toxic Assess., 2: 305–323
- Rodríguez-Eugenio, N., McLaughlin, M. and Pennock, D. 2018. Soil Pollution: a hidden reality. Rome, FAO.
- Rodríguez, L., Ruiz, E., Alonso-Azcarate, J., Rincon, J. 2009. Heavy metal distribution and chemical speciation in tailing and soils around a Pb-Zn mine in Spain. Journal of Environmental Management, 90: 1106-1116.
- Rodrigues, S.M., Henriques, B., Coimbra, J., Ferreira da Silva, E., Pereira, M.E., Duarte, C. 2010. Water-soluble fraction of mercury, arsenic and other potentially toxic elements in highly contaminated sediments and soils. Chemosphere, 78: 1301–1312.
- Romero-Freire, A., Martín, F., Díez, M., van Gestel, C.A.M. 2015. Influence of soil properties on the bioaccumulation and effects of arsenic in the earthworm Eisenia andrei. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 22(19): 15016-15028.
- Romero-Freire, A. 2015. Influence of soil properties on the toxicity of metal-polluted soils. PhD Thesis, University of Granada – Vrije University.
- Romero-Freire, A., Sierra-Aragón, M., Ortiz-Bernad, I., Martín-Peinado, F. 2014. Toxicity of arsenic in relation to soil properties: implications to regulatory purposes. J Soils Sediments, 14:968–979.

- Romero-Freire, A., García, I., Simón, M., Martínez, F.J., Martín, F. 2016. Long-term toxicity assessment of soils in a recovered area affected by a mining spill. Environmental Pollution, 208: 553-561.
- Ruby, M.V., Davis, A., Schoof, R., Eberle, S.S.C.M., 1996. Estimation of lead and arsenic bioavailability using a physiologically based extraction test. Environmental Science and Technology, 30: 422–430.
- Ruby, M.V., et al., 1999. Advances in evaluating the oral bioavailability of inorganics in soil for use in human health risk assessment. Environmental Science and Technology, 33 (21): 3697–3705.
- Sadiq, M. 1997. Arsenic chemistry in soils: an overview of thermo- dynamic predictions and field observations. Water Air Soil Poll., 93:117–136.
- Salt, D.E., Blaylock, M., Kumar, N.P., Dushenkov, V., Ensley, B.D., Chet, I., Raskin, I. 1995. Phytoremediation: a novel strategy for the removal of toxic metals from the environment using plants. Nature biotechnology, 13(5): 468-474.
- Samkayeva, L.T., Revin, V.V., Rybin, Y.I., Kulagin, A.N., Novikova, O.V., Pugayev, S.V. 2001. Study of heavy-metal accumulation by plants. Biotekhnologiya, 1: 54–59.
- Sauve, S., Norvell, W.A., McBride, M., Hendershot, W., 2000a. Speciation and complexation of cadmium in extracted soil solutions. Environ. Sci. Technol., 34: 291 296.
- Sauve, S., Hendershot, W., Allen, W.E., 2000b. Solid-solution parti-tioning of metals in contaminated soils: dependence on pH, total metal burden, and organic matter. Environ. Sci. Technol., 34: 1125 1131.
- Schwertmann, U., & Taylor, R.M. 1977. Iron oxides. In J. B. Dixon & S. B. Webb (Eds.), Minerals in soil environments. Madison, WI: Soil Science Society of America. 148-180.
- Shanker, K., Mishra, S., Srivastava, S., Srivastava, R., Dass, S., Prakash, S., Srivastava, M.M. 1996. Study of mercury-selenium (Hg-Se) interactions and their impact on Hg uptake by the radish (*Raphanus sativus*) plant. Food Chemistry Toxicology, 34:883-886.
- Shukurov, N., Kodirov, O., Peitzsch, M., Kersten, M., Pen-Mouratov, S., Steinberger, Y. 2014. Coupling geochemical, mineralogical and microbiological approaches to assess the health of contaminated soil around the Almalyk mining and smelter complex, Uzbekistan. Sci Total Environ., 476–477: 447–459.
- Sigma-Aldrich, RTC. 2011. Metals on soil CRM025-050. Natural matrix certified reference material. RTC, Laramie, WY.
- Simón, M., Diez, M., González, V., García, I., Martín, F., de Haro, S. 2010. Use of liming in the remediation of soils polluted by sulphide oxidation: a leaching-column study. Journal Hazardous Materials, 180: 241–246.
- Simón, M., Martín, F., García, I., Bouza, P., Dorronsoro, C. and Aguilar, J. 2005. Interaction of limestone grains and acidic solutions from the oxidation of pyrite tailings. Environmental Pollution, 135: 65-72.
- Simón, M., Dorronsoro, C., Martín, F., Aguilar, J. 2002. Pollution of carbonate soils in a Mediterranean climate due to a tailings spill. European Journal of Soil Science, 53: 321-330.
- Simón, M., Martín, F., Ortiz, I., García, I., Fernández, J., Fernández, E., Dorronsoro, C., Aguilar, J., 2001. Soil pollution by oxidation of tailings from toxic spill of a pyrite mine. Sci. Total Environ., 279: 63-74.
- Smirnova, S.K., Kozlov, V.V., Shamaev, O.T., Ignatikov, E.N. 2009. The manner of occurrence of some elements (Au, Ag, Pt, Se, Te, Hg) at epithermal gold-silver deposit Western Chadak (Uzbekistan, Kurama ridge). IX International conference "New ideas in earth sciences". M. 230.
- Smirnova, S.K., Shamaev, O.T. 2012. The Fergana valley. Geology and minerageny. In the book Geosciences in Uzbekistan. Tashkent: SE «SRIMR», 140-145.
- Smith, P.L.; Redente, E.F.; Hooper, E. 1987. Soil organic matter. In: Dean Williams, R.& Schuman, G. E. (Eds.). Reclaiming mine soils and overburden in the western

UnitedStates: Analytic parameters and procedures. Soil Conservation Society of America, Ankeny, Iowa.185-213.

- Soil Conservation Service U.S.D.A. 1972. Soil survey laboratory methods and procedures for collecting samples. USDA, Washington.
- Song, J., Zhao, F.J., McGrath, S.P., Luo, Y.M. 2006. Influence of soil properties and aging on arsenic phytotoxicity. Environment Toxicology and Chemistry, 25: 1663–1670.
- Sparks D.L. 2005. Toxic metals in the environment: the role of surfaces. Elements 1: 193-197.
- Sposito, G., Lund, L.J. y Chang, A.C. 1982. Trace metal chemistry in arid-zone field soils amended with sewage sludge. I: Fractionation of Ni, Cu, Zn, Cd and Pb in solid phases. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 46:260-264.
- SRK, 1989. Draft Acid Rock Drainage Technical Guide. Prepared by Steffen, Robertson and Kirsten Inc. in association with Norecol Environmental Consultants and Gormely Process Engineering. Technical Guide, Vancouver, Canada. http://www.empr.gov.bc.ca/ Mining/Geoscience/PublicationsCatalogue/MiscellaneousPublications/Documents/ DraftAcidRockDrainageTechGuideVol.1.pdf.
- SSDS (Soil Survey Division Staff). 1993. Soil survey manual. Soil conservation service, vol 18, US Department of Agriculture Handbook. US Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC
- Stoltz, E., Greger, M. 2002. Accumulation properties of As, Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn by four wetland plant species growing on submerged mine tailings. Environmental and Experimental Botany, 47: 271 – 280.
- Suleymanov, M.O., Zavyalov, G.E. 2001. Deposits of Chadak ore field. In the book of "Ore deposits of Uzbekistan", Tashkent, 212-227. (in Russian).
- Talipov, R.M. 1988. Biogeochemical methods of prospecting of precious and rare metals in the arid zones of Central Asia. Tashkent. Fan. 155 pp. (in Russian).
- Tang, W.; Xia, Q.; Shan, B.; Ng, J.C. 2018. Relationship of bioaccessibility and fractionation of cadmium in long-term spiked soils for health risk assessment based on four in vitro gastrointestinal simulation models. The Science of the Total Environment, 631-632: 1582-1589.
- Tessier, A., Campbell, P.G.C., Bisson, M. 1979. Sequential extraction procedure for the speciation of particulate trace metals. Anal. Chem., 51: 844-851.
- Thomas, R.P., Ure, A.M., Davidson, C.M., Littlejohn, D., Rauret, G., Rubio, R., López-Sánchez, J.F. 1994. Three-stage sequential extraction procedure for the determination of metals in river sediments. Analyt. Chim. Acta, 286: 423-429.
- Tighe, M., Lockwood, P., 2007. The importance of non-crystalline hydroxide phases in sequential extractions to fractionate antimony in acid soils. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 38: 1487–1501.
- Tordoff, G.M.; Baker, A.J.M.; Willis, A.J. 2000. Current approaches to the revegetation and reclamation of metalliferous mine wastes. Chemosphere, 41: 219-228.
- Torres, M. 2003. Empleo de los ensayos con plantas en el control de contaminantes tóxicos ambientales. Rev CubanaHig Epidemiol, 41: 2–3.
- Vernadsky, V.I. 1960. Selected Works // Coll. Cit .: In 4 t., T. II. Moscow: Publishing House of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR. 358 pp. (in Russian).
- UNECE. 2001. 1st environmental performance review Uzbekistan. Environmental performance reviews series no.14. New York and Geneva: United Nations; [182 pp. http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/epr/epr_studies/uzbekistan%20e.pdf [accessed June 2013].
- Ure, AM. 1995. Methods of analysis for heavy metals in soils. In: Alloway BJ. (ed.) Heavy metals in soils (2nd edition) Glasgow: Blackie Academic and Professional. 58-102.
- Ure, A.M., Davidson, C.M., Thomas, R.P. 1995a. Single and sequential extraction schemes for trace metal speciation in soil and sediment. In: Quevauviller et al. (Eds). Quality Assurance for Environmental Analysis. Elsevier Science B.V. 505-523.
- Ure, A.M., Quevauviller, Ph., Muntau, H., Griepink, B. 1993. Speciation of heavy metal in soils and sediments. An account of the improvement and harmonization of extraction

techniques undertaken under the auspices of the BCR of the Commision of the European Communities. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem., 51: 135-151.

- Usman, A.R.A., Almutairi, A.A., Elmaghraby, S., Al-Farraj, A.S. 2017. Levels, solid-phase fractions and sources of heavy metals at site received industrial effluents: a case study, Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability, 29(1): 78-88.
- Uzu, G., Sobanska, S., Aliouane, Y., Pradere, P., Dumat, C., 2009. Study of leadphytoavailability for atmospheric industrial micronic and sub-micronic particles in relationwith lead speciation. Environmental Pollution, 157 (4): 1178-1185.
- Uzu, G.; Sobanska, S.; Sarret, G.;Sauvain, J.J.;Pradere, P.;Dumat, C. 2011. Characterization of lead-recycling facility emissions at various workplaces: Major insightsfor sanitary risks assessment. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 186(2):1018-1027.
- Valadez, A. 1997. Producción de hortalizas. México, Noriega Editores.
- Van Herreweghe, S., Swennen, R., Vandecasteele, C., Cappuyns, V. 2003. Solid phase speciation o farsenic by sequential extraction in Standard referencematerials and industrially contaminated soil samples. Environmental Pollution, 122: 323-342.
- Van der Sloot, H.A., Comans, R.N.J., Hjelmar, O. 1996. Similarities in the leaching behaviour of trace contaminats from waste, stabilized waste, construction materials and soils. Sci. Total Environ., 178: 111-126.
- Van den Berg R., Dennenman C.A., Roels J.M. 1993. Risk assessment of contaminated soil: Proposal for adjusted, toxicologically based Dutch soil clean-up criteria. In: Arendt F., Annokkee G.J., Bosman R., van der Brink W.J., editors. Contaminated soils'93. Kluwer Academic Publisher, London, 349-364.
- Van Rensburg, H.G.J., Claassens, A.S., Beukes, D.J. 2009. Relationships between soil buffer capacity and selected soil properties in a resource-poor farming area in the Mpumalanga Province of South Africa. S. Afr. J. Plant Soil, 26(4): 237-243.
- Vidal, J., Pérez-Sirvent, C., Martínez-Sánchez, M.J., Navarro, M.C. 2004. Origin and behaviour of heavy metals in agricultural Calcaric Fluvisols in semiarid conditions. Geoderma, 121: 257-270.
- Violante, A., Cozzolino, V., Perelomov, L., Caporale, A.G., Pigna, M. 2010. Mobility and bioavailability of heavy metals and metalloids in soil environments. J. Soil. Sci. Plant Nutr., 10(3): 268 292.
- Vodyanitskii, Y.N. 2006. Methods of Sequential Extraction of Heavy Metals from Soils: New Approaches and the Mineralogical Control (A Review). Eurasian Soil Science, 39(10): 1074–1083.
- VROM (Volkshuisvesting, Ruimtelijke Ordering en Milieubeheer) 2000. Dutch Target and Intervention Values, (the New Dutch List).
- Wang, L., Ji, B., Hu, Y., Liu, R., Sun, W. 2017. A review on in situ phytoremediation of mine tailings. Chemosphere, 184: 594-600.
- Wang, S., Mulligan, C.N. 2009. Effect of natural organic matter on arsenic mobilization from mine tailings. J. Hazard. Mater., 168: 721-726.
- Wang, X., Sato, T., Xing, B., Tao, S. 2005. Health risks of heavy metals to the general public in Tianjin, China via consumption of vegetables and fish. Sci Total Environ., 350:28– 37.
- Weis, J.S., Weis, P. 2004. Metal uptake, transport and release by wetland plants: implications for phytoremediation and restoration. Environment International, 30: 685-700.
- Wilson, S.C., Lockwood, P.V., Ashley, P.M., Tighe, M. 2009. The chemistry and behavior of antimony in the soil environment with comparisons to arsenic: A critical review. Environmental Pollution, 158: 1169-1181.
- Wong, MH. 2003. Ecological restoration of mine degraded soils, with emphasis on metal contaminated soils. Chemosphere, 50: 775 –80.
- Wragg, J., Cave, M.R., 2003. In-vitro methods for the measurement of the oral bioaccessibility of selected metals and metalloids in soils: a critical review. P5– 062/TR/01, British Geological Survey.

- WRB, 2015. World reference base for soil resources 2014. International soil classificationsystem for naming soils and creating legends for soil maps. Update 2015. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Rome.
- Yang, X., Hou, Q., Yang, Z., Zhang, X., Hou, Y. 2012. Solid-solution partitioning of arsenic (As) in the paddy soil profiles in Chengdu Plain, Southwest China. Geosciences Frontiers. doi:10.1016/j.gsf.2012.03.006
- Yang, X.E., Long, X.X., Ye, H.B., He, Z.L., Calvert, D.V., Stoffella, P.J. 2004. Cadmium tolerance and hyperaccumulation in a new Zn-hyper plant species (*Sedum alfredii Hance*). Plant and Soil, 259(1-2): 181-189.
- Yang, J.K., Barnett, M.O., Jardine, P.M., Brooks, S.C., 2003. Factors controlling the bioaccessibility of Arsenic(V) and Lead(II) in soil. Soil and Sediment Contamination, 12(2): 165–179.
- Yang, X. E., Long, X., Ni, W., Fu, C. 2002. *Sedum alfredii* H.: a new Zn hyperaccumulating plant first found in China. Chinese Science Bulletin, 47(19): 1634-1637.
- Zhou, H.; Yang, W.; Zhou, X.; Liu, L.;Gu, J.; Wang, W.; Zou, J.;Tian, T.;Peng, P.; Liao, B. 2016. Accumulation of Heavy Metals in Vegetable Species Planted in Contaminated Soils and the Health Risk Assessment. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(3): 289.
- Zu Yanqun, Li Yuan, Schvartz Christian, Langlade Laurent, Liu Fan. (2004). Accumulation of Pb, Cd, Cu and Zn in plants and hyperaccumulator choice in Lanping lead-zinc mine area, China. Environment International, 30: 567-576.
- Ye, Z.H., Baker, A.J.M., Wong, M.H., Willis, A.J. 1997. Zinc, Lead and Cadmium Tolerance, Uptake and Accumulation by the Common Reed, *Phragmites australis* (Cav.) Trin. ex Steudel. Annals of Botany, 80: 363-370.

Part V

Copy of the published article

Publication

Obidjon Kodirov, Michael Kersten, Nosir Shukurov, Francisco Martín-Peinado. 2018. Trace metal(loid) mobility in waste deposits and soils around Chadak mining area, Uzbekistan. Science of the Total Environment, 622–623, 1658–1667.

Science of the Total Environment 622-623 (2018) 1658-1667



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Trace metal(loid) mobility in waste deposits and soils around Chadak mining area, Uzbekistan



Obidjon Kodirov^a, Michael Kersten^b, Nosir Shukurov^a, Francisco José Martín Peinado^{c,*}

^a Institute of Geology and Geophysics, Academy of Sciences of Uzbekistan, Olimlar, 49, 100041 Tashkent, Uzbekistan

^b Geosciences Institute, Johannes Gutenberg University, Mainz 55099, Germany

^c Department of Soil Sciences, Faculty of Sciences, University of Granada, Campus Fuentenueva s/n, 18002 Granada, Spain

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Total concentrations of As and Sb strongly exceed the intervention values in abandoned wastes.
- Selective extractions showed As and Sb with relatively high potential mobility.
- Zn and Pb mobility was controlled by cation exchange capacity of clay particles.
- Precipitation of Ca–Fe(III)–AsO₄ phases was first observed in Chadak mine wastes.
- Long-term pollution will be mainly controlled by tailing oxidations processes.

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 June 2017 Received in revised form 2 October 2017 Accepted 6 October 2017 Available online 27 October 2017

Editor: F.M. Tack

Keywords: Sulphide tailings Metal(loid) pollution Chemical fractionation



ABSTRACT

The assessment of potential trace metal(loid) contamination in tailing dumps and soils was characterized in the Chadak mining area (Uzbekistan). Concentrations of trace elements (V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Sb, Pb) were determined by X-ray fluorescence analysis and compared with background and intervention values (IV). The concentrations of As, Zn, Sb, and Pb were higher in the abandoned than in the active tailing dump, ranging from 42-1689 mg/kg for As, 73-332 mg/kg for Zn, 14-1507 mg/kg for Sb, and 27-386 mg/kg for Pb. Selective extractions were applied in order to assess the mobility and availability of trace metal(loid)s in samples. Oxyanionforming elements such as As and Sb were immobilized by Fe oxides, although to some extent also extractable with acetic acid and soluble-in-water forms were detected, indicating potential bioavailability that can impose a potential toxicity risk for the environment. Selective extractions data also showed that Zn and Pb were relatively immobile, although in higher contamination sites significant amounts of these elements were also extractable with acetic acid. In tailing materials Zn and Pb mobility were negatively correlated by the cation-exchange capacity (CEC) and clay content, indicating the importance of these factors in the reduction of the potential toxicity for these elements. Total concentration of As, Sb, and Pb were also negatively correlated with soil pH, indicating that the oxidation process of sulphide tailings and thus the generation of acidic conditions may lead to release of contaminants over time. However, due to the calcium carbonate content, the acid neutralization capacity of the tailings is not yet exhausted and contaminant concentrations in soil-pore water are still relatively low. The results of our investigation suggest that environmental risk associated with these wastes in semi-arid climate is therefore not a short-term problem but rather requires constant monitoring and additional ecotoxicological studies. © 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

 Corresponding author at: Soil Science Department, Faculty of Sciences, University of Granada, Campus Fuentenueva s/n, 18071 Granada, Spain. E-mail address: fjmartin@ugr.es (F.J. Martín Peinado).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.049 0048-9697/© 2017 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

1659

1. Introduction

The increase in mining activities in recent decades inevitably exerts a negative influence on the environment. The exploitation of mineral resources results in the production of large volumes of mining wastes containing metals or metalloids at elevated concentrations (Lottermoser, 2010). In particular, opencast mining activities may therefore have a negative environmental impact on soils and watersheds. Sulphide-rich minerals represent a major ore deposit for extracting metal(loid)s worldwide, generating millions of tonnes of tailings and acid mine drainage (Dudka and Adriano, 1997). The major concern of contamination of soil, sediments, and waters by trace metals is their toxicity and threat to human life and the environment (Nriagu et al., 2007).

Acid mine drainage (AMD) is one of the most serious environmental problems in sulphide mineralized areas, causing the solubilization and dispersion through the environment of trace metals and related toxic elements (Astrom, 1998). Most of the environmental-impact assessment and remediation efforts related to AMD generation have been focused on temperate climates, and few on mine sites exposed to semi-arid climates where AMD is not an immediate problem (Razo et al., 2004; Hayes et al., 2012). In these areas, the presence of soils with high buffering capacity is common, and when the AMD infiltrates the soil, the acidity is neutralized and most of the pollutants precipitate (Simón et al., 2005). In any case, although AMD generation in a semi-arid climate is not a short-term problem, the pollution can persist for thousands of years due to the slow time course of the processes related to oxidation, hydrolysis and acidification (Kempton and Atkins, 2000), which poses a long-term risk and even a chemical time-bomb for environment and human health.

Metal(loid)s are transferred to the environment via fly ash, dust, and leachates coming from point-source pollution such as mine quarries, dumps, and tailings (Shukurov et al., 2014; Martín et al., 2007), and may become a problem of diffuse pollution due to the widespread partitioning of these elements through the ecosystem (Martín et al., 2010). It is now widely recognized that the mobility and bioavailability of trace metals in soils depend not only on the total concentration, but also on their specific chemical form or binding state in relation to soil properties and constituents (Dang et al., 2002; Sauve et al., 2000; Nyamagara, 1998; Romero-Freire et al., 2014). However, changes in environmental conditions such as acidification, changes in the redoxpotential conditions or increases in organic-ligand concentrations can result in trace-element mobilization from the solid to the liquid phase and cause contamination of surrounding waters (Gleyzes et al., 2002).

To assess the mobility and bioavailability of potentially polluting elements, several extraction schemes have been developed and described in the literature (Rauret et al., 1989; Kersten, 2001; Gleyzes et al., 2002; Quevauviller, 2002). These extraction schemes are based on operationally defined fractions that allow the assessment of distinct reagent-extractable forms (distilled water, single salts, acetic acid, complexing agents, etc.), which are usually defined as pool-extractable forms (soluble, exchangeable, carbonate associated, Fe/Mn oxide-associated, organics associated, residual, etc.). The most insoluble forms (extracted only by strong acids) are usually defined as residual forms (Beckett, 1989). In this way, a set of selective extraction techniques are used to determine the most leachable and thus potentially the most bioavailable compounds, while the total abundance of potentially harmful elements was determined by strong acid digestion (Anju and Banerjee, 2010). Despite the uncertainties associated with non-selectivity of the extractants, readsorption, and redistribution problems, extraction schemes remain widely used as an essential tool in element fractionation in soil and sediments (Kersten, 2001; Gleyzes et al., 2002).

The present study is focused on the Chadak mining area, one of the main gold-producing sites in Uzbekistan. The Chadak ore area has been known since antiquity and was in use up to the 12th century, with mining traces (abandoned open-pit mines and placer fields) preserved in the lower Chadak village and other surrounding areas. However, in the 12th and 13th centuries the mining activity declined and was revived only in the 20th century (Kuldashev and Abdurahmanov, 2009). In this study, the total concentration and distribution of metal(loid)s are determined in soils and waste deposits in and around the tailing dumps of Chadak mining area, and the mobility and potential bioavailability of the main contaminants by selective chemical extractions are assessed, with the aim of evaluating the potential risk of pollution as the first step in an environmental risk assessment of the area.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area

Samples were collected from the vicinity of the Chadak ore field located in the Pap district of Namangan region at the southern slopes of the Kurama ridge in Chadak basin (eastern Uzbekistan, Fig. 1). Chadak ore field includes gold silver deposits (Pirmirab and Guzaksay) and a number of other exploitable minerals. The gold silver veins of the Chadak deposits are of low sulphidation type hosted by Carboniferous andesite volcanites and are associated with quartz-sericite-pyrite type alteration. The main gangue minerals are quartz (SiO₂), calcite (CaCO₃), adularia (KAISi₃O₈), sericite (KAI₂(AISi₃O₁₀)(OH)₂), wollastonite (CaSiO₃), and tremolite (Ca₂(Mg,Fe)₅Si₈O₂₂(OH)₂). The main ore minerals are pyrite (FeS₂) and hematite (Fe₂O₃), but galena (PbS), chalcopyrite (CuFeS₂), and sphalerite (ZnS) are also common (Smirnova et al., 2009).

The area is characterized by a relatively well-developed mining industry, operated since 1970 by the Chadak gold-extracting plant (GEP) with the capacity of 180,000 t/y. The plant treats gold-bearing ore from the Pirmirab and Guzaksai deposits. Mining is conducted by both an underground and open-pit method, and two tailing dumps were established to store the waste from the mineral-extraction procedures. The first tailing dump, which operated from 1970 to 1979, is now abandoned (AbT), while a new tailing dump has been operating since 1979 and is still active (AcT). According to Filimonov (2009), the wastes stored in tailing dumps amount to as much as 3 Mt. The technological ore-extracting scheme includes: three-stage crushing, one-stage milling in a closed cycle with a two-stage ore classification and hydrocyclone overflow thickening; cyanidation of thickened product; filtration of gold-bearing solutions; precipitation of precious metals (Au and Ag) onto zinc dust; and drying of the zinc precipitates. The tailing waste products, after sterilization with liquid chlorine, are delivered to a dump for storage (Smirnova and Shamaev, 2012).

Production facilities of the mining group includes: mines, beneficiation plant, tailing dumps, and administrative-domestic premises. Two villages, Oltinkon and Chadak, are located on the banks of the Chadak-Sai river (Fig. 2A). Oltinkon is located close to the Chadak GEP and upstream from the abandoned tailing dump, while Chadak is located between the two tailing dumps. The river Chadak-Sai is the only source of water for mining processes, but also for residents of the villages on its banks.

2.2. Soil sampling and sample preparation

Samples were taken in a systematic pattern (100×100 m grid) from the upper soil layer (0–10 cm) around the two tailing dumps, and from the surface layer of both the abandoned (AbT, Fig. 2B) and active (AcT, Fig. 2C) tailing dumps. A vertical profile of 1.5 m deep was also sampled in the abandoned tailing dump (A: 0–30, B: 30–80, C: 80–150 cm). A total of 40 samples were collected from both areas. Samples were placed in polyethylene bags and transported to the laboratory for physicochemical analyses. Samples were air-dried at room temperature, sieved through 2-mm mesh, ground, and homogenized in an agate mortar. Powder pellets for X-ray fluorescence analysis were prepared under a



Fig. 1. Location map of the study area.

pressure of 7 t with an epoxy-resin admixture in 30-mm dies by a hydraulic press (Herzog, Germany).

2.3. Chemical and mineralogical analysis

The main physico-chemical properties of the samples were measured by standard soil-analysis techniques (MAPA, 1994): the pH was measured by a pH-meter (CRISON digit 501) in a 1:2.5 (w/v) soilwater suspension; electrical conductivity (EC) was measured using a EUTECH XS Con 700 m in extracts prepared by filtering 1:10 soilwater suspensions through 0.45-µm cellulose acetate membrane filter; organic carbon (OC) was determined by wet oxidation method; cation-exchange capacity (CEC) was determined by 1 N sodium acetate solution at pH 8.2 measured by atomic absorption spectroscopy using a VARIAN SpectrAA 220FS instrument; particle-size distribution was determined by the pipette method; and calcium carbonate content was determined manometrically upon HCl digestion. The neutralization potential (NP) of tailing samples were evaluated with the modified Sobek acid-base accounting (ABA) method (Lawrence and Scheske, 1997). The acid potential (AP) and net neutralization potential (NNP) was calculated according to SRK (1989).

The total concentration of trace elements (V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn, As, Cd, Pb, Sb) was measured using X-ray fluorescence (XRF) analysis of the powder pellets (MagiX Pro XRF with rhodium anode X-ray tube). The total concentration of major elements was determined by XRF using glass pellets of subsamples melted with lithium tetraborate fluxer

(0.6:5.5). QA/QC criteria were fulfilled by the use of geochemical standard reference materials GSS-2 and GSS-4 (Table S1, Supporting Information); the experimental average values ranged within the certified reference values in both cases.

Selective extractions were applied to assess trace metal(loid) mobility in sieved samples (<2 mm) at the abandoned tailing dumpsite (AbT) with the following reagents: 1) distilled water (Sposito et al., 1982), 2) ammonium nitrate 1 M (DIN 19730, 1995), 3) acetic acid 0.43 M (Ure et al., 1993), and 4) oxalate buffer pH 3 (Schwertmann and Taylor, 1977). The total concentration of trace metal(loid)s was determined additionally by strong acid digestion (HNO3/HF/HCl). All extracted fractions were analysed by inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) in a Perkin-Elmer Sciex-Elan 5000 instrument equipped with quartz torch, nickel sampler, and skimmer cones. Standard solutions were prepared from ICP single-element standard (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) after appropriate dilution with 10% HNO3. The accuracy of the method was evaluated by six replicate analyses of the certified reference material SRM 2711, average recoveries of the certified reference values ranged between 91% and 105% for the main pollutant elements (Martín Peinado et al., 2015).

Selected subsamples were prepared for scanning electron microscopy (SEM SUPRA40VP, ZEISS, Germany). The imaging was performed at an acceleration voltage of 30 kV in both conventional secondary electron and backscattered electron mode. For the elemental microanalysis of mineral particles, an energy-dispersive X-ray (EDX) spectrometer (model AZTEC 2.4, Oxford instruments, UK) was used in pinpoint



Fig. 2. Location of the samples collected. A: General view; B: abandoned tailing dump (AbT); C: active tailing dump (AcT).

mode (diameter 1 μm), resolution of 10 eV/channel, and a full-spectrum collection time of 100 s.

2.4. Statistical analyses

Geochemical background values of trace metal(loid)s for the study area were calculated from surrounding soil samples collected near the tailing dumps using mean (Mf) \pm twice the standard deviation (σ) of the calculated distribution functions (Matschullat et al., 2000).

Statistical analyses of the data were carried out after evaluating the data set for normal distribution by a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Mean comparison study was made by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test, where significant differences were considered when p < 0.05. The relationship between normally distributed variables was investigated using Varimax-rotation principal-component analysis (PCA). All statistical treatments were made using SPSS v.20.0 software.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Soil properties

The general physico-chemical properties of soils and tailing samples are summarized in Table 1, and the properties of the vertical profile collected on AbT in Table 2. The pH values of soil samples collected in the vicinity of AcT and soils covering AbT showed mean values of 8.2 and 8.4, respectively. The moderately alkaline conditions are presumably related to the presence of carbonate minerals calcite, ankerite, and dolomite (lavazzo et al., 2012), and can be also related to the arid climate in the study area. In any case, calcium carbonate content in soil and tailings was moderately low (mean values <15%), with minimum concentrations in tailings ranging from 2.9 to 4.2%. The presence of S was also detected in tailing samples, with values ranging from 1.70 to 0.45%. Therefore, the tailings possess a neutralization potential (NP) which can balanced with the acid potential (AP) assessed for a worst case from the total S content (neglecting the minor sulphate mineral content as a product of previous oxidation). The acid-base accounting (ABA) of tailings and concentrates are shown, respectively, in Tables 1 and 2. The acid potential (AP) of tailings for AbT is equal to 20.3 \pm 4.6 kg CaCO₃/t, while for AcT it is 53.1 \pm 7.8 kg CaCO₃/t; meanwhile the mean neutralization potential (NP) of the tailings amount to 15.5 ± 2.9 and 11.1 \pm 2.7 kg CaCO₃/t, respectively. Thus, the net neutralization potential (NNP = NP - AP) indicates that the active tailing dump is potentially acid generating (NNP = -42.0 ± 6.5 kg/t), while the abandoned tailing dump is not (NNP = -4.8 ± 1.2 kg/t), according to the criteria defined by SRK (1989; NNP < -20 kg CaCO₃/t). In this sense, the acidification by sulphide oxidation in carbonate soils was previously reported in other semi-arid areas (García et al., 2009; Sánchez-Marañon et al., 2015), where soils with similar range in CaCO₃ (3.2-7.6%) and S (0.2-0.8%) showed a sharp decrease in pH from 7.4 to 3.1 after 10 years of continuous oxidation under natural conditions.

Soil samples from both areas showed very low EC values (SSDS, 1993), very low CEC (Marañes et al., 1998), sparse OC content, and a sandy-loam texture, with no significant differences between active and abandoned tailing dumps. Tailings at AcT, registered similar values to soil samples for pH, EC, and OC, but significant lower values for CEC

1662

 Table 1

 Mean and standard deviations (n = 3) of general physicochemical properties of surface samples (0–10 cm) in the active (AcT) and abandoned (AbT) tailing dumps. Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences between samples (p < 0.05). EC: electrical conductivity; CEC: cation-exchange capacity; OC: organic carbon; AP: acid potential; NP: neutralization potential; NNP: net neutralization potential.</td>

Area	Subarea	pH	EC	CEC	CaCO ₃	OC	Clay	Silt	Sand	AP	NP	NNP
			(dS/m)	(cmol/kg)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	kg/t		
AcT	Soil Tailing	$\begin{array}{c} 8.2 \pm 0.2 \ (a) \\ 8.3 \pm 0.1 \ (a) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.17 \pm 0.04 (a) \\ 0.53 \pm 0.05 (a) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.4 \pm 2.7 \ (a) \\ 2.6 \pm 1.0 \ (b) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 4.8 \pm 2.6 (a) \\ 5.4 \pm 1.7 (a) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.07 \pm 0.90 (a) \\ 0.83 \pm 0.24 (a) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 12.0 \pm 1.6 \ (ab) \\ 5.8 \pm 0.6 \ (b) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 33.4 \pm 0.3 \ (a) \\ 22.9 \pm 5.8 \ (a) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 53.1 \pm 0.8 \ (a) \\ 71.3 \pm 6.4 \ (a) \end{array}$	53.1 (±7.8)	11.1 (±2.7)	-42.0 (±6.5)
AbT	Soil (cover)	$8.4\pm0.2~(a)$	$0.30\pm0.44(a)$	$7.9\pm2.3~(ab)$	$10\pm1.4(ab)$	$0.66 \pm 0.30(a)$	$13.8 \pm 2.9 (a)$	$35.9 \pm 30.2 \ (a)$	$50.3\pm28.6(a)$			

and clay content (Table 1), indicating a selection in the particle size towards the sand fraction and concomitant reduction in clay content that is directly related to the reduction in the CEC (Jung, 2008).

The comparison between tailings from vertical profile in AbT and active tailing dump (AcT) showed similar properties, with no significant differences in any of the main variables studied except $CaCO_3$, which showed significantly lower values from the A to C layers (Table 2).

3.2. Total trace metal(loid) concentrations

The mean total concentration of trace metal(loid)s in soils and tailings determined by XRF is shown in Table 3. The results were compared with the calculated background concentration (BC) of the soils in the area, and the intervention values (IV) reported by the Ministry of Environment of the Regional Government in Andalusia (Spain), based on a review of the intervention values in many countries worldwide (Aguilar et al., 1999) and the Dutch Target and Intervention Values (RIVM, 2000).

The mean concentrations of V, Cr, Co, Ni, Cu, and Cd in all surface samples (soils and tailings) were in the range of the background concentrations (BC) in the area. On the other hand, Zn, As, Sb, and Pb showed significantly higher mean concentrations (Table 3) both in tailings of AcT (exceeding 1.7-, 1.8-, 0.8-, and 2.8-fold the BC values, respectively), and in the covering soils of AbT (exceeding 1.5-, 8.8-, 1.8-, and 2.6- fold the BC values, respectively).

In the vertical profile of AbT, trace metals V, Cr, Co, and Ni presented significant differences although these values were in the range of BC (Table 3). Laver A had the highest concentrations of these elements, which decreased in the next two layers. On the other hand, concentrations of Cu, Zn, and Cd were slightly above the BC but below the intervention values (IV) and presented no significant differences along the vertical profile. The Pb concentrations in the vertical profile were higher than the BC (between 3.9- and 6.1-fold), but also below the IV. However, the mean values of Zn and Pb revealed an inverse trend in vertical distribution, showing the highest mean concentrations in the deepest C layer. High values of these elements in tailings could be attributed not only to the presence of sulphide and suphosalt minerals (pyrite, sphalerite, arsenopyrite, galena, and tetrahedrite) in ores of the Chadak deposits but also to the concentration related to the metal-extraction procedure in the mining activity of the Chadak ore field. The two elements with the highest concentrations in all three layers were As and Sb, with mean values strongly exceeding the IV (up to 20-fold for As, and 62-fold for Sb), with the highest concentrations in the surface A layer (1030 and 920 mg/kg, respectively). A comparison of these concentrations with the ecotoxicological threshold levels reported of 55 mg/kg for As (Van den Berg et al., 1993) and 60 mg/kg for Sb (Sheppard et al., 2005) indicate a high risk of pollution in the area. The problem is exacerbated by the fact that these wastes are located upstream of the main population area (Chadak city), which poses a serious potential pollution risk over time.

3.3. Chemical metal(loid) fractionation

Due to the elevated concentrations of As and Sb, and the relatively high concentrations of Zn and Pb in the samples analysed from the vertical profile in the abandoned tailing dump (AbT), mobility and availability were assessed by selective extractions (water, ammonium nitrate salt solution, acetic acid, and oxalic-oxalate bugger). The results of the selective extraction procedure are shown in Fig. 3. Generally, the water-extractable forms (Xx_w) constitute the readily soluble fraction (Sposito et al., 1982), forms extracted with ammonium nitrate salt solution (xx_{am}) are associated with the easily exchangeable and potentially bioavailable fraction (DIN 19730, 1995), the acetic acid extracts (xx_{ac}) represent the forms associated with carbonates and also cations specifically adsorbed by oxides as well as organic matter (Beckett, 1989), and the reducing oxalic-oxalate buffer form (xx_{ox}) represents the metal(-loid) fraction adsorbed to amorphous or poorly crystallized iron or manganese oxides (Schwertmann and Taylor, 1977).

Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) were found between the different selective extractions in the case of As, following the sequence $As_{ox} \ge As_T > As_{ac} > As_{am} = As_w$. Accordingly, most of the As (between 49.9-78.8% in relation to the total) was extracted by oxalicoxalate buffer (Asox) with the highest proportion in the C layer of the AbT profile. Oxalic-oxalate buffer is the reagent that extracts specifically the elements adsorbed and retained by the thus dissolved Fe-Mn oxides. The results are consistent with previous observations (Aguilar et al., 2006; Martín et al., 2011) which found that As in polluted soils is associated mainly with iron oxides. Iron oxide phases are therefore generally accepted as the primary sorption sites for arsenic in many soils and sediments (Sadiq, 1997). Fe-Mn oxides are also important scavengers of heavy metals in soils, particularly in the high pH range (Li and Thornton, 2001). The residual fraction (extracted only with strong acids) is not as high (below 24% of the total) except in the B layer (mean 36% of the total), presumably associated with the presence of arsenopyrite in the tailings. Extractions determined that 6.5-13.3% of the total arsenic (As_T) was extractable with acetic acid (As_{ac}) without

Table 2

Mean and standard deviations (n = 3) of general physicochemical properties of samples collected from vertical profile in the abandoned tailing dump (AbT). Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences between layers (p < 0.05). EC: electrical conductivity; CEC: cation-exchange capacity; OC: organic carbon; AP: acid potential; NP: neutralization potential; NNP: net neutralization potential.

Area	Profile	pН	EC	CEC	CaCO ₃	OC	Clay	Silt	Sand	AP	NP	NNP
			(dS/m)	(cmol/kg)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	kg/t		
AbT	A (0-30 cm)	8.1 ± 0.3 (a)	0.52 ± 0.57 (a)	6.1 ± 1.6 (a)	6.0 ± 2.5 (a)	0.37 ± 0.13 (a)	10.2 ± 2.5 (a)	25.7 ± 3.3 (a)	64.0 ± 0.8 (a)	20.3	15.5	-4.8
	C (80–150 cm)	8.2 ± 0.1 (a) 8.6 ± 0.1 (a)	0.08 ± 0.39 (a) 0.29 ± 0.17 (a)	4.9 ± 0.1 (a) 3.7 ± 0.3 (a)	14.4 ± 0.6 (b)	0.13 ± 0.06 (a) 0.12 ± 0.05 (a)	9.2 ± 1.2 (a) 8.3 ± 1.1 (a)	$31.0 \pm 4.1 (a)$ $38.8 \pm 4.7 (a)$	59.3 ± 5.3 (a) 52.8 ± 5.8 (a)	(±4.0)	(±2.9)	(±1.2)

1663

	-		1.20
T_{2}	ъ	1	
- I d	D	æ	-

Total element concentrations in mg/kg^{-1} (mean \pm SD; n = 3) in the surface sampling (0–10 cm) at active (AcT) and abandoned (AbT) tailing dumps and in the vertical profile (AbT). Letters (a, b) indicate significant differences (p < 0.05); nd: not determined.

Area	Subarea	v	Cr	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Sb	Pb
AcT	Soil	85.0 ± 12.7	46.5 ± 2.1	10.5 ± 2.1	25.0 ± 2.8	24.5 ± 0.7	84.0 ± 1.4	10.5 ± 2.1	1.3 ± 0.7	0.0 ± 0.0	36.0 ± 0.0
		(a)	(a)	(ab)	(ab)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)
	Tailing	62.7 ± 2.5	13.6 ± 1.5	9.0 ± 3.0	5.7 ± 1.5	$\textbf{37.0} \pm \textbf{9.8}$	233.7 ± 98.6	27.5 ± 5.0	1.0 ± 1.8	3.3 ± 0.6	137.3 ± 68.6
		(abc)	(b)	(ab)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)
AbT	Soil (cover)	81.7 ± 4.9	30.8 ± 13.5	12.2 ± 1.5	15.0 ± 6.4	29.5 ± 9.4	215.7 ± 109.4	132.2 ± 71.1	1.1 ± 1.0	7.5 ± 5.8	126.5 ± 123.3
		(ab)	(ab)	(a)	(ab)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)
Profile (AbT)	A	89.7 ± 14.5	35.9 ± 13.9	11.1 ± 0.3	26.3 ± 12.1	23.97 ± 0.1	207.8 ± 91.6	1032.6 ± 928.8	2.4 ± 1.9	924.0 ± 824.7	246.3 ± 198.2
		(a)	(ab)	(a)	(b)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)
	В	47.5 ± 26.2	29.3 ± 1.4	7.0 ± 1.0	16.2 ± 5.4	42.4 ± 27.6	201.9 ± 29.4	385.3 ± 405.7	1.5 ± 0.7	362.1 ± 257.2	191.5 ± 5.5
		(bc)	(ab)	(ab)	(ab)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)
	С	27.6 ± 1.0	15.3 ± 0.4	4.7 ± 0.6	11.8 ± 1.0	38.4 ± 3.4	229.7 ± 38.9	347.2 ± 144.8	1.5 ± 0.3	68.1 ± 18.2	293.1 ± 103.3
		(c)	(b)	(b)	(ab)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)	(a)
Background		131	51	19	31	37	135	15	1	4	48
Interv. value ((S) ^a	-	450	300	300	500	1000	50	10	-	500
Interv. value ((D) ^b	250	380	240	210	190	720	55	12	15	530

^a Intervention value according to Ministry of Environment of the Board of Andalusia (Spain).

^b Dutch Target and Intervention Values (The New Dutch List, 2000).

readsorption to other phases, whereas a negligible proportion (<2% of the total) was extracted by water (As_w) and ammonium nitrate (As_{am}). Low solubility and exchangeable potential of As measured by these extractants agree with the soil pH and the presence of carbonates (Rodrigues et al., 2010), and can be related by the incorporation of As into the lattice structure of calcite as arsenite under alkaline pH (Di Benedetto et al., 2006; Alexandratos et al., 2007). In our case, the precipitation of Ca–Fe(III)–AsO₄ phases was detected by SEM imaging (Fig. 4), indicating the possible presence of yukonite-like phases previously reported in oxidized As-bearing ores (Gomez et al., 2010) and in tailings of a gold-mining operation in Nova Scotia, Canada (Walker et al.,

2009). Despite the low water-soluble ratios, concentrations of As_w (mean 4.34 mg soluble As per kg dry soil) far surpassed the critical level of 0.04 mg of soluble As per kg dry soil (Bohn et al., 1985), indicating a need for detailed ecotoxicological studies to prevent the risk of pollution to the environment and the nearby population.

As with As, statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) were found between the different selective extractions in the case of Zn, following the sequence $Zn_{ox} = Zn_T > Zn_{ac} > Zn_{am} = Zn_w$. The highest extraction of Zn was in C layer and associated with the Fe-Mn oxides (mean 45.4–57.7% in relation to the total Zn), while the residual fraction had a mean range between 13.2–35.8% with the highest amount in the A



Fig. 3. Percentage of extracted metal(loid)s (mean values; n = 3) in relation to the total concentration in the different layers at the abandoned tailing dump.



Fig. 4. Secondary precipitation of Ca-Fe(III)-AsO₄ phases (point 1) and amorphous Fe phases (point 2) on the surface of a grain of K-Fe alumino-silicate (point 3).

layer. These results agree with previous observations of Ashraf et al. (2012) and Li and Thornton (2001), who found that Zn was associated primarily with Fe/Mn oxides and the residual fraction. García et al. (2009) also stated that Zn may co-precipitate with oxides and hydroxides at high pH values. The next most abundant Zn fraction was that extracted with acetic acid (Znac), which accounted for a mean range of between 18.2-29.7% in relation to the total Zn; this fraction, also called the exchangeable fraction, registered the same percentage, according to Marguí et al. (2004), but in other studies even far higher percentages have been reported (Iavazzo et al., 2012), depending on the soil properties such as the Fe/Mn content. The percentage of the water-soluble (Znw) and ammonium-nitrate-extracted (Znam) fractions were negligible (mean < 0.5% for Zn_w and below detection limit for Zn_{am}). However, the mean value of water concentration of 0.6 mg soluble Zn per kg dry soil was within the toxic range (0.5 mg soluble Zn per kg dry soil) in soil solution reported by Ewers (1991), indicating a potential risk of environmental pollution for this element.

In the case of Sb, statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) were found between the different selective extractions, following the sequence $Sb_T \ge Sb_{ox} > Sb_{ac} > Sb_{am} = Sb_w$. The highest concentration of Sb was in the residual fraction (mean 64.3-78.2% in relation to the total Sb), indicating that Sb is contained chiefly in the crystalline lattice of the secondary minerals. Wilson et al. (2010) reported that the residual Sb was up to 98% in mine-contaminated soils, but the relative proportion of Sb in this phase depends on the source (Tighe and Lockwood, 2007). The proportion of antimony extracted with oxalic-oxalate buffer (Sbox) was below 30% of the total Sb, slightly below the values of the same extraction phase reported by Tighe and Lockwood (2007), where 30-47% of the total Sb was associated with non-crystalline Fe and Al hydroxides. The acetic-acid-soluble fraction (Sbac) was low in relation to the total concentration (mean 0.7-5.9%), which coincides with the studies of He (2007) and Tighe and Lockwood (2007). The percentage of water-soluble (Sbw) and ammonium-nitrateextracted (Sbam) in relation to the total Sb concentrations were very low (mean < 1%). Although Sb is generally described as a geochemically immobile element, its solubility depends on soil properties (Evangelou et al., 2012) and the rise of soil pH can inhibit Sb sorption to soil Fe

and Al oxy-hydroxides, increasing the Sb in soil-solution phase (Nakamaru et al., 2006).

Pb also presented statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) between the different selective extractions, following the sequence Pb_T $> Pb_{ac} = Pb_{ox} > As_{am} = As_{w}$, indicating that this element was also associated mainly with the residual fraction (mean 70.9-88.2% in relation to the total Pb), containing the highest amount in the A layer. This agrees with the observations of Ashraf et al. (2012) and Ramirez et al. (2005), who reported that Pb is associated mostly with the residual phase. Pb associated with acetic acid-soluble fraction (Pbac) accounted for mean 2.5-30.9% followed by a minor amount of oxalic-oxalate buffer-extractable fraction (mean 1.9-8.8% of the total). In this case, Pb is considered to be bound to carbonates and related to weathered (oxidized) precipitates from old tailing waste materials (Anju and Banerjee, 2010). The least abundant proportion of Pb was found in water-soluble (Pbw mean < 0.5%) and ammonium-nitrate-extracted (Pbam below the detection limit) fractions in relation to the total concentrations, with similar results as those observed by other authors (Ramos et al., 1994; Maiz et al., 2000). In any case, the Pbw concentrations did not exceed the toxic level in the soil solution (1 mg/kg) reported by Ewers (1991).

3.4. Correlation between tailing properties and metal(loid)s

Table 4 presents the correlation between the tailing properties and the total forms of metal(loid)s and forms that are water soluble and extractable by ammonium nitrate, acetic acid, and oxalic oxalate buffer. The results for arsenic indicate that As_T together with As_{ac} and As_{ox} showed a significant (p < 0.05) negative correlation with pH, indicating that for this type of pollution involving the release of sulphide tailings, their oxidation and hence acidification processes are related to the increase in total pollution by the generation of acidic conditions that lead to a release of contaminants (Romero-Freire et al., 2015; Simón et al., 2001). Significant correlation of As_{ac} and As_{ox} was found with OC in our samples. The effect of organic carbon to arsenic mobility is controversial. In some studies the application of organic matter reduced the As mobility (Gadepalle et al., 2007), whereas in others As is

1665

Table 4

Pearson correlation between total (T), water soluble (w), ammonium nitrate (am), acetic acid (ac) and oxalic oxalate (ox) extracted forms of As, Sb, Zn, Pb and tailing properties in the vertical profile of the abandoned tailing dump.

	AsT	As w	As am	As ac	As ox	SbT	Sb w	Sb am	Sb ac	Sb ox	ZnT	Zn w	Zn am	Zn ac	Zn ox	PbT	Pb w	Pb am	Pb ac	Pb ox
pН	-0.567^{a}			-0.893^{a}	-0.903 ^a	-0.650^{a}	2			-0.900^{a}					5	-0.595 ^a	8			-0.952 ^b
EC											0.575ª									
CEC											-0.818 ^b					-0.583^{a}	0.724ª			
CaCO ₃																			0.814 ^a	
OC	-0.550^{a}			0.880 ^a	0.899 ^a	-0.688 ^b				0.894 ^a										0.881ª
Clay											-0.602^{a}					-0.601^{a}				
Silt			0.870 ^a																	
Sand			-0.903^{a}																	

^a Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

^b Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

mobilized after compost application and by phytoremediation due to the competing effect of organic matter with arsenate for adsorbing surface sites (Clemente et al., 2008; Martín et al., 2011). No correlation in relation to tailing properties was found for the As_w, whereas a significant positive correlation was found for As_{am} with silt fraction and a significant negative correlation with sand. Simón et al. (2001) showed that there was a strong positive correlation between arsenic levels and the fine-silt fraction of the sludge due to the enhanced specific surface available for As exchange.

In relation to the tailing properties, total (Sb_T) and oxalic-oxalate buffer (Sb_{ox}) showed similar behavior with As, presenting significant negative correlation with pH and OC. The oxyanion-forming metalloids As and Sb have comparable geochemical activity (Fu et al., 2016; Wilson et al., 2010). However, the understanding of Sb toxicity and environmental activity is limited (Filella et al., 2002). The other extracted forms of the Sb did not present any correlation with tailing properties, suggesting that these parameters do not control the partitioning of this metalloid.

By contrast, the correlation of tailing properties and Zn_T showed significant positive correlation with electrical conductivity, indicating that Zn is strongly related to the soluble salts produced after the oxidation reactions (Romero-Freire et al., 2015). On the other hand, Zn_T negatively correlated with CEC and clay fraction, suggesting that these tailing properties also affect Zn activity. This is consistent with the data in the literature indicating also that clay and soil hydroxides can strongly adsorb Zn especially under alkaline conditions (Vandana et al., 2011). No significant correlation was found for other Zn extractions.

Total concentrations of Pb were significantly and negatively correlated with pH, as well as with CEC and the clay fraction, indicating that alkaline pH, CEC, and the clay fraction were the main factors controlling the mobility of lead. As pH rises, Pb becomes less soluble under oxidizing conditions (Vandana et al., 2011) due to the formation of insoluble salts mainly under the presence of carbonates (Razo et al., 2004). The water-soluble form (Pb_w) was not related to any of the soil properties except for the CEC, with a significant and positive correlation, indicating the favourable effect of the adsorption processes for the retention of Pb. Acetic acid extractable Pb (Pb_{ac}) presented a significant correlation with CaCO₃ concentrations, while the proportion extracted by oxalic-oxalate buffer (Pb_{ox}) significantly correlated with OC, indicating also a major contribution of OC in retaining Pb.

The mobility and potential toxicity were assessed in relation to physico-chemical properties of the tailings, using a principal-component analysis between total and soluble concentrations of the main pollutants and the tailing properties (Table 5). Three components explained 91.6% of the variance, with Component 1 being the one that included the total concentrations of metal(loid)s directly related to EC and inversely related to pH and CaCO₃, indicating that the pollution is controlled fundamentally by tailing oxidation processes involving acid-ification, weathering of CaCO₃, and increase in soluble salts (Simón et al., 2001). Component 2 includes the total concentrations of Zn and Pb inversely related to Zn_w and Pb_w forms, indicating that the soluble

forms of these elements are not controlled by their total concentrations, but rather that the CEC and texture (clay fraction) were the main properties affecting the water concentration of these elements in the soil solution (Kumpiene et al., 2008). Component 3, explaining the 20.9% of the variance, includes As_w and Sb_w forms inversely related to each other, indicating a contrasting relation between the two elements (Mitsunobu et al., 2006) and a strong influence of carbonates usually found in the silt fraction on the activity of the soluble forms of these elements, as reported by Martínez-Lladó et al. (2011).

The mobilization of pollutants in soils and tailings is strongly controlled by the presence of calcium carbonate and sulphide minerals. Our results indicate that the net neutralization potential (NNP) for the active tailing dump (AcT) potentially generates acid, so that long-term oxidation processes pose a potential hazard to the environment. In this sense, soils contaminated by heavy metals after sulfur oxidation are usually amended with calcium carbonate, but in some cases the amount of CaCO3 required to neutralize acidity is underestimated. Long-term acidification over time was described after the liming of a soil polluted with heavy metals and small amounts of S ($\approx 0.5\%$) (McTee et al., 2017), the formation of coatings around calcium carbonate grains being one of the main processes responsible for this underestimation and for the progress of acidification over time (Simón et al., 2005). Moreover, the transfer of heavy metals to plants in carbonate soils contaminated by mine tailings with high concentrations in heavy metals were reported in relation to local acidification and/or oxidation processes occurring in the rhizosphere (Boussen et al., 2013). Our data indicate that there is a potential risk of acidification and, therefore, of

Table 5

Principal-component analysis between total (XxT) and soluble in water (Xx_w) pollutant concentrations and main properties of the tailings.

	Rotated compo	nent	
	1	2	3
ZnT	0.504	-0.785	
AsT	0.950		
SbT	0.953		
PbT	0.515	-0.738	
Znw		0.960	
Asw			0.940
Sbw			-0.858
Pbw		0.948	
pH	-0.862		
EC	0.751		
CEC		0.902	
CaCO ₃	-0.849		
OC	0.951		
Clay		0.879	
Silt		-0.685	0.632
Sand			-0.754
% cum. var.	35.4	70.7	91.6

Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. % cum. var.: Percentage of cumulative variance. 1666

O. Kodirov et al. / Science of the Total Environment 622-623 (2018) 1658-1667

pollutant dispersion over time in the Chadak mining area that should be monitored and assessed with additional studies.

4. Conclusion

Chadak ore field is one of the main gold-producing sites in Uzbekistan. Abandoned and active tailing dumps with wastes enriched with metal(loid)s poses a potential pollution risk for this mining area and for populations living in the vicinity. Our data indicate that the total concentrations of As, Sb, Zn, and Pb exceeded the background concentrations in wastes at the active tailing (AcT) dump and in soils at abandoned tailings dump (AbT). Waste deposits at AbT have very high concentrations of As (mean > 1030 mg/kg) and Sb (mean > 920 mg/kg), exceeding intervention threshold values by 20and 62-fold, respectively. Selective extractions were made to assess the potential mobility and bioavailability of the pollutants both in wastes and in soils. Selective extraction results showed that As and Sb were strongly retained by iron oxides, but still with increased potential bioavailability (extractable with acetic acid); higher water-soluble and ammonium nitrate concentrations were also measured for both elements, indicating a potential toxicity risk for the environment. On the other hand, the selective extraction data showed that Zn and Pb were relatively immobile in the tailings, although in some cases large amounts of these elements were extracted with acetic acid, indicating a potential bioavailability once the neutralization potential is exceeded. However, a balance between the acid potential of the tailings and the neutralization potential indicate that the active tailing dump (AcT) is potentially acid generating, constituting a long-term hazard to the environment. Thus, more studies are required in the area for toxicity assessments using bioassays and for evaluations of the potential long-term risk of pollution in this area.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.049.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the CASIA I Erasmus Mundus Fellowship Program (ref.: EMII A2 2S1L9) and the Department of Soil Sciences of the University of Granada (Research Group RNM-269). The authors wish to express their gratitude to Mr. David Nesbitt for the English corrections and comments.

References

- Aguilar, J., Dorronsoro, C., Galán, E., Gómez, L., 1999. Criterios y estándares para declarar un suelo como contaminado en Andalucia. Public. Universidad de Sevilla (252 pp).
- Aguilar, J., Dorronsoro, C., Fernández, E., Fernández, J., García, I., Martín, F., Sierra, M., Simón, M., 2006. Arsenic contamination in soils affected by a pyrite-mine spill (Aznalcóllar, SW Spain). Water Air Soil Pollut. 180, 271–281.
- Alexandratos, V.G., Elzinga, E.J., Reeder, R.J., 2007. Arsenate uptake by calcite: macroscopic and spectroscopic characterization of adsorption and incorporation mechanisms. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 71. 4172–4187.
- Anju, M., Banerjee, D.K., 2010. Comparison of two sequential extraction procedures for heavy metal partitioning in mine tailings. Chemosphere 78, 1393–1402.
- Ashraf, M.A., Maah, M.J., Yusoff, I., 2012. Chemical speciation and potential mobility of heavy metals in the soil of former tin mining catchment. Sci. World J. 11 pages. https://doi.org/10.1100/2012/125608.
- Astrom, M., 1998. Mobility of Al, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, Mn, Ni and V in sulphide-bearing finegrained sediments exposed to atmospheric O₂: an experimental study. Environ. Geol. 36, 219–226.
- Beckett, P.H.T., 1989. The use of extractants in studies on trace metals in soils, sewage sludge, and sludge-treated soils. In: Stewart, B.A. (Ed.), Advances in Soil Science. vol. 9. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 143–176.
- Bohn, H.L., McNeal, B.L., O'Connor, G.A., 1985. Soil Chemistry. Wiley Interscience, New York, USA.
- Boussen, S., Soubrand, M., Bril, H., Ouerfelli, K., Abdeljaouad, S., 2013. Transfer of lead, zinc and cadmium from mine tailings to wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) in carbonated Mediterranean (Northern Tunisia) soils. Geoderma 192, 227–236.
- Clemente, R., Dickinson, N.M., Lepp, N.W., 2008. Mobility of metals and metalloids in a multi-element contaminated soil 20 years after cessation of the pollution source activity. Environ. Pollut. 155, 254–261.

- Dang, Z., Liu, C.Q., Martin, J.H., 2002. Mobility of heavy metals associated with the natural weathering of coal mine spoils. Environ. Pollut. 118, 419–426.
- Di Benedetto, F., Costagliola, P., Benvenuti, M., Lattanzi, P., Romanelli, M., Tanelli, G., 2006. Arsenic incorporation in natural calcite lattice. Evidence from electron spin echo spectroscopy. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 246, 458–465.
- DIN (Deutsches Intitut f
 ür Normung Hrgs.) 19730, 1995. Extraktion von Spurenelementen mit Ammoniumnitratlösung. Bodenbeschaffenheit. Beuth Verlag. Berlin E DIN 19730.
- Dudka, S., Adriano, D.C., 1997. Environmental impacts of metal ore mining and processing: a review. J. Environ. Qual. 26, 590–602. Evangelou, M.W.H., Hockmann, K., Pokharel, R., Jakob, A., Schulin, R., 2012. Accumulation
- Evangelou, M.W.H., Hockmann, K., Pokharel, R., Jakob, A., Schulin, R., 2012. Accumulation of Sb, Pb, Cu, Zn and Cd by various plants species on two different relocated military shooting range soils. J. Environ. Manag. 108, 102–107.
- Ewers, W., 1991. Standards, guidelines and legislative regulatory concerning metals and their compounds. In: Merian, E. (Ed.), Metals and Their Compounds in the Environment. VCH Publishers, Weinheim, Germany, pp. 707–711.
- Filella, M., Belzile, N., Chen, Y., 2002. Antimony in the environment: a review focused on natural waters I. Occurrence. Earth-Sci. Rev. 57, 125–176.
- Filimonov, A.E., 2009. Environmental aspects of industry. Gorniy Vestnik Uzbekistana. 38, 98–101 (in Russian).
- Fu, Z., Wu, F., Mo, C., Deng, Q., Meng, W., Giesy, J.P., 2016. Comparison of arsenic and antimony biogeochemical behavior in water, soil and tailings from Xikuangshan, China. Sci. Total Environ. 539, 97–104.
- Gadepalle, V.P., Ouki, S.K., Van Herwijnen, R., Hutchings, T., 2007. Immobilization of heavy metals in soil using natural and waste materials for vegetation establishment on contaminated sites. Soil Sediment Contam. 16, 233–251.
- García, I., Díez, M., Martín, F., Simón, M., Dorronsoro, C., 2009. Mobility of arsenic and heavy metals in a sandy-loam textured and carbonated soil. Pedosphere 19, 166–175.
- Gleyzes, C., Tellier, S., Astruc, M., 2002. Fractionation studies of trace elements in contaminated soils and sediments: a review of sequential extraction procedures. TrAC Trends Anal. Chem. 21 (6–7), 451–467.
- Gomez, M.A., Becze, L., Blyth, R.I.R., Cutler, J.N., Demopoulos, G.P., 2010. Molecular and structural investigation of yukonite (synthetic & natural) and its relation to arseniosiderite. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 74 (20), 5835–5851.
- Hayes, S., Webb, S., Bargar, J., O'Day, P., Maier, R., Chorover, J., 2012. Geochemical weathering increases lead bioaccessibility in semi-arid mine tailings. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 5834–5841.
- He, M., 2007. Distribution and phytoavailability of antimony at an antimony mining and smelting area, Hunan, China. Environ. Geochem. Health 29, 209–219.
- Iavazzo, P., Adamo, P., Boni, M., Hillier, S., Zampella, M., 2012. Mineralogy and chemical forms of lead and zinc in abandoned mine wastes and soils: an example from Morocco. J. Geochem. Explor. 113, 56–67.
- Jung, M.C., 2008. Heavy metal concentrations in soils and factors affecting metal uptake by plants in the vicinity of a Korean Cu-W mine. Sensors 8, 2413–2423.
- Kempton, H., Atkins, D., 2000. Delayed environmental impacts from mining in semi-arid climates. Proceedings from the 5th International Conference on Acid Rock Drainage ICARD 2000. Society for Mining Metallurgy and Exploration, Inc., Denver, CO, U.S.A., pp. 1299–1308 May 2000.
- Kersten, M., 2001. Speciation of trace metals in sediments. In: Ure, A.M., Davidson, C.M. (Eds.), Chemical Speciation in the Environment, 2nd Ed Blackwell Science, Oxford, pp. 301–321.
- Kuldashev, A.G., Abdurahmanov, A.A., 2009. Chadak deposits firstborns of the gold industry of the Republic of Uzbekistan (in Russian). Gorniy Vestnik Uzbekistana. 38, 44–47.
- Kumpiene, J., Lagerkvist, A., Maurice, C., 2008. Stabilization of As, Cr, Cu, Pb and Zn in soil using amendments: a review. Waste Manag. 28, 215–225.
- Lawrence, R.W., Scheske, M., 1997. A method to calculate the neutralization potential of mining wastes. Environ. Geol. 32, 100–106.
- Li, X., Thornton, I., 2001. Chemical partitioning of trace and major elements in soils contaminated by mining and smelting activities. Appl. Geochem. 16 (15), 1693–1706. Lottermoser, B.D., 2010. Mine Wastes. Characterization, Treatment and Environmental
- Impacts. 3rd ed. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg (400 p).
 Maiz, I., Arambarri, I., Garcia, R., Millan, E., 2000. Evaluation of heavy metal availability in polluted soils by two sequential extraction procedures using factor analysis. Environ. Pollut. 110. 3–9.
- MAPA, 1994. Métodos Oficiales de Análisis. Tomo III Secretaría General Técnica del Ministerio de Agricultura, Pesca y Alimentación (MAPA), Madrid, Spain.
- Marañes, C.A., Sánchez, G.J.A., De Haro, L.S., Sánchez, G.S.T., Del Moral, T.F., 1998. Análisis de suelos: Metodología e interpretación (Almería, España).
- Marguí, E., Salvadóa, V., Queralt, I., Hidalgo, M., 2004. Comparison of three-stage sequential extraction and toxicity characteristic leaching tests to evaluate metal mobility in mining wastes. Anal. Chim. Acta 524. 151–159.
- Martín, F., Diez, M., García, I., Simón, M., Dorronsoro, C., Iriarte, A., Aguilar, J., 2007. Weathering of primary minerals and mobility of major elements in soils affected by an accidental spill of pyrite tailing. Sci. Total Environ. 378, 49–52. Martín, F., Escoto, M., Fernández, J., Fernández, E., Arco, E., Sierra, M., Dorronsoro, C., 2010.
- Martín, F., Escoto, M., Fernández, J., Fernández, E., Arco, E., Sierra, M., Dorronsoro, C., 2010. Toxicity assessment of sediments with natural anomalous concentrations in heavy metals by the use of bioassay. Int. J. Chem. Eng., 101390 https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2010/101390.
- Martín, F., Simón, M., Arco, E., Romero, A., Dorronsoro, C., 2011. Arsenic behaviour in polluted soils after remediation activities. In: Hernandez-Soriano, M.C. (Ed.), Soil Health and Land Use Management. InTech, Rijeka, pp. 201–216.
- Martín Peinado, F., Romero-Freire, A., García, I., Sierra, M., Ortiz, I., Simón, M., 2015. Long term contamination in a recovered area affected by mining spill. Sci. Total Environ. 514, 219–223.
- Martínez-Lladó, X., Valderrama, C., Rovira, M., Martí, V., Giménez, J., de Pablo, J., 2011. Sorption and mobility of Sb(V) in calcareous soils of Catalonia (NE Spain): batch and column experiments. Geoderma 160, 468–476.

Part V: Copy of the published article

1667

O. Kodirov et al. / Science of the Total Environment 622-623 (2018) 1658-1667

Matschullat, J., Ottenstein, R., Reimann, C., 2000. Geochemical background - can we calculate it? Environ. Geol. 39, 990–1000.

- McTee, M.R., Lekberg, Y., Bullington, L., Rummel, A., Mummey, D.L., Ramsey, P.W., Hinman, N.W., 2017. Restoring ecological properties of acidic soils contaminated with elemental sulfur. Sci. Total Environ. 587–588, 449–456.
- Mitsunobu, S., Harada, T., Takahashi, Y., 2006. Comparison of antimony behavior with that of arsenic under various soil redox conditions. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 7270–7276. Nakamaru, Y., Tagami, K., Uchida, S., 2006. Antimony mobility in Japanese agricultural soils and the factors affecting antimony sorption behavior. Environ. Pollut. 141,
- 321–326.
 Nriagu, J.O., Bhattacharya, P., Mukherjee, A.B., Bundschuh, J., Zevenhoven, R., Loeppert, R.H., 2007. Arsenic in soil and groundwater: an introduction. In: Bhattacharya, P., Mukherjee, A.B., Bundschuh, J., Zevenhoven, R., Loeppert, R.H. (Eds.), Arsenic in Soil and Groundwater Environment: Biogeochemical. Interactions, Health Effects and Remediation. Trace Metals and Other Contaminants in the Environment. vol. 9. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 1–58.
- Nyamangara, J., 1998. Use of sequential extraction to evaluate zinc and copper in a soil amended with sewage sludge and inorganic metal salts. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 69, 135–141.
- Quevauviller, Ph. 2002. Operationally defined extraction procedure for soil and sediment analysis. Part 3: new CRMs for trace-element extractable contents. Trends Anal. Chem. 21, 774–785.
- Ramirez, Marco, Massolo, Serena, Frache, Roberto, Correa, Juan A., 2005. Metal speciation and environmental impact on sandy beaches due to El Salvador copper mine, Chile. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50, 62–72.
- Ramos, L., Hernandez, L.M., Gonzales, M.J., 1994. Sequential fractionation of copper, lead, cadmium and zinc in soil from or near Doñana national park. J. Environ. Qual. 23, 50–57.
- Rauret, G., Rubio, R., López-Sánchez, J.F., 1989. Optimization of Tessier procedure for metal solid speciation in river-sediments. Int. Environ. Anal. Chem. 36, 69–83.
- Razo, I., Carrizales, L., Castro, J., Díaz-Barriga, F., Monroy, M., 2004. Arsenic and heavy metal pollution of soil, water and sediments in a semi-arid climate mining area in Mexico. Water Air Soil Pollut. 152, 129–152.
- RIVM (National Institute for Public Health and Environmental Protection), 2000. Annex A: Target Values, Soil Remediation Intervention Values and Indicative Levels for Serious Contamination, Dutch Target and Intervention Values, (the New Dutch List), Netherlands.
- Rodrigues, S.M., Henriques, B., Coimbra, J., Ferreira da Silva, E., Pereira, M.E., Duarte, C., 2010. Water-soluble fraction of mercury, arsenic and other potentially toxic elements in highly contaminated sediments and soils. Chemosphere 78, 1301–1312.Romero-Freire, A., Sierra-Aragón, M., Ortiz-Bernad, I., Martín-Peinado, F., 2014. Toxicity of
- Romero-Freire, A., Sierra-Aragón, M., Ortiz-Bernad, I., Martín-Peinado, F., 2014. Toxicity ol arsenic in relation to soil properties: implications to regulatory purposes. J. Soils Sediments 14, 968–979.
- Romero-Freire, A., García, I., Simón, M., Martínez, F.J., Martín, F., 2015. Long-term toxicity assessment of soils in a recovered area affected by a mining spill. Environ. Pollut. 208, 553–561.
- Sadiq, M., 1997. Arsenic chemistry in soils: an overview of thermo-dynamic predictions and field observations. Water Air Soil Pollut. 93, 117–136.
- Sánchez-Marañon, M., Romero-Freire, A., Martín-Peinado, F.J., 2015. Soil-color changes by sulfuricization induced from a pyritic surface sediment. Catena 135, 173–183.
- Sauve, S., Hendershot, W., Allen, W.E., 2000. Solid-solution partitioning of metals in contaminated soils: dependence on pH, total metal burden, and organic matter. Environ. Sci. Technol. 34, 1125–1131.

- Schwertmann, U., Taylor, R.M., 1977. Iron oxides. In: Dixon, J.B., Webb, S.B. (Eds.), Minerals in Soil Environments. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, pp. 148–180.
- Sheppard, S.C., Sheppard, M.I., Sanipelli, B., Gallerand, M.O., Long, J., 2005. Ecotoxicological probable-no-effect concentrations for elements related to nuclear waste. Australas. I. Ecotoxicol. 11, 115–136.
- Shukurov, N., Kodirov, O., Peitzsch, M., Kersten, M., Pen-Mouratov, S., Steinberger, Y., 2014. Coupling geochemical, mineralogical and microbiological approaches to assess the health of contaminated soil around the Almalyk mining and smelter complex, Uzbekistan. Sci. Total Environ. 476–477, 447–459.Simón, M., Martín, F., Ortiz, I., García, I., Fernández, J., Fernández, E., Dorronsoro, C.,
- Simón, M., Martín, F., Ortiz, I., García, I., Fernández, J., Fernández, E., Dorronsoro, C., Aguilar, J., 2001. Soil pollution by oxidation of tailings from toxic spill of a pyrite mine. Sci. Total Environ. 279, 63–74.
- Simón, M., Martín, F., García, I., Bouza, P., Dorronsoro, C., Aguilar, J., 2005. Interaction of limestone grains and acidic solutions from the oxidation of pyrite tailings. Environ. Pollut. 135, 65–72.
- Smirnova, S.K., Shamaev, O.T., 2012. The Fergana valley. Geology and mineralogy. Geosciences in Uzbekistan. SE "SMIMR", Tashkent, pp. 141–145.
- Smirnova, S.K., Kozlov, V.V., Shamaev, O.T., Ignatikov, E.N., 2009. The manner of occurrence of some elements (Au, Ag, Pt, Se, Te, Hg) at epithermal gold-silver deposit Western Chadak (Uzbekistan, Kurama ridge). IX International Conference "New Ideas in Earth Sciences". 230 Moscow.
- Sposito, G., Lund, L.J., Chang, A.C., 1982. Trace metal chemistry in arid-zone field soils amended with sewage sludge. I: fractionation of Ni, Cu, Zn, Cd and Pb in solid phases. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 46, 260–264.
- SRK, 1989. Draft Acid Rock Drainage Technical Guide. Prepared by Steffen, Robertson and Kirsten Inc. in association with Norecol Environmental Consultants and Gormely Process Engineering. Technical Guide, Vancouver, Canada. http://www.empr.gov.bc.ca/ Mining/Geoscience/PublicationsCatalogue/MiscellaneousPublications/Documents/ DraftAcidRockDrainageTechGuideVol.1.pdf.
- SSDS (Soil Survey Division Staff), 1993. Soil survey manual. Soil conservation service. US Department of Agriculture Handbook. vol. 18. US Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC.
- Tighe, M., Lockwood, P., 2007. The importance of non-crystalline hydroxide phases in sequential extractions to fractionate antimony in acid soils. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 38, 1487–1501.
- Ure, A.M., Quevauviller, Ph., Muntau, H., Griepink, B., 1993. Speciation of heavy metal in soils and sediments. An account of the improvement and harmonization of extraction techniques undertaken under the auspices of the BCR of the Commission of the European Communities. Int. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 51, 135–151.
 Van den Berg, R., Dennemman, C.A., Roels, J.M., 1993. Risk assessment of contaminated
- Van den Berg, R., Dennenman, C.A., Roels, J.M., 1993. Risk assessment of contaminated soil: proposal for adjusted, toxicologically based Dutch soil clean-up criteria. In: Arendt, F., Annokkee, G.J., Bosman, R., van der Brink, W.J. (Eds.), Contaminated Soils '93. Kluwer Academic Publisher, London, pp. 349–364.Vandana, P., Murthy, N.N., Praveen, R.S., 2011. Assessment of heavy metal contamination
- Vandana, P., Murthy, N.N., Praveen, R.S., 2011. Assessment of heavy metal contamination in soil around hazardous waste disposal sites in Hyderabad city (India): natural and anthropogenic implications. E3. J. Environ. Res. Manag. 2 (2), 27–34.Walker, S.R., Parsons, M.B., Jamieson, H.E., Lanzirotti, A., 2009. Arsenic mineralogy of near-
- Walker, S.R., Parsons, M.B., Jamieson, H.E., Lanzirotti, A., 2009. Arsenic mineralogy of nearsurface tailings and soils: influences on arsenic mobility and bioaccesibility in the Nova Scotia gold mining districts. Can. Mineral. 47, 533–556.
- Wilson, S.C., Lockwood, P.V., Ashley, P.M., Tighe, M., 2010. The chemistry and behavior of antimony in the soil environment with comparisons to arsenic: a critical review. Environ. Pollut. 158, 1169–1181.

Annexes

Area	Subarea	Sc	v	Cr	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	Ga	Rb	Sr	Y	Zr	Nb	Cs	Ва	w	As	Мо	Cd	Sb	Pb	Bi	Th	U
du	natural	9	94	48	12	27	24	85	16	146	228	25	192	17	5	830	2	12	1.5	1.8	0	36	2	15.2	3.4
np 6	soil	9	76	45	9	23	25	83	16	147	222	24	181	14	6	827	0	9	0.5	0.8	0	36	1	16.3	4.9
ailin		8	60	14	9	4	48	347	10	134	148	9	87	6	10	688	15	27	5.2	3.1	3	212	4	5.4	3.2
ive t	tailing material	8	63	12	6	6	29	168	10	147	162	12	87	6	3	831	6	22	2.8	0	4	123	2	4.4	2.3
Act		7	65	15	12	7	34	186	11	138	150	10	85	5	5	776	14	32	2.6	0	3	77	2	4.8	2.7
dur		9	75	29	10	14	20	200	15	159	179	22	159	16	11	957	8	179	2.6	0	8	54	3	13.9	4.6
յը ըն	tailing surface	10	85	25	13	13	31	258	17	160	177	20	153	14	10	1097	11	198	6.9	1.5	14	301	8	9.3	4.6
tailir	soil	10	86	50	13	24	32	73	17	148	192	24	157	16	7	784	5	42	1.3	0.6	0	27	2	14.6	4.9
рю		10	81	19	13	9	49	332	14	165	163	13	85	7	14	795	15	110	8.9	2.5	8	124	4	6.7	4
d pth		11	128	44	12	34	25	318	20	143	213	31	228	29	2	2462	26	2524	4.1	4.3	177	287	31	11.4	5.6
in ol n de		11	136	45	12	40	23	343	19	134	203	33	244	37	6	3149	34	3371	5.4	4.8	217	319	42	10.5	4.8
ofile 1.5r	tailing	8	52	19	9	10	30	369	11	144	178	13	98	10	6	1085	16	518	3.5	1.8	43	295	11	8.8	3.2
al pro	material	5	32	13	7	6	70	202	9	131	140	9	75	6	7	761	0	144	2.3	0	28	234	7	6.5	3.3
ertic: ing d		7	39	23	8	10	50	310	10	126	190	11	81	8	3	878	7	575	2	0.8	4	409	13	3.2	3.4
taili		8	57	27	7	12	43	221	11	136	201	13	89	8	6	914	13	544	3.4	0.2	14	247	10	8.2	3.9

Annex A. Total concentration of trace elements in soils and tailing material

Are	a	Sc	V	Cr	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	Ga	Rb	Sr	Y	Zr	Nb	Cs	Ва	W	As	Мо	Cd	Sb	Pb	Bi	Th	U
		18	187	35	35	26	59	117	21	225	176	27	148	12	25	1040	5	24	1	2.1	3	55	1	11.5	5.1
	oil	19	187	48	30	30	54	138	22	216	250	30	164	13	14	1135	6	16	1.9	0.6	0	46	1	9.5	3
	al s	10	96	25	13	15	24	94	18	158	168	23	185	16	14	1086	3	15	1.4	0.9	0	34	1	12.9	4.4
_	atur	12	137	30	12	16	37	92	23	117	287	19	179	14	9	1580	1	8	1.5	1.9	0	18	0	8.5	2.9
area	Ë	12	122	23	20	11	31	115	17	204	166	18	131	10	21	965	5	141	3.9	0.1	3	65	3	11.2	4.5
oit		10	91	27	16	14	28	94	17	180	153	25	181	14	14	958	2	26	1.6	0	1	40	1	13.1	4.4
ц ц		23	223	28	46	20	34	107	23	165	163	25	139	10	17	1223	5	11	1.3	0.7	1	33	2	6.4	2.7
ope	dmn	6	41	10	9	7	22	34	15	219	71	17	124	13	24	1404	4	12	1.4	0.4	5	36	1	34.7	10.9
Ŭ	it dı	13	125	23	24	13	26	99	18	197	162	18	129	9	18	925	7	117	3.3	1.3	0	49	2	10.2	5.2
	id u	11	119	36	23	17	188	131	15	184	307	18	145	9	11	1391	122	35	7	1.2	0	40	2	11.5	4.3
	Ope	11	124	24	13	14	33	195	21	262	131	21	135	11	29	1121	7	44	2.5	1.2	3	67	2	15.4	4.5
		13	120	22	21	11	144	66	16	214	238	17	136	9	14	1141	9	93	11.4	1.3	1	61	8	13.5	5.4
īt	보	6	45	12	6	5	25	66	15	174	262	15	116	12	10	888	2	6	1.4	0.5	0	34	2	19.4	4.7
/er nen	men	9	70	22	11	12	47	101	17	185	225	22	207	16	10	774	6	9	3.6	0	1	56	3	26.9	7.5
Riv	edii	5	48	12	8	5	27	73	14	177	259	16	139	13	5	929	4	7	2.2	0	0	45		19.7	5.1
S	0	7	60	20	7	9	33	94	16	177	237	19	221	15	12	866	3	9	2.1	0	0	59		24.5	6.8

Annex B. Total concentration of trace elements in Guzaksay open pit area and chadaksay river sediments

Annex C. SEM-EDS imaging made on the tailings and open pit waste materials (Figures: 14-23).



Figure 14. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from AcT: 1 - pyrite; 2 - clinochlore; 3 - calcite; 4 - albite



Figure 15. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from vertical profile of AbT: A – oxidized pyrite; B – oxidized pyrite; C - arsenopyrite



Figure 16. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from vertical profile of AbT: 1 – mica, 2 – quartz, 3 – rutile



Figure 17. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from vertical profile of AbT: 1 – yukonite like phases; 2 – secondary precipitation of Fe with accompanying Ca, K and P; 3 – biotite



Figure 18. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from vertical profile of AbT: A (1 – yukonite like phases; B (1- arsenosiderite like mineral, 2- secondary precipitation of Fe and Mn with accompanying Si, Ca, P and As)


Figure 19. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from vertical profile of AbT: 1 – magnetoplumbite; 2 – secondary precipitation of Si, Fe and Mn with accompanying of Ca, K Na and As; 3 – plagioclase



Figure 20. Microphotography by SEM of tailing material from vertical profile of AbT: 1 – Fe precipitates with accompanying Ca, Si and As; 2 – calcite



Figure 21. Microphotography by SEM of open pit waste material: 1 – Mn and Fe precipitates with accompanying Ca, P and Si; 2 – Fe and Mn precipitates with accompanying P, AI, Si and Ca; 3 - jarosite



Figure 22. Microphotography by SEM of open pit waste material: A – magnetite; B (1 – Mn and Al precipitates with inclusions of S, Fe, Co, Pb and Ca; 2 – Si, Pb and Mn precipitates with inclusions of As, Ca and Co.



Figure 23. Microphotography by SEM of open pit waste material: 1 – pyrite; 2 – Fe precipitates with inclusions of Ca, Al, As and P; 3 - Fe precipitates with inclusions of P, Ca, K Si, Al and Mg.